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Year References
All references to a specific year or “the year” refer to
the Postal Service fiscal year ending September 30.
However, specific month and year references pertain
to the calendar date.

MEETING THE
CHALLENGE:
The Power of the Mail

Looking for certainty in an uncertain economy?
Mail.
It’s targetable. It’s measurable. It gets opened. It gets read.
And it works.
These are challenging times for many individuals and organizations, and it is no different for the Postal Service.
Regardless of any challenges, we’re committed to keeping
mail affordable, accessible and a powerful engine for communication and commerce.
For more than two centuries, we have adapted and evolved
to meet the changing needs of consumers and businesses.
That won’t change.
Our mission is to provide reliable, affordable, universal
service to all Americans.
Of this we are certain — in any economy.

Global Bargain
2009 First-Class Mail Letter
Equivalent Prices in U.S. Dollars
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2009 was a difficult year for both the U.S. economy and the Postal Service.
As the economy weakened, mail volumes and revenue continued to decline.
The Postal Service met the challenge with focused cost reductions and
increased efficiency.

Financial
Highlights

Years Ended September 30

Percent Change From Preceding Year

2009

2008

2007

2009

2008

2007

(dollars in millions, audited)
Operating revenue

$ 68,090

$ 74,932

$ 74,778

(9.1%)

0.2%

2.9%

Operating expenses *

$ 71,830

$ 77,738

$ 80,105

(7.6%)

(3.0%)

11.8%

Loss from operations

$ (3,740)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,327)

(5.5%)

(3.7%)

(7.1%)

Net loss

$ (3,794)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,142)

Purchases of capital property
and equipment

$ 1,839

$ 1,995

$ 2,715

(7.8%)

(26.5%)

3.2%

Debt

$ 10,200

$ 7,200

$ 4,200

Interest expense

$

$

$

Capital contributions
of U.S. government
since reorganization

$ 3,087

$ 3,034

$ 3,034

Deficit since reorganization

$ (8,500)

$ (4,706)

$ (1,900)

Total net (deficiency) capital

$ (5,413)

$ (1,672)

$ 1,134

(unaudited)
Number of career employees

623,128

663,238

684,762

(6.0%)

(3.1%)

(1.6%)

Mail volume (pieces in millions)

177,058

202,703

212,234

(12.7%)

(4.5%)

(0.4%)

New delivery points served

923,595

1,199,764

1,818,326

Operating margin

80

36

10

*The net impact of P.L. 111-68 legislation was $4 billion reduction of expenses
in 2009.
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The Delivery
Challenge:
Less Mail, More
Addresses

We are delivering fewer pieces of mail to a growing number of addresses —
150 million and counting — as new households and businesses are added to
our delivery network each year. Accommodating that growth has contributed to
unprecedented levels of efficiency.
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THE

CHALLENGE
TO DELIVER

John E. Potter
Postmaster General and
Chief Executive Officer

Letter from
the Postmaster
General and
CEO and the
Chairman of
the Board
of Governors

Carolyn Lewis Gallagher
Chairman, Board of Governors
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T

o the President, members of
Congress, postal customers,
postal employees, and the
American people:
Our 2009 fiscal year proved to be
one of the most challenging in the history of the Postal Service. The deep
economic recession significantly affected commercial mailing activity, creating a large imbalance between Postal
Service revenues and costs. Total mail
volumes declined an unprecedented 13
percent, or 25 billion pieces, compared
to 2008, and operating revenues declined 9.1 percent to $68.1 billion. We
concluded the year with a deficit that
would have exceeded $7 billion had it
not been partially offset through federal legislation that lowered the payment
to our retiree health benefit trust fund
by $4 billion.
As a self-funding organization operating independently of taxpayer support, such a steep and sudden decline
in revenues required immediate, deep
and aggressive cost-cutting throughout the organization. We are proud to
say that we were able to reduce our
total costs by an unprecedented $6 billion, and we did so while maintaining
record high end-to-end service performance and customer satisfaction.
The Postal Service reduced the
number of employees and overtime;
renegotiated with suppliers to obtain
more favorable terms; reached an
agreement with the National Association of Letter Carriers to expedite
the adjustment of delivery routes;
imposed a moratorium on new construction; made significant process
improvements; provided retirement
incentive for up to 30,000 employees; and eliminated non-essential
programs and projects.
To generate additional revenue, the
Postal Service aggressively exploited
the pricing flexibility provided by the
Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act of 2006 (“PAEA”) to stimulate mail volume. Three such initiatives — the Standard Mail “Summer
Sale,” the Saturation Mail Incentive,
and most recently, the First-Class
Mail Incentive Program — all offer price incentives on incremental

volume. Recognizing that use of the
mail is one of many alternative communications channels available to
advertisers today, the Postal Service
will explore additional ways — including price incentives — to ensure
that advertisers and other customers
continue to view the mail as an attractive value proposition.
Additionally, the Postal Service was
supportive of and is grateful to President Obama and the United States
Congress for the recent enactment of
legislation (P.L. 111–68), which reduced the Postal Service’s retiree health
care prefunding burden by $4 billion.
However, while enactment of this legislation enabled the Postal Service to
meet all of its financial obligations in
fiscal year 2009, it was fundamentally
a short-term response to a near-term
cash gap — one that will likely recur in
coming years in the absence of structural reforms.
The Board of Governors believes
strongly that the Postal Service needs
to operate with greater flexibility to
meet the evolving marketplace demand for mailing products and services. Toward this end, we hope in 2010
to engage our customer and business
partner stakeholders, the Administration and Congress, and the American
people in a dialogue to determine a
more financially sustainable future for
the Postal Service. Building consensus
for possible structural reforms, such
as gaining the flexibility to transition
to five-day delivery, is urgently needed
for the Postal Service to remain selfsustaining on a long-term basis.
As we move aggressively to meet
the challenges posed by the current
economic downturn, and work to
maintain the high level of service
expected by the American people,
we are ever mindful of the more
than 600,000 career Postal Service
employees whose dedication and
commitment allows us to fulfill this
mission. It is to their credit that the
Postal Service remains among America’s most trusted, ubiquitous and indispensable organizations.
As you review in the following pages the many accomplishments of the

Despite the effects of the
economic turmoil of the past
year, the Postal Service remains
a vital driver of the American
economy, is an integral part
of every American community,
and delivers the greatest value
of any comparable post in the
world. If given the flexibility
to respond to an evolving
marketplace, it will continue to
do so far into the future.
past year, we hope you’ll share our
confidence in a Postal Service that is
ready to embrace change in order to
better serve the evolving needs of the
American public.

John E. Potter
Postmaster General and
Chief Executive Officer

Carolyn Lewis Gallagher
Chairman, Board of Governors
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Meeting the Challenge:

INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS
AND PRICING INCENTIVES

Shipping
Fundamentals
Who couldn’t use a simpler way
to ship?
In a challenging economic year,
the Postal Service’s Priority Mail Flat
Rate Boxes offered consumers and
businesses shelter from uncertainty
in the form of predictable pricing.
Ship for a low, flat rate — anywhere
in the country.
It’s hard to top that when you’re
looking to stretch your dollars. And
that’s why customers in growing
numbers turned to our Priority Mail
Flat Rate Boxes.
With four box sizes, including a new
smaller size, and no need to weigh
anything under 70 pounds — if it fits,
it ships — customers recognized the

Entering A New
Dimension
ease and convenience of flat-rate
shipping.
Customers can also save on their
shipping by taking advantage of
online price breaks for Priority
Mail and Express Mail. And for
high-volume shippers, we offer
Commercial Plus pricing.
During a time when affordability is on
everyone’s minds, the Postal Service
delivers value.
And who couldn’t use that anytime?
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Technically, it’s
called “augmented
reality.” At the
Postal Service,
it’s called a great way to show
customers how Priority Mail Flat Rate
Boxes are a great fit for their shipping
needs. At prioritymail.com, customers
can take a picture of an item and the

Summer Sale

First-Class Mail Incentive Program
We also launched a similar program for First-Class Mail,
offering a 20-percent credit on presorted and automation
First-Class Mail cards, letters and flats volume
exceeding an established threshold.
Mail is a powerful tool to help businesses grow.

Great products, great service.
And now pricing flexibility makes
us an even greater value in the
marketplace.
This year, we introduced our first
Summer Sale. By offering pricing
incentives of 30 percent on Standard
Mail volumes above a mailer-specific
threshold, we offered customers an
even better return on their mailing
investment.
Who couldn’t use that in tough
economic times?

software calculates the size of the
flat-rate box required to ship it and —
voila! — a virtual package appears on
the computer screen.

We reminded customers about simplified shipping solutions through
our Priority Mail ad campaign.
2009 Annual Report United States Postal Service | 7

CHALLENGE
OF A CHANGING
ECONOMY

THE

Need stamps? If you can’t make it to your local Post
Office, you can buy stamps at more than 36,000
supermarkets, drug stores and other retailers, and
20,000 ATMs.
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T

hrough it all, we delivered on
our commitment to service
and affordability.
As the recession and cost obligations
challenged the Postal Service like never
before in our history, we responded
with a focused effort to operate more
efficiently and effectively, and add new
value to the mail. We kept our focus
on providing the reliable, universal
service the American people expect
from their Postal Service.
Our customers trust us to deliver
for them — in any economy — and
we didn’t let them down.
Our financial success depends on
the underlying soundness of the economy. Mail volume historically reflects
the nation’s financial health. As the
United States plunged into a deep recession during the year, the effect on
mail volume was dramatic and unprecedented — more than 25 billion
fewer pieces than the year before.
It wasn’t the recession alone that
created financial obstacles for the
Postal Service. A statutory requirement to pre-fund health care benefits
for future retirees is an obligation
that no other government or privatesector employer has. At the end of the
year, congressional action reduced
this payment from $5.4 billion to
$1.4 billion, helping reduce the year’s
financial shortfall.
In responding to a changing marketplace and uncertain economy, we
aggressively worked to bring costs in
line with reduced revenue. We took
our efforts to unprecedented levels,
cutting spending by more than $6 billion. That’s a remarkable accomplishment for any business or organization.
We also kept our eyes on the future, implementing a growth strategy
based on pricing and product innovations designed to make it easier for
customers to stay in the mail — and
help grow their businesses. Through
technology advances, we provided
customers with more information
about their mail than ever before,
adding value in terms of targeting
and effectiveness. And our employees pulled together to deliver on the
promise of our brand — excellent service to every home and business.

Service is our priority,
Postmaster General John E.
Potter told members of the
mailing industry at the annual
National Postal Forum.

While the economic challenges we
faced, and continue to face, have
prompted the nation to closely examine the business model of the Postal
Service and its role in 21st-century
America, what hasn’t changed is the
power of the mail.
Mail connects people and businesses. It provides trusted communica-

The Postal Service successfully removed
more than $6 billion in costs, including:
■ Cutting 115 million work hours, the

equivalent of 65,000 positions.
■ Closing six district administrative

offices.
■ Adjusting carrier routes to reflect

It wasn’t the
recession alone
that created
financial
obstacles for
the Postal
Service.

diminished volume and eliminating
nearly 12,000 carrier routes.
■ Instituting a nationwide hiring

freeze.
■ Reducing authorized

staffing levels at
national and regional
offices by 15 percent.
■ Selling unused and under-

utilized postal facilities.
■ Adjusting Post Office hours to

better reflect customer use.
■ Consolidating mail processing

operations.
tions. It’s the foundation of a trilliondollar industry that employs millions
of Americans.
The potential of the mail remains as
strong as ever.

■ Halting construction of new

postal facilities.
■ Freezing salaries of all Postal

Service officers and executives.
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Our employees
make a
difference
in every
community
across the
country.

O
Ready to deliver their walking
routes are Spokane Manito
Station carriers Roger Kittredge,
Molly Haggerty and Mel Shelton.

CHALLENGE
TO OUR EMPLOYEES
THE
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ur business is changing, but
what hasn’t changed is who
we are — a trusted part of
the communities we serve. We connect the nation through the power of
the mail and the dedication of the men
and women who deliver for America.
We’re welcomed at every doorstep of
every home and business, in every city
and town. That kind of value to our
nation is priceless.
By no means are we resting on the
laurels of our 234-year history. We
never have. We have shown, again
and again, that the Postal Service can
evolve to meet the changing needs of
the American people and the demands
of the marketplace.
And likewise we adapt our workforce needs to changing requirements. Like nearly every business in
America, we have been challenged
by a difficult economic climate. The
Postal Service has responded aggressively to declines in mail volume by
making changes to operations, staffing and facilities.
Through it all, our employees have
delivered high levels of service and
customer satisfaction, and Americans trust us to protect their privacy
and keep their important correspondence secure. For five straight years,
the Postal Service has been named
the most-trusted government agency
by the Ponemon Institute, and ranks
in the top six of all organizations nationwide.
We are an essential part of the daily life of our nation, and our impact

goes beyond delivering letters and
packages. Our employees make a difference in every community across the
country. While on their routes, carriers keep watch on elderly citizens and
respond heroically in emergency situations. Through involvement in the
nation’s largest one-day food drive,
marrow donor awareness and other
charitable causes, we give back to the
communities in which we both live
and work.
We take great pride in our history
and contribution to the nation. With
every delivery we make, we share
a common vision — a strong Postal
Service that provides trusted, universal service for America now and long
into the future.

The men and women
of the Postal Service
deliver on its mission
in many ways,
including:

Postmaster Sherry Johnson works with the Army National Guard to
protect the Valley City, ND, Post Office from floodwater.

than 48,000 potential donors to
the registry.
■ Collecting a record 73.4 million

pounds of food donations from
customers during the annual National Association of Letter Carriers
effort to “Stamp Out Hunger.”
■ Bringing together management,

■ Providing high levels of national on-

time performance — 96 percent
for First-Class Mail — and high
customer satisfaction scores —
94 percent.
■ Earning recognition as the most-

trusted government agency for an
impressive fifth year in a row by the
Ponemon Institute.
■ Being named one of the best com-

panies for Hispanics and workforce
diversity by Hispanic Business
magazine, the No. 1 federal agency
for multicultural business opportunities by DiversityBusiness.com,
and the nation’s third best company for disabled workers by CAREERS & the disABLED magazine.
■ Supporting the National Marrow

Donor Program by adding more

union officials and employees to
achieve the Occupational Safety
and Health Administration’s highest safety award — Voluntary Protection Program status — at more
than 275 worksites.
■ Delivering after natural disasters,

such as wildfires in California,
hurricanes along the Gulf Coast,
tornadoes in the Midwest and ice
storms in the Northeast.
■ Enabling states to provide vot-

ing by mail for their residents and
making sure ballots are received
and counted on time.
■ Working to help reunite families

with missing children through the
“America’s Looking for Its Missing
Children” program, which has led
to the safe return of 148 children.
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T

Virginia Letter Carrier
Alicia Tutt gathers mail
prepared for delivery by the
Flats Sequencing System.

CHALLENGE
OF EMERGING
TECHNOLOGIES
THE

he Postal Service has a long
history of using leading-edge
technologies to process and
deliver mail and better serve — and
connect — our customers.
We built our business on technological innovation and adaptation. As the
nation has changed, so have we. From
the telegraph, to the telephone, to the
terabyte, the mail has complemented
evolving technologies. And in the digital era, mail still plays a vital role.
As our customers have embraced
the Internet, so have we. Our website, usps.com, is visited by more than
a million people each day. It’s one of
the most popular sites in the federal
government. Customers can do just
about everything online that they can
do at a Post Office. They can print
shipping labels with postage, request
a free package pickup, look up ZIP
Codes, order packaging supplies —
and much more.
And with our new mobile capability, some of the most popular features
at usps.com are available from the
growing number of mobile communications devices.
The Post Office? It’s wherever you
are. Through quick, easy and convenient online access, we also can provide customers with more information
about their mail than ever before —
both for large businesses that send out
millions of mailpieces and for consumers who simply want to ship a package
or two.

From the
telegraph,
to the
telephone,
to the terabyte,
the mail has
complemented
evolving
technologies.
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This year we marked a milestone
with the launch of our Intelligent
Mail services, which use barcode
technology to enable business customers to track the status of their
mail so they can provide better service to their customers. And the Postal Service gets important operational
data to allow for mail service measurement to help us improve service
for our customers.
We are, as always, at the leading
edge of mailing technology innovation. We continue to roll out the Flats
Sequencing System, which is revolutionizing the way we process flat-size
mail, such as magazines and catalogs,
by sorting it in the order in which it’s
delivered by carriers. This new technology will deliver high-impact efficiency and improve mail processing,
and make sure customers get even
more value from the mail.
By making new technologies work
for us, we help make the mail work
better for our customers.

During the year, we
turned to technology
solutions that helped
both customers and
employees, including:

Pennsylvania Letter Carrier Steve Scully scans a barcode.

■ Offering Express Mail Hold For

■ Introducing an online Learning

Pickup online, which enables customers to request a package be
shipped directly to a Post Office
for pickup by the recipient.

Management System to manage
and deliver training for employees
and an electronic Individual Development Plan program for career
development.

■ Updating the business mailer web-

site at ribbs.usps.gov with easyto-search indexes and improved
navigation.
■ Introducing two “Bill Me Later”

payment options for businesses
and consumers who use Click-NShip at usps.com.

■ Expanding an online translation

tool that helps employees communicate more easily with nonEnglish-speaking retail customers,
including those who speak Chinese, German, Hindi, Polish and
Vietnamese.
■ Installing overhead scanning sys-

tems that allow for continuous,
hands-free scanning of flats and
packages.
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The green roof atop Morgan
Processing and Distribution
Center is the largest of its
kind in New York City.

CHALLENGE
OF SUSTAINABILITY
THE

Green…
By the
Numbers

W

e’re greener than you think.
From recycling, to energy
conservation, to measuring greenhouse gas emissions, we’re
leading by example when it comes to
working green. We have an Office of
Sustainability leading our efforts as we
build a conservation culture and promote environment-friendly business
practices throughout the organization.
The challenge is to meet the needs
of the present without compromising
the future, and we’re up to the chal-

3 million

10,000

Total dollars saved during a 21-day
challenge which reduced energy
usage by 100 million kilowatts

Number of delivery routes delivered
on foot — our “fleet of feet”

24,000
Number of tons of paper diverted
from landfills through recycling
efforts in 6,000 Post Office lobbies
around the nation

30,000
Total dollars being saved in energy
costs with installation of the first
green roof in New York City
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1,900
Number of alternative-fuel vehicles
added to fleet during the past year

300
Number of vehicles nationwide
powered by biodiesel fuel

17
Percent saved in building-related
energy consumption since 2003

lenge. We’re proving our commitment
to sustainability in many ways.
We’re the only shipping company
that has earned Cradle-to-Cradle
certification for the environmentally
friendly design and manufacturing of
our shipping boxes and envelopes.
We recycle more than 1 million
tons of paper, plastic and other materials each year, and we use recycled
products.
The Postal Service operates the nation’s largest alternative fuel–capable
fleet, with vehicles powered by electricity, compressed natural gas, propane, hydrogen fuel cells, ethanol and
biodiesel. And, of course, walking a
route is about as green as you can deliver for America.

We’ve got green lobbies and roofs,
and we’re building green Post Offices. We’re optimizing energy use
across the organization. Our goal is
to reduce energy use 30 percent by
2015.
And we encourage our customers,
suppliers and business partners to
make environmentally friendly choices and adopt sustainable business
practices by reducing energy use and
greenhouse gas emissions.
The Postal Service is a recognized
leader for its environmental stewardship. We know that what’s good for
the planet is also good for our business. Our business can only benefit by
doing what’s right for future generations.

Walking a route
is about as
green as you
can deliver for
America.

Washington, DC, Letter Carrier
Ronald L. Thomas loads mail into
his hydrogen fuel cell vehicle.

0

41,000

10,000

Amount of emissions that come
from the hydrogen fuel cell vehicles
delivering mail in Irvine, CA, and
Washington, DC

Number of alternative fuel–capable
vehicles currently in the postal fleet

Number of non-energy efficient
vehicles removed from the Postal
Service’s active delivery fleet this year

4
Cost, in cents, per mile for the Postal
Service to operate its T-3 threewheeled electric delivery vehicles

40
Number of White House Closing
the Circle awards for environmental
stewardship since 1996

35
Number of delivery vehicles that run
on propane

41
Percent of increase in alternative fuel
use since 2006

30

9
Number of consecutive years
the Postal Service has won the
Environmental Protection Agency’s
WasteWise Partner of the Year
award for overall waste reduction
achievements

Number of electric 2-ton delivery
vans in New York City
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BOARD
OF GOVERNORS
THE

A

s the governing body of the Postal Service, the
11-member Board of Governors has responsibilities comparable to a board of directors of a publicly
held corporation. The Board is comprised of nine Governors appointed by the President of the United States with
the advice and consent of the Senate. No more than five
Governors can be members of the same political party.

The other two members of the Board are the Postmaster
General and the Deputy Postmaster General. The Governors appoint the Postmaster General, who serves at their
pleasure without a specific term of office. The Governors,
together with the Postmaster General, appoint the Deputy
Postmaster General.

From left to right: Thurgood Marshall, Jr., James H. Bilbray, Vice Chairman Louis J. Giuliano, Ellen C. Williams,
Chairman Carolyn Lewis Gallagher, James C. Miller III, Mickey D. Barnett, Alan C. Kessler.
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Carolyn Lewis Gallagher
Chairman
Appointed November 2004. Term expires December 2009.
Member, Compensation and Management Resources Committee. Former President and CEO of Texwood Furniture,
Inc. Former Trustee and Chairman, Texas Employees’ Retirement System. Appointed by President Bush in 2003 to
serve on the President’s Commission on the USPS.
Louis J. Giuliano
Vice Chairman
Appointed November 2004. Term expires December 2014.
Chairman, Compensation and Management Resources
Committee, and Chairman, Operations Subcommittee.
Member, Audit and Finance Committee. Former Chairman
of Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer of ITT Corp. Director of the John Maneely Company
and Senior Advisor at the Carlyle Group.
Mickey D. Barnett
Appointed August 2006. Term expires December 2013. CoChair, Governance and Strategic Planning Committee, and
member, Audit and Finance Committee. Attorney in Albuquerque, New Mexico. Former member, New Mexico State
Senate. Former member, Appellate Nominating Commission
for the New Mexico Supreme Court of Appeals. Former Legislative Assistant to Senator Pete Domenici of New Mexico.
James H. Bilbray
Appointed August 2006. Term expires December 2015.
Member, Governance and Strategic Planning Committee
and member, Government Relations and Regulatory Committee. Attorney in Las Vegas, Nevada. Former member,
U.S. House of Representatives from Nevada. Former member, Nevada State Senate. Former Deputy District Attorney
in Clark County, Nevada.
Alan C. Kessler
Appointed November 2000. Term expired December 2008.
Nominated for a second term expiring December 2015. Past
Chairman of the Board of Governors for 2008. Co-Chair,
Governance and Strategic Planning Committee. Partner at
Duane Morris, LLP. Former Vice Chair of the Presidential/
Congressional Commission on Risk Assessment and Risk
Management. Serves on Boards of the Greater Philadelphia
Chamber of Commerce and the Philadelphia Industrial Development Corp. Former commissioner for Lower Merion
Township, PA.

Thurgood Marshall, Jr.
Appointed December 2006. Term expires December 2011.
Chairman, Government Relations and Regulatory Committee. Member, Audit and Finance Committee. Partner
at Bingham McCutchen and principal with Bingham Consulting Group. Served President Clinton as former Assistant to the President and Cabinet Secretary. Former Director of Legislative Affairs and Deputy Counsel for Vice
President Gore.
James C. Miller III
Appointed April 2003. Term expires December 2010. Past
Chairman of Board of Governors, 2005 through 2008.
Chairman, Audit and Finance Committee, and member,
Governance and Strategic Planning Committee. Senior
Advisor, Husch Blackwell Sanders, LLP. Senior Fellow,
Hoover Institution at Stanford University. Former Director,
U.S. Office of Management and Budget. Former Chairman,
U.S. Federal Trade Commission.
Ellen C. Williams
Appointed August 2006. Term expires December 2014.
Member, Compensation and Management Resources Committee, and member, Government Relations and Regulatory Committee. Principal, government affairs and lobbying firm. Former Vice Chairman, Kentucky Public Services
Commission. Former Commissioner, Governor’s Office for
Local Development. Former Chairman, Kentucky Republican Party. Staff assistant to former U.S. Representative
Larry Hopkins.
John E. Potter
Appointed 72nd Postmaster General and Chief Executive
Officer of the United States Postal Service in June 2001.
Potter has served as Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President; Senior Vice President, Operations; Senior Vice President, Labor Relations; and Manager, Capital
Metro Operations.
Patrick R. Donahoe
Appointed 19th Deputy Postmaster General in April 2005.
Donahoe is Chief Operating Officer and has served as Senior
Vice President, Operations; Senior Vice President, Human
Resources; and Vice President, Allegheny Area Operations.
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EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

THE

T

Other Officers

he Executive Committee of
the U.S. Postal Service is a
decision-making body and its
members serve as senior advisors to
the Postmaster General. It meets frequently and as necessary to consider
topics of importance to the Postal
Service.

John E. Potter
Postmaster General and
Chief Executive Officer

Mary Anne Gibbons
Senior Vice President,
General Counsel

Stephen M. Kearney
Senior Vice President,
Customer Relations

Drew T. Aliperto
Vice President, Area Operations
(Pacific)

James P. Cochrane
Vice President, Ground Shipping

Mitzi R. Betman
Vice President, Corporate
Communications
Sylvester Black
Vice President, Area Operations
(Western)
Megan J. Brennan
Vice President, Area Operations
(Eastern)
Susan M. Brownell
Vice President, Supply Management
Ellis A. Burgoyne
Vice President, Area Operations
(Southwest)
William A. Campbell
Judicial Officer
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Thomas G. Day
Senior Vice President, Intelligent
Mail and Address Quality
Vincent H. DeVito
Vice President, Controller
Marie Therese Dominguez
Vice President, Government
Relations and Public Policy
John T. Edgar
Vice President, Information
Technology Solutions
Jo Ann Feindt
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(Great Lakes)
Steven J. Forte
Senior Vice President, Operations

Patrick R. Donahoe
Deputy Postmaster General
and Chief Operating Officer

Robert F. Bernstock
President, Mailing and
Shipping Services

Joseph Corbett
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Executive Vice President

Linda A. Kingsley
Senior Vice President,
Strategy and Transition

Ross Philo
Chief Information Officer and
Executive Vice President

Anthony J. Vegliante
Chief Human Resources Officer
and Executive Vice President

Deborah Giannoni-Jackson
Vice President, Employee
Resource Management

Jerry D. Lane
Vice President, Area Operations
(Capital Metro)

Tom A. Samra
Vice President, Facilities

William R. Gilligan
Chief Postal Inspector

Stephen J. Masse
Vice President, Finance and Planning

Dean J. Granholm
Vice President, Delivery and Post
Office Operations

Pritha N. Mehra
Vice President, Business Mail Entry
and Payment Technologies

Timothy C. Haney
Vice President, Area Operations
(Northeast)

Julie S. Moore
Secretary of the Board of Governors

Timothy C. Healy
Vice President, Retail Products and
Services

Susan M. Plonkey
Vice President, Sales

Pranab Shah
Vice President and Managing
Director, Global Business
Jordan M. Small
Vice President, Network Operations
Douglas A. Tulino
Vice President, Labor Relations
David E. Williams
Vice President, Engineering
Terry J. Wilson
Vice President, Area Operations
(Southeast)

Samuel M. Pulcrano
Vice President, Sustainability

Delores J. Killette
Vice President, Consumer Advocate

Gary C. Reblin
Vice President, Expedited Shipping

Susan M. LaChance
Vice President, Employee
Development and Diversity

Maura Robinson
Vice President, Pricing
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Message From

AUDITAND
FINANCE
COMMITTEE
THE

James C. Miller III
Chairman, Audit and Finance
Committee
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T

he Audit and Finance Committee assists the Board of
Governors in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities. The Chairman of the Board selects the members
of the Committee. This year the Committee, whose current members include Governors Mickey D. Barnett,
Louis J. Giuliano, Thurgood Marshall, Jr., and me, met eight times.
The Committee wishes to extend its
appreciation to former Governor
Katherine Tobin for her service and
leadership as Chairman through August 2009, when she resigned to accept a new appointment at the U.S.
Department of Education. I joined
the Committee to serve as Chairman
upon Katherine’s resignation.
The Committee’s primary responsibility is oversight of the integrity
of the Postal Service’s financial statements and the soundness of its internal accounting and control practices.
The certified public accounting firm
responsible for the independent audit
of Postal Service financial statements,
Ernst & Young LLP, reports to the
Board through the Committee. The
Postal Inspector General, who reports
to the Governors, is represented at all
Committee meetings.
During this fiscal year, the Committee focused on:
■ Management initiatives to stabilize the Postal Service’s financial
condition through comprehensive cost-reduction programs and
revenue-enhancement efforts in
response to continued weakness
of the U.S. economy and the diversion of letter mail to electronic
alternatives,
■ Monitoring progress toward
2010 compliance with Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (SOX),
■ Reviewing efforts to increase the
efficiency and effectiveness of internal controls, and
■ Successful filing of financial reports in compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) reporting rules.

The Committee received regular
briefings on SOX requirements
and progress toward certification
in 2010. The Committee provided
oversight on the strategic direction
and guidance on decisions related
to readiness, process improvement
opportunities and ongoing
compliance initiatives.
The Committee closely reviewed
forecasts and cash flow projections
at each meeting and advised the full
Board as to its conclusions.
Building on efforts that have been
underway since 2007, preparation
for SOX compliance featured prominently in the Committee’s work during fiscal year 2009. The Committee
received regular briefings on SOX
requirements and progress toward
certification in 2010. The Committee
provided oversight on the strategic
direction and guidance on decisions
related to readiness, process improvement opportunities and ongoing compliance initiatives.
The Committee this year began to
receive regular updates on cyber security issues. As information technology security is integral to Postal
Service systems and the protection
of customer, employee and business
data, the Committee will continue to
monitor developments in the cyber
security field as they relate to Postal
Service operations.
Finally, as part of its commitment to
increased transparency and accountability, the Postal Service completed
its second full fiscal year in compliance
with SEC reporting rules. The Committee was pleased with the quality of

disclosures in required financial filings
each quarter. Management is to be
commended on a successful transition
to this new regulatory framework.
In directing the conduct of the 2009
financial statement audit, the Committee met with Ernst & Young LLP,
and approved the scope and materiality levels they established in their work
plan. The Committee met jointly and
independently with Chief Financial
Officer Corbett and his staff; Ernst &
Young LLP; Inspector General Williams; and General Counsel Gibbons
throughout the year to discuss the
progress of the audit and to ensure
independence and objectivity in all
audit programs.
As a result, the Committee recommended, and the Board approved, the
financial statements for 2009.

Governor James C. Miller III
Chairman, Audit and
Finance Committee
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Message From
THE

CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER AND
EXECUTIVE VICE
PRESIDENT

Joseph Corbett
Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President
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T

his is my first annual report
on the Postal Service’s finances. This year, I proudly
became part of a leadership team
committed to maintaining the ability of this great organization to affordably serve the needs of American
families and businesses. With focused
steps to reduce costs and increase efficiency, and through the dedication of
our employees who provide excellent
service to our customers, we achieved
remarkable results that reflect our determination to deliver on our mission
in the face of unprecedented financial
challenges.
As fiscal year 2009 began, the severe economic issues facing the nation
— and countries around the globe —
were evident. The Postal Service anticipated continuing declines in mail
volumes and revenue. Management
set goals to cut spending by a record
$4 billion, maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction, and
implement a growth strategy designed
to help the Postal Service weather the
economic downturn while laying a
foundation for future success.
No one could predict how far the
economy would contract. As the year
progressed, we adjusted our operations and spending in response to the
rapidly changing marketplace. The
national economy became mired in a
deep recession. Substantially all economic activity declined; Gross Domestic Product declined by nearly 3
percent, domestic capital investments
declined by more than 22 percent and
U.S. retail activity declined by almost
9 percent during FY 2009, according
to the economic analysis firm Global
Insight. As consumers and businesses
cut back on their spending and electronic diversion continued, mail volume continued to decline dramatically with an unprecedented annual
loss of over 25 billion pieces of mail
or almost 13 percent.
We sharpened our focus to respond
and our cost-cutting strategies were remarkably successful. By year’s end, excluding contractual cost increases, we
had reduced more than $6 billion in
costs across the organization, including
work-hour reductions of 115 million

hours. This reduction is equivalent to
65,000 full-time employees — larger
than the total workforce of more than
80 percent of Fortune 500 companies.
That’s an impressive achievement — in
any economy. At the same time, our
revenue-generation initiatives, including pricing incentives for large-volume
mailers, seasonal sales, widespread
promotion of our flat-rate shipping
options and a reorganized sales force,
also showed positive results.
Despite our extraordinary efforts,
the Postal Service finished the year
with a $6.8 billion revenue decrease.
The volume decline of more than 25
billion pieces was the largest in our
history. While the volume of mail we
deliver to each home is declining, our
delivery network continues to grow
by approximately a million addresses
each year. This growth substantially
increases delivery costs.
We will continue initiatives to grow
revenues and become even more efficient in 2010. The cost pressures of
declining revenue from shrinking mail
volume combined with a growing delivery network highlight the need for
changes that will allow the Postal
Service to adjust to the changing environment. In fact, the U.S. Government Accountability Office during FY
2009 added the Postal Service to its
federal “high-risk” list, urging action
by Congress and other key stakeholders to develop a plan to help put the
organization on a more sustainable
financial path.
Although by law we are required to
operate as a commercial entity, fully
funded by the revenues we earn, and
not by tax subsidies, there are unique
obligations placed on the Postal Service and restraints on our ability to
operate on a level playing field with
other commercial entities. For example, our current debt is more than $10
billion, the direct result of a requirement that we pre-fund retiree health
benefits through annual payments of
$5.4 billion to $5.8 billion through
2016. Although we are thankful the
U.S. Congress reduced that amount
by $4 billion for fiscal year 2009,
we will again face this sizeable outlay next year. It is time to re-examine

this payment schedule — which is far
more onerous than that which other
commercial entities or government
agencies are required to make. We
also are seeking better control of our
delivery schedule to meet the needs of
our customers, and we will continue
to work with Congress to achieve
longer-term structural changes.
Even with the glimmer of a potential economic recovery ahead, we do
not expect mail volumes to rebound
to their previous high levels. The
Postal Service is projecting continued revenue losses for several years,
although we anticipate more moderate declines in volume than occurred
during FY 2009. We will continue to
be aggressive in removing costs from
our system where possible. As we prepare for Sarbanes-Oxley compliance
in the year ahead, we are identifying
additional opportunities for savings
through increased financial controls
and streamlined processes.
Although we expect another challenging financial year in FY 2010, our
goal is to set our finances on firmer
footing, and continue to drive out
costs and be as efficient as possible.
We’re proud to deliver on our promise
to deliver trusted, affordable products
and services to the American people.
A financially sound Postal Service is
good for business — and good for the
nation. We’re meeting the challenge.

A financially
sound Postal
Service is good
for business —
and good for
the nation.
We’re meeting
the challenge.

Joseph Corbett
Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President
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ABSTRACT EXPRESSIONISTS

T H E 2010 S TA M P P ROG R A M
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LEGENDS OF HOLLYWOOD:
KATHARINE HEPBURN

EVERGREENS
K ATE SMITH

BLACK HERITAGE:
OSCAR MICHEAUX

SUNDAY FUNNIES

2 010 S t a m p s
Abstract Expressionists
Angel With Lute
Animal Rescue
Bill Mauldin
Cowboys of the Silver Screen
Distinguished Sailors
Eid
Evergreens
Flags of Our Nation
Hanukkah
Hawaiian Rain Forest
Julia De Burgos

Kate Smith
Katharine Hepburn
Kwanzaa
Negro Leagues Baseball
Oscar Micheaux
Pansies in a Basket
Scouting
Sassoferrato Virgin and Child
Sunday Funnies
Vancouver 2010 Olympic Winter Games
Winslow Homer
Year of the Tiger
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JULIA DE BURGOS

SCOUTING
DISTINGUISHED SAILORS
LUNAR NEW YEAR:
YEAR OF THE TIGER
NEGRO LEAGUES BASEBALL

AMERICAN TREASURES:
WINSLOW HOMER

BILL MAULDIN

LOVE: PANSIES IN A
BASKET

COWBOYS OF THE
SILVER SCREEN

VANCOUVER 2010
OLYMPIC WINTER
GAMES

ANIMAL
RESCUE
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FLAGS OF OUR NATION

EID

HOLIDAY
STAMPS

ANGEL WITH
LUTE
KWANZAA

CHRISTMAS:
SASSOFERRATO
VIRGIN AND CHILD

HANUKKAH

NATURE OF AMERICA:
HAWAIIAN RAIN FOREST
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BUSINESS
Financial Section

Social Awareness
We give back to the communities
in which we live and work.
We support efforts to raise
awareness about important
social concerns. Our Breast
Cancer Research semipostal
stamp has raised more than $67
million for breast cancer research
since 1998.
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BUSINESS
OVERVIEW
The United States Postal Service (we) commenced operations on July 1, 1971, as an “independent establishment
of the executive branch of the Government of the United
States” with the mandate that we offer a “fundamental
service” to the American people, “at fair and reasonable
rates.” We fulfill this legal mandate to provide universal service at a fair price by offering a variety of classes of mail
services without undue discrimination among our many
customers. This means that within each class of mail our
price does not unreasonably vary by customer for the levels of service provided. Established as the successor to
the Post Office Department (POD) by the Postal Reorganization Act, we are governed by an eleven-member Board
of Governors. The Board is comprised of nine Governors
appointed by the President of the United States with the
advice and consent of the Senate, plus the Postmaster
General and the Deputy Postmaster General. The Postal
Accountability and Enhancement Act, Public Law 109435 (P.L. 109-435) made further revisions to the Postal
Reorganization Act. The Postal Service’s governing statute
is codified in title 39, United States Code.
We serve individual and commercial customers throughout
the nation, competing for their business in the communications, distribution, delivery, advertising and retail markets.
The law divides our services into two broad categories:
market-dominant and competitive. Throughout this document and in the day-to-day operation of the organization,
we refer to market-dominant services as “Mailing Services” and competitive services as “Shipping Services.”
Mailing Services include, but are not limited to, First-Class
Mail, Standard Mail, Periodicals and Package Services.
Price increases for these services are subject to a price
cap based on the Consumer Price Index — All Urban Consumers (CPI-U).
Shipping Services include Priority Mail, Express Mail, Bulk
Parcel Post and Bulk International Mail. The regulations for
Shipping Services place no upper limit on price changes
while setting a price floor.
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We sell Mailing and Shipping Services through over 36,000
Post Offices, stations, branches, contract postal units, our
website www.usps.com and a network of consignees. We
deliver mail to more than 150 million city, rural, Post Office
box and highway delivery points. We conduct operations
primarily in the domestic market, with international revenue representing less than 4% of total revenue.
P.L. 109-435, as amended by P.L. 111-68, requires that,
over time, we fully fund our obligations for the established
health and retirement benefits of current and future postal
retirees. To accomplish this, the law established a new
Postal Service Retiree Health Benefits Fund (PSRHBF) and
required that we make annual payments of between $1.4
billion and $5.8 billion into the PSRHBF through 2016.
P.L. 109-435 also replaced the Postal Rate Commission
with the Postal Regulatory Commission (PRC), endowing
it with regulatory and rule-making powers as well as oversight obligations.
We are not a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are not subject
to regulation by the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). However, effective for reporting periods ending after September 30, 2007, we are required under P.L. 109435 to file with the PRC certain financial reports containing
information prescribed by the SEC under section 13 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These include quarterly
reports containing information required by the SEC to be
filed on Form 10-Q within 40 days after the end of each
fiscal quarter; an annual report containing information required by the SEC to be filed on Form 10-K within 60 days
after the end of each fiscal year; and current reports containing information required by the SEC to be filed on Form
8-K within the prescribed time frame. Further, P.L. 109435 requires the Postal Service to comply with the rules
prescribed by the SEC for implementing Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which pertain to reporting on the effectiveness of our financial internal controls.
The requirement to comply with Section 404 is effective
beginning with the 2010 fiscal year.
All references to years in this report, unless otherwise stated, refer to fiscal years beginning October 1 and ending
September 30. All references to quarters, unless otherwise stated, refer to fiscal quarters within 2009.
Additional disclosures on our organization and finances,
including Cost and Revenue Analysis reports; Revenue,
Pieces, and Weight reports; Vision 2013 strategic plan and
the Comprehensive Statement on Postal Operations may
be found on our website at www.usps.com. Information on
our website is not incorporated by reference into this report.
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STRATEGY
The Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) requires federal agencies to develop and publish a five-year
strategic plan every three years. The Postal Service updates its plan annually to accommodate ongoing business
environment changes. This annual planning process incorporates an assessment of recent performance, refinement
of strategies and prioritization of objectives and programs.
In October 2008, we published Vision 2013, our fiveyear strategic plan, covering the period 2009–2013. Vision 2013 was designed to build upon the successes of
the Postal Service’s Strategic Transformation Plan, which
helped guide multiple improvements in service, efficiency
and workplace conditions. With Vision 2013, the Postal
Service commits to continuing this progress. It acknowledges that continued service improvements and cost
reductions are crucial. The Postal Service will seek to
continue to strengthen its core operations and services,
balancing an immediate and urgent need to reduce costs
with a continued commitment to strategies such as Intelligent Mail, that are essential to the future of mail service to
the country. However, in the long term, the Postal Service
cannot survive on cost cutting alone, and service improvements will not, by themselves, halt revenue diversion or
attract new customers. Growth is crucial to the future of
affordable universal mail service.
Vision 2013 also offers a broad perspective of what it will
take to continue to provide affordable, universal service
and sustain a strong, viable Postal Service for future generations. It describes strategies to grow the business by
adapting to changing customer needs; to create new customer value by the Postal Service leveraging its strengths;
and to embrace change — incorporating new technology and approaches to respond more quickly to a rapidly
evolving business environment.

SEGMENTS
Although the law divides our services into market-dominant and competitive categories, and we track revenues
by category and mail class, we operate one fully integrated
network. We operate in one segment throughout the United States, its possessions and territories.

SERVICES
The Postal Service is the centerpiece of the U.S. mailing
industry, providing a wide variety of services to meet almost any mailing need. Services include the Mailing Services and Shipping Services described below.

Mailing Services
First-Class Mail — Offered for postcards, letters or any
advertisement or merchandise up to 13 ounces destined
for either domestic or international delivery. Personal correspondence, handwritten or typewritten letters and bills
or statements of account must be mailed via First-Class
Mail, Express Mail or Priority Mail.
Standard Mail — Offered for any item, including advertisements and merchandise weighing less than 16 ounces, that is not required to be sent using First-Class Mail.
Standard Mail is typically used for bulk advertising to multiple delivery addresses. Content restrictions apply for authorized nonprofit mailers.
Periodicals — Offered for newspaper, magazine and
newsletter distribution. This service requires prior authorization by the Postal Service.
Package Services — Offered for any merchandise or
printed matter weighing up to 70 pounds. These services
include Single Piece Parcel Post, Bound Printed Matter,
Library Mail and Media Mail.
Special Services — Offered for a variety of enhancements that add value to mail services. Many provide added security, proof of delivery or loss recovery. Examples
of these services include: Certified Mail, Registered Mail,
Delivery Confirmation, Signature Confirmation and insurance up to $1,000.
Money Orders — Are a special service offering a safe, convenient and economical alternative to sending cash through
the mail. They can be purchased at any Post Office or from
any rural route carrier and can be sent within the U.S. and
to some foreign countries. Postal money orders are available for any amount up to $1,000. Money orders can be
cashed at any Post Office or can be deposited or negotiated at financial institutions. The Postal Service will replace
Money Orders that have been damaged, lost or stolen.

Shipping Services
Priority Mail — Offered as a delivery service both within
the United States and to numerous destinations abroad.
The domestic offering is a 1–3 day nonguaranteed delivery
service and is typically used to send documents, gifts and
merchandise. Priority Mail International provides customers with a reliable and economical means of sending similar items weighing up to 70 pounds to over 190 countries
and territories worldwide.
Express Mail — Includes domestic and international offerings. Express Mail is the domestic offering. This overnight, money-back guaranteed service includes tracking,

proof of delivery and basic insurance up to $100. Delivery
is offered to most domestic U.S. destinations and is available 365 days a year. A surcharge is added for Sunday
and holiday delivery. Commercial prices and volume rebates are available to customers meeting certain volume
thresholds. Express Mail International offers fast delivery
service to over 190 countries with guaranteed service to
select destinations.
Parcels — Parcel Select and Parcel Return Service provide commercial customers with an economical means of
shipping packages. By taking advantage of the “first mile
and last mile” strengths of the Postal Service, Parcel Select saves customers money by entering packages into
the postal network closer to their ultimate destination while
Parcel Return Service provides workshare discounts to
commercial customers who go to selected sites to retrieve
packages sent back to them by their customers. Parcel
Select and Parcel Return Service allow us to partner with
other privately owned delivery services to serve our respective customers’ needs.
Details on revenue by Mailing and Shipping Services are
found in the Operating Statistics section.

PRICING AND
CLASSIFICATION ACTIVITY
Postal Service prices are set by the Board of Governors
and reviewed by the PRC for compliance with the requirements of the law. We generally adjust prices for Mailing
Services annually in May, with increases averaging no
higher than the rate of inflation. We have provided, and
plan to continue to provide, at least 90 days notice of the
new prices for Mailing Services.

On May 11, 2009, we increased prices for Mailing Services by an average of 3.8%. The average increase was
at or below the rate of inflation (calculated using the CPIU for the past twelve months using an averaging method
established by the PRC) for First-Class Mail, Standard Mail
and Package Services. Periodicals and Special Services
each increased slightly more than inflation, in both cases
by drawing on previously accrued but unused pricing authority. The First-Class Mail stamp price increased from
42 cents to 44 cents. As with 2008’s change, customers
could use previously purchased Forever Stamps after the
price change, without adding additional postage.
On October 15, 2009, the Postmaster General announced
that there will be no increase in Mailing Services — FirstClass Mail, Standard Mail, Periodicals, single-piece Parcel Post and Special Services — prices in 2010. On November 4, 2009, we announced that prices for Shipping
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Service products — including Priority Mail, Express Mail,
Global Express Guaranteed, Express Mail International,
Priority Mail International, Parcel Select and Parcel Return
Service — will increase an average of 3.3% effective January 4, 2010.
Prices for Shipping Services must cover each product’s
attributable costs, as well as an appropriate share of the
institutional costs of the Postal Service. The institutional
cost allocation, determined by the PRC, is 5.5% of total
attributable costs. We offer contract prices, rebates, online price reductions and other incentives to encourage
growth. By law, prices must be announced at least 30
days prior to the implementation date.
Prices for Shipping Services increased an average of 5% in
January 2009. This was the first time the Postal Service adjusted prices for Shipping Services on a different schedule
than for Mailing Services. As part of this change, Commercial Plus pricing was introduced, providing reduced prices
for high-volume Express Mail and Priority Mail users. New
Commercial Plus prices are, on average, 14.5% less than
retail for Express Mail and 7% less for Priority Mail.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
We own intellectual property that includes trademarks,
service marks, patents, copyrights, trade secrets and
other proprietary information. We routinely generate intellectual property in the course of developing and improving
systems, services and operations. We believe, however,
that the legal protections for our intellectual property are
less significant factors in our success than the knowledge,
ability and experience of our employees and the timeliness
and quality of services provided by us.

GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS
No material portion of our business is subject to renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts or subcontracts
at the election of the U.S. government.

COMPETITION
Our Shipping Services compete on the basis of the
breadth of our network and the reliability and economy of
our services. Shipping Services have benefited from the
growth of the Internet. Despite the exit of DHL from the
American market, package and express businesses are
likely to be intensely competitive in the future. The primary
competitors of our Shipping Services are Federal Express
and United Parcel Service.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
We operate a research and development facility in Virginia
for design, development and testing of postal equipment
and operating systems. We also contract with independent suppliers to conduct research activities. While research and development activities are important to our
business, these expenditures are not material.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
We are not aware of any federal, state or local environmental laws or regulations that would materially affect our
financial results or competitive position, or result in material capital expenditures. However, we cannot predict the
effect of possible future environmental legislation or regulations on operations.

SEASONAL OPERATIONS
EMPLOYEES
Our operations are seasonal. Mail volume and revenue
tend to be greatest in the first fiscal quarter, which includes
the fall holiday mailing season, and lowest during the summer, our fourth quarter.

CUSTOMERS
We have a very diverse customer base and are not dependent upon a single customer or small group of customers.
No single customer represents more than 3% of operating revenue, but advertising mail in general accounts for
more than half of our volume. The financial services sector,
which includes real estate, represents approximately 10%
of operating revenues.
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At September 30, 2009, we had 623,128 career employees and 88,954 non-career employees, substantially all of
whom reside in the U.S.
The labor force is primarily represented by the American Postal Workers Union (APWU), National Association
of Letter Carriers (NALC), National Postal Mail Handlers
Union (NPMHU) and National Rural Letter Carriers’ Association (NRLCA). The APWU and the NRLCA contracts
expire in November 2010, while the NPMHU and NALC
contracts expire in November 2011. More than 85% of
career employees are covered by collective bargaining
agreements. By law, we consult with management organizations representing most of the employees not covered
by collective bargaining agreements. These consultations

provide nonbargaining unit employees in the field an opportunity to participate directly in the planning, development and implementation of programs and policies that affect them. Management organizations include the National
Association of Postal Supervisors, the National League of
Postmasters and the National Association of Postmasters
of the United States. We participate in federal employee
benefit programs as required by statute, for retirement,
health and workers’ compensation benefits.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Financial and other information about the Postal Service
is available on www.usps.com: click on About USPS and
News. Information on our website is not incorporated by
reference in this report.
We make available on our website, free of charge, copies of our annual report and quarterly reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are filed with or provided
to the PRC. Requests for copies may also be sent to the
following address:
Corporate Communications
United States Postal Service
475 L’Enfant Plaza, SW
Washington, DC 20260-3100

2009 Annual Report United States Postal Service | 33

RISK FACTORS
Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows. Here, we provide a broad overview of the chief
external factors that influence, and in some cases govern,
operations and financial results, briefly discussing their
specific impacts in 2009 as well as their anticipated nearterm effects. The remainder of this report, notably the sections entitled “Business” and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” provides a further understanding of the risks and
uncertainties we confront.
Adverse changes in the economy directly impact our
business, negatively affecting our results of operations.
The demand for postal services is heavily influenced by
the economy. We are now in the early stages of a recovery, though most economists believe that it will be slow
and prolonged. However the nature of the recovery is not
universal. U.S. national unemployment, on the increase
since January 2008, reached 9.8% by the close of our fiscal year on September 30, 2009, and 10.2% in October,
the highest level since 1983. Unemployment may continue
to rise for the next several quarters in spite of the anticipated growth in gross domestic product (GDP). The lingering effects of turmoil in the financial markets have resulted
in a crisis of confidence among consumers, which raises
economic risk significantly. Uncertain market conditions
are expected to have an adverse impact on retail sales, investment, consumer spending and consumer confidence.
Negative trends in these areas are likely to depress the
demand for postal services.
Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows is substantially dependent on our ability to execute strategies to
increase efficiency, reduce costs and generate revenue.
The Postal Service incurred a net loss of $3,794 million for
the year ended September 30, 2009. This followed a net
loss of $2,806 million for the year ended September 30,
2008. A significant portion of the 2009 loss is attributed
to the unprecedented decline in mail volume, which fell by
25.6 billion pieces, resulting in a $6,842 million or 9.1% decrease in revenue, compared to 2008. The decline in mail
volume is primarily attributable to the breadth and depth
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of the economic recession, which has affected all sectors of the economy and all classes of mail. In fact, while
electronic diversion of mail is a long-established trend that
is expected to continue to depress annual mail volumes,
there is some evidence that the recession has accelerated
the diversion of First-Class Mail, overnight documents and
direct mail advertising. Looking ahead to 2010, we expect
mail volume to further decline. While forecasting in this
recession has become extremely difficult, our operational
plan in 2010 predicts a mail volume decline by another 1015 billion pieces from 2009 levels, and we foresee a net
loss of over $7 billion. It is possible that mail volumes could
decrease at a rate greater than this projection.
We experienced negative cash flow from operations in two
of the past three years. In 2009, we were able to fund
obligations, through increased debt and a $4 billion reduction to our PSRHBF payment that passed Congress
on September 30, 2009, and was signed into law by the
President on October 1. Our annual net increase in debt is
limited by statute to $3 billion, and total outstanding debt
is capped at $15 billion. Our debt at September 30, 2009,
was $10.2 billion. We currently project net debt outstanding at the end of 2010 to increase by $3 billion, but this
may not be sufficient to fund all obligations. If significant
losses continue in 2011, the overall $15 billion debt limitation will likely become insufficient.
We believe that, while there are sufficient cash flows for
ongoing operations, there is considerable uncertainty as
to whether we will have sufficient cash on September 30,
2010, to fund our required $5.5 billion PSRHBF payment.
If we cannot fund this payment on September 30, 2010,
we will experience a cash shortfall. There is also uncertainty as to what the legal and/or regulatory consequences would be to the Postal Service if we cannot fund this
PSRHBF payment. We will continue to inform the Congress on our financial outlook and on legislative changes
that would help ensure the availability of cash at year-end.
However, there can be no assurance that adjustments to
the PSRHBF payment schedule will be granted by September 30, 2010, or at all.

In light of these liquidity issues, in July 2009, the Government Accountability Office (GAO) listed the Postal Service
as one of its “high risk” government agencies. In its report,
Restructuring the U.S. Postal Service to Achieve Financial
Viability, GAO recognized what we have been reporting.
GAO cited our mounting losses, increasing debt levels and
inability to cut costs fast enough to offset the accelerated
declines in mail volume and revenue. To achieve financial
viability, GAO suggested that the Postal Service develop
and implement a broad restructuring plan, noting that
many initiatives would require Congressional support.
The Postal Service in 2010 will continue actions to increase efficiency, reduce costs and generate new revenue.
These activities will include reducing additional workhours
and headcount, maximizing operational efficiencies, renegotiating contracts with major suppliers, continuing the
freeze on construction of most new facilities and initiating
revenue generation efforts using the increased pricing flexibility available under P.L. 109-435.
Seeking to avert a potential cash shortfall, early in 2009
we requested that Congress restructure our payments for
retiree health benefits and grant the flexibility to suspend
the legislative requirement that we deliver mail six days a
week. Specifically, we requested that Congress restructure the retiree health benefit payments it mandated in the
2006 Postal Reform Act. Public Law 111-68, Making appropriations for the Legislative Branch for the fiscal year
ending September 30, 2010, and for other purposes (P.L.
111-68), addressed the 2009 payment to the PSRHBF.
While Congress did provide us with a necessary $4 billion
reduction of the PSRHBF payment scheduled for 2009,
P.L. 111-68 did not restructure PSRHBF payments beyond 2009. Neither did it act to relax Congress’ current
requirement that we adhere to a six-day delivery schedule.
We will continue to provide information and updates to
Congress on these outstanding issues.
Lifting the six-day delivery requirement and allowing the
Postal Service to adjust delivery days to match the requirements of actual mail volumes would provide us with critical
cost-savings opportunities. However, should this proposal
become law in fiscal year 2010, no savings would likely
be realized from the delivery schedule change until 2011
since multiple operational, contractual and customer issues would need to be resolved before actual implementation of a five-day delivery schedule.
Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet obligations is substantially dependent on the strength and speed
of the economic recovery and on our ability to execute
strategies to increase efficiency, reduce costs and generate incremental revenue. Although each cost reduction
and revenue generation initiative is expected to positively
impact cash flow in the future, in the aggregate, they may

be insufficient to offset a potential September 30, 2010,
cash shortfall if the economy worsens or we are unable
to meet expectations. Further, there can be no assurance
that Congress will enact additional legislation that impacts
2010, or at all.
Expanding use of electronic communications methods
and other commercial services competes with some
of our principal services. Our business and results of
operations will be adversely affected by electronic diversion. If we do not compete effectively with these
services, or grow marketing mail, package services or
revenues from other sources, this adverse impact will
be substantial over time.
The Postal Service product mix is shifting away from transactions, correspondence and periodicals mail toward advertising and shipping services which are highly correlated
with economic expansions and contractions. This year’s
revenue and volume clearly show the effect of that changing product mix. Over the past fifteen years transaction
mail, such as bill payment, has been eroded by competition from electronic media, primarily the Internet. It is expected that over time bills and statements will continue
to follow payments online, and there is evidence that the
recent recession has accelerated that movement. Factors
underlying this trend include growing Internet access in
homes, increased availability of broadband service, falling
personal computer prices, expansion of mobile Internet
access, increasing familiarity and comfort with the Internet
and the growing trend by businesses to incent or require
their customers to use alternatives to mail for payments
and statement receipt.
Correspondence mail has long been a declining part of mail
volume. With the availability of inexpensive telephone service, e-mail and other Internet-based forms of communication such as e-cards and social networking, there is little
chance that the trend in correspondence mail will change.
Periodicals in the mail continue to decline as people read less
and increasingly use electronic media for news and information. A steep decline in periodicals advertising has amplified
the impact of the recession and electronic competition.
The recession of 2007–2009 hit the advertising industry
exceptionally hard, especially in 2009. Even Internet advertising was adversely affected. Direct mail advertising fared
better than some media — national television newspapers,
magazines and print advertising in particular. Trends in advertising appear to be favoring media that can be measured and targeted, two traits that have long set direct mail
advertising apart. In the future it is expected that media
that share these characteristics will prosper. It is possible
that as the Internet continues to become part of daily life,
it will make inroads on advertising by mail.
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While the Postal Act of 2006 limited 90% of our price
increases to the rate of inflation, our costs are not
similarly limited. Accordingly, we may not be able to
increase prices sufficiently to offset increased costs,
which would adversely affect our results of operations.
Postal costs are heavily concentrated in wages, employee
and retiree benefits and transportation. They are significantly impacted by wage inflation, health benefit premium
increases, retirement and workers’ compensation program, cost of living allowances (COLAs) and the continuous expansion of our delivery network. We believe that
recovery in volume and associated revenue growth, along
with continuing productivity improvements, will be required
to address the challenge presented by our current financial
situation and the regulatory price cap.
The contracts with our four largest unions currently include provisions granting COLAs, which are linked to the
Consumer Price Index — Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers (CPI-W). The COLA effective in September
2008 conferred an annual pay increase of nearly $1,500
on each career employee covered by collective bargaining agreements. The combined impact of that COLA and
the carry-over from the March 2008 COLA represented an
additional $1.1 billion in expenses for the Postal Service
in 2009. Although the CPI-W has thus far stayed below
its July 2008 high point, a resurgence of consumer inflation could have a significant adverse impact on our financial position. We estimate that each 1% increase in the
CPI-W results in more than $200 million increase in annual
Postal Service expenses. In addition, the valuation of our
workers’ compensation liability is highly influenced by expectations of inflation and interest rates. A 1% change in
the interest rates assumptions produces an approximately
$900 million change in the liability. While these interest rate
assumptions do not effect our annual cash payment, the
CPI-W does affect the COLA payments received by claimants with compensation claims.
Current labor agreements with the two largest unions
expire in November 2010 and November 2011. The ability to negotiate fair contracts that reflect the state of the
economy and current and future mail revenues is essential
to maintaining our financial stability. Failure to do so, or an
adverse decision by an arbitrator should we not be able to
agree to terms with the unions, could have significant adverse consequences on our ability to meet our obligations.
Adverse events may call into question our reputation
for quality and reliability, which could diminish the
value of the Postal Service brand and potentially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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We serve every American household and business nearly
every day. For the fifth year in a row, the Ponemon Institute
named the Postal Service the most trusted government
agency and sixth most trusted of all organizations. The
Postal Service brand represents quality and reliable service
and therefore is a valuable asset. We use our brand extensively in sales and marketing initiatives, and take care to
defend and protect it. Any event that calls into question this
quality and reliability could diminish the value of our brand
and potentially adversely affect our business and reputation.
Fuel expenses are a material part of our operating
costs. A significant increase in fuel prices could adversely affect our costs and results of operations.
We are exposed to changes in commodity prices primarily
for diesel fuel, unleaded gasoline, aircraft fuel for transportation of the mail and natural gas for heating facilities.
A 1% increase in fuel costs would result in a $22 million
increase in expense. We did not use derivative commodity instruments to manage the risk of changes in energy
prices during the periods covered by this report.
We are subject to Congressional oversight, regulation
by other government agencies and also oversight by
various other organizations and the public. If we cannot successfully address the various, and sometimes
conflicting, concerns of regulators, we may be subject
to greater regulation, which could increase costs or
otherwise place additional burdens on our operations.
This is an outgrowth of our unique status as a provider of a
fundamental service to the American people. We attempt
to balance the interests of all groups with the need for operational efficiency. Efforts to be responsive to these various stakeholders sometimes adversely impact the speed
with which we are able to respond to changes in mail volumes or other operational needs. Any limitations on our
ability to take management action could adversely affect
our operating and financial results.
Our customers are potentially subject to various state
legislative proposals which could reduce our revenues, increase costs or otherwise place additional
burdens on our operations.
Do Not Mail bills are designed to limit or stop advertising mail from being mailed to households. In the past few
years, several states have introduced Do Not Mail legislation. While no state bills have passed, there continues to
be activity. In 2009, three states introduced Do Not Mail
bills — Connecticut, Florida and New York. The Connecticut and Florida bills expired at the end of the 2009 legislative session. However, the New York bills are still active
and will carry over into the 2010 legislative session. Similar
proposals also have surfaced in city governments.

The Postal Service opposes legislation that would limit
mailing or that would interfere with the availability of an
affordable, universal postal system. The Postal Service will
continue to communicate the value of the mail by building upon its strong environmental record and its work with
mailers to offer consumers choices on how to manage
their mail. By working aggressively with mailers, marketers
and advertisers, the Postal Service can continue to improve the quality and relevancy of advertising mail.
The Postal Service continues to work closely with the mailing industry to promote and implement best practices for
address management and anticipates that the implementation of the Intelligent Mail Barcode will be an additional
tool to ensure that mail is deliverable as addressed. In addition, through its environmental stewardship, the Postal
Service continues to promote programs such as recycling
mail in postal lobbies to make it even easier for customers
to make environmentally friendly choices.
Should a state pass Do Not Mail legislation, it would result
in lost revenue for the Postal Service. A Postal Service financial analysis estimated that a national implementation
of Do Not Mail legislation would place approximately $6
billion of revenue at risk annually.
We rely extensively on technology to operate our systems. A significant failure in a material system could
impair our reputation for reliable service and adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to the risk of biohazards and other
threats placed in the mail.
Although we have implemented extensive emergency
preparedness measures to keep the mail, employees
and customers safe from harm due to biohazards or other threats that could be introduced into the mailstream,
there continues to be a risk of possible biohazard or other
threats. If new biohazards or other threats were to arise
and measures were not sufficient to contain or mitigate
the threat, our services could be disrupted. This could adversely affect revenues, require substantial expenditures to
address the threat and adversely affect our operations and
financial condition.
We are also subject to risks and uncertainties that affect many other businesses, including:
■ Market acceptance of new service and growth

initiatives;
■ Adverse weather conditions or natural disasters,

such as hurricanes, which can damage property and
disrupt our operations;
■ International conflicts or terrorist activities and the

effects these events may have on business or results
of operations; and
■ Changes in interest rates and foreign currency

exchange rates.

We rely extensively on technology to operate systems for
processing and delivering mail. Our intranet is one of the
largest maintained by any organization in the world. Any
significant failure of these systems could cause delays in
the processing and delivering of mail, which could damage our reputation, result in loss of business and increase
costs of operation.
A failure on our part to protect the privacy of information we obtain from customers could damage our
reputation and result in a loss of business.
We receive a variety of private information from customers,
such as address change data. We have implemented a
number of safeguards intended to protect the confidentiality of data that we obtain.
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PROPERTIES
REAL ESTATE
Our facilities range in size from 83 square feet to 46.5 acres
under one roof and support retail, delivery, mail processing, maintenance, administrative and support activities.
Real Estate Inventory
(actual numbers)
2009

2008

Leased Facilities

24,516

25,272

Owned Facilities

8,419

8,546

329

357

Total Real Estate Inventory

33,264

34,175

Annual Rent Paid to Landlords (Dollars in millions)

$ 1,035 $ 1,011

GSA/Other Government Facilities

The majority of our small and medium-sized facilities support the retail and delivery operations located in virtually
every community across this country. Our retail and delivery operations are supported by 32,662 leased or owned
facilities. We also provide retail services through 3,834
Contract Postal Units and community Post Offices where
the facility is owned and maintained by the contractor.

(actual numbers)
2009

2008

27,161

27,232

Classified Branches

1,484

1,493

Classified Stations

3,344

3,358

673

658

3,037

3,148

797

834

36,496

36,723

Carrier Annexes
Contract Postal Units
Community Post Offices
Total Retail and Delivery Facilities

(actual numbers)
2009

2008

Processing and Distribution Centers

268

269

Customer Service Facilities

195

195

Network Distribution Centers
(previously known as Bulk Mail Centers)

21

21

Logistics and Distribution Centers

14

14

Annexes

61

64

Surface Transfer Centers

20

20

Airmail Processing Centers

12

20

Remote Encoding Centers

3

6

Internal Service Centers
Total Processing Facilities

5

5

599

614

We also have approximately 1,000 other administrative,
vehicle maintenance and miscellaneous support facilities.

VEHICLES

Retail and Delivery Facilities

Post Offices

Processing Facilities

We have one of the largest vehicle fleets in the United
States, including an extensive fleet of alternative fuel vehicles. As part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA), we received 3,424 new fuel efficient vehicles from the General Services Administration
in a one-for-one exchange for old Postal Service vehicles.
Vehicle Inventory
(actual numbers)
2009
Delivery and Collection Vehicles (½ – 2½ ton)

Larger facilities typically support mail processing operations, which process millions of pieces of mail on a daily basis, and prepare them for transportation across the country.

2008

196,445 197,898

Mail Transport Vehicles (Tractors and Trailers)

6,380

6,455

Administrative Vehicles and Other Vehicles

5,867

5,906

Service Vehicles (Maintenance)

4,959

5,272

Inspection Service and Law Enforcement Vehicles

2,843

3,288

Mail Transport Vehicles (3 – 9 ton)

2,190

2,228

Total Vehicles

218,684 221,047

In addition, the Postal Service leases vehicles. During 2009,
the number of leased vehicles decreased by over 2,500.
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MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS
Forward-looking statements contained in this report represent our best estimates of trends we know about, trends
we anticipate and trends we believe are relevant to future
operations. However, actual results may be different from
estimates. Certain forward-looking statements are included in this report and use such words as “may,” “will,”
“could,” “expect,” “believe,” “plan” or other similar terminology. These statements reflect current expectations regarding future events and operating performance as of the date
of this report. These forward-looking statements involve a
number of risks and uncertainties.
The following are some of the factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in,
or underlying, forward-looking statements: effectiveness
of operating initiatives; success in advertising and promotional efforts; changes in national and local business and
economic conditions, including their impact on consumer
and business confidence; fluctuations in currency exchange and interest rates; labor and other operating costs;
oil, fuel and other transportation costs; the effects of war
and terrorist activities; competition, including pricing and
marketing initiatives and new service offerings by our competitors; consumer preferences or perceptions concerning
our service offerings; spending patterns and demographic
trends; availability of qualified personnel; severe weather
conditions; effects of legal claims; cost and deployment of
capital; changes in laws and regulations; costs and delays
associated with new regulations imposed by the PRC; and
changes in applicable accounting policies and practices.
The foregoing list of important factors is not all-inclusive.
We have no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make significant judgments and estimates to develop certain amounts reflected
and disclosed in the financial statements. In many cases,
there are alternative policies or estimation techniques that

could be used. We maintain a thorough process to review
the application of our accounting policies and to evaluate the appropriateness of the many estimates that are
required to prepare the financial statements of a large organization. However, even under optimal circumstances,
estimates routinely require adjustment based on changing
circumstances and new or better information.
The three critical accounting policies that we believe are
either the most judgmental or involve the selection or application of alternative accounting policies, and are material to financial statements, are those relating to workers’
compensation costs, deferred revenue for prepaid postage and contingent liabilities. Workers’ compensation
costs are highly sensitive to the estimates of discount and
inflation rates and the length of time recipients stay on the
compensation rolls, and reported financial results may be
volatile. However the annual cash payment is relatively
stable and therefore predictable. Workers’ compensation
costs are also subject to actuarial estimates of future payouts, based upon prior claims data. These estimates can
change significantly from period to period.
Deferred revenue for prepaid postage represents our estimate of postage that has been sold but has not yet been
used by the customers. We track postage sold from our
sales records. Postage used is estimated via statistical
samples of counts across the country. Changes in consumer hold patterns can significantly impact our estimates.
Contingent liabilities require significant judgment in estimating potential losses for legal claims. Each quarter, we
review significant new claims and litigation for the probability of an adverse outcome. Estimates can change
as individual claims develop. In addition, retirement and
health benefit costs for employees and retirees represent
a significant portion of expenses. Any changes in laws or
regulations affecting the amounts, timing or administration
of these benefits could have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations. For additional information, see Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies, in the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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We recognize revenue when services are rendered. Because we collect payment in advance of services being
performed, we defer the revenue as an estimated liability. This liability is classified as deferred revenue–prepaid
postage on our balance sheets. In 2008, we improved the
model used to estimate the deferred revenue for prepaid
postage for stamps. This change was made necessary because the introduction of the Forever Stamp in April 2007,
combined with the May 2008 price increase, resulted in a
change in consumer behavior regarding the purchase and
usage of stamps that was not measurable using prior estimation techniques. This new estimation methodology provides more refined estimates of the trends in stamp usage.
We further refined this estimation methodology in Quarter
IV of 2009 to reflect changes in customer usage patterns
of both Forever and denominated stamps demonstrated
during 2009. The 2008 change to a new estimation model
and 2009 refinement are both considered changes in accounting estimates under Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP).
For further information, see Note 3 to the financial statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Despite $6.1 billion in cost savings from the reduction in the
number of employees, reduction of overtime hours and reduction in transportation and other costs, we were unable
to fully offset contractual price increases and an unforeseen, rapid and dramatic drop in mail volume and revenue.
This resulted in a net loss for the year of $3,794 million.
On October 1, 2009, the President signed P.L. 111-68,
Making appropriations for the Legislative Branch for the
fiscal year ending September 30, 2010, and for other purposes (P.L. 111-68), which had passed both houses of
Congress as of September 30, 2009. This law included
a provision retroactively reducing the 2009 required payment into the Postal Service Retiree Health Benefits Fund
(PSRHBF) from $5.4 billion to $1.4 billion. Without this legislative change, the resulting losses would have left us with
very little operating cash at September 30, 2009.
Operating Statistics
(dollars in millions)
2009

2008

2007

Operating Revenue

$ 68,090

$ 74,932

$ 74,778

Operating Loss

$ (3,740)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,327)

Net Loss

$ (3,794)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,142)

(5.5%)

(3.7%)

(7.1%)

584

667

705

Operating Margin
Avg. Volume per Day
(pieces in millions)
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As explained more fully later in the “Revenue and Volume”
section of this report, the recession has had a significant
adverse impact on operating revenue. For the year ended
September 30, 2009, operating revenue was $68,090 million, compared to $74,932 million, a decrease of $6,842
million or 9.1%, in spite of average Mailing Services price
increases of 3.8% in May 2009 and 2.9% in May 2008.
Volumes of all categories of mailing and shipping services
declined compared to last year.
For 2009, operating expenses were $71,830 million, compared to $77,738 million last year, a decrease of $5,908
million, or 7.6%. Excluding $718 million of non-cash adjustments to the workers’ compensation liability, operating expenses decreased by $6,626 million, or 8.5%. The
2009 decrease in operating expenses was driven by the
$4 billion reduction of Retiree Health Benefits as a result
of P.L. 111-68 and a reduction of 115 million workhours.
The 115 million workhour reduction was, by far, the largest
annual decrease in Postal Service history. Transportation
expenses also decreased $935 million, or 13.4%, as fuel
prices and mail volume declined from a year earlier, utilization decreased, and certain contracts were re-competed
and re-priced. Other expenses decreased $525 million,
or 5.4%, as substantial limits were place on spending
for supplies and services, travel and other discretionary
items. All of these expense reductions were accomplished
without affecting service to our customers and despite the
large percentage of our costs dedicated to serving the stillgrowing delivery network.
Compensation and benefits expenses decreased by
$1,427 million, or 2.7%, excluding workers’ compensation expenses. Workhour decreases of 115 million hours
resulted in significant savings, although they were offset by
the $1.1 billion impact of the COLA that became effective
in September 2008.
Workers’ compensation expenses increased $996 million,
primarily due to a non-cash change in the estimated cost
of future claim payments, driven largely by a change in
economic assumptions. Those changes are discussed in
Note 12 to the Financial Statements and in the “Compensation and Benefits” section of this report.
For 2008, we had an operating loss of $2,806 million,
as compared to a $5,327 million loss in 2007. Operating
revenues of $74,932 million were 0.2%, or $154 million
greater than the $74,778 million in 2007. Despite the May
2007 and May 2008 price increases, revenues were negatively impacted by a decline in volume of 9.5 billion pieces.
Our 2008 expenses were impacted by high energy prices,
COLAs and the large percentage of costs dedicated to
serving the growing delivery network. These cost pressures partially offset the savings generated by a reduction

of 50 million workhours. Operating expenses of $77,738
million were $2,367 million less than the $80,105 million
incurred in 2007. Expenses in 2007 also included a onetime charge for the transfer of $2,958 million from escrow
into the PSRHBF.

Mail Volume by Type
(pieces in millions)
2009

2008

First-Class Mail

83,770

91,697

96,297

Standard Mail

82,706

99,084

103,516

7,954

8,605

8,796

730

846

914

Periodicals
Package Services

REVENUE AND VOLUME
The annual price increase for most Mailing Services in
May 2009 averaged 3.8%. In May 2008, the annual price
increase for most Mailing Services averaged 2.9%. Shipping Services prices increased in January 2009 by an average of 5%.
The economic recession adversely affected all classes of
mail in 2009, leading to the largest year-over-year revenue
and volume decline since the Postal Reorganization Act
of 1971. As the recession continued, significant volume
declines occurred in each quarter of the year.
Operating Revenue
(dollars in millions)
2009

2008

2007

$ 35,873

$ 38,179

$ 38,405

17,364

20,586

20,779

Periodicals

2,038

2,295

2,188

Package Services

1,683

1,845

1,812

First-Class Mail
Standard Mail

Other Mailing Services*

3,000

3,645

3,720

Total Mailing Services

59,958

66,550

66,904

Total Shipping Services
Total Operating Revenue

8,132

8,382

7,874

$ 68,090

$ 74,932

$ 74,778

Other Mailing Services*

517

896

1,081

Total Mailing Services

175,677

201,128

210,604

1,381

1,575

1,630

177,058

202,703

212,234

Total Shipping Services
Total Mail Volume by Type

*Free mail for the blind included in “Other” category.

The decline of both revenue and volume for each class of
mail for the year can largely be attributed to the economic
environment. Competition, electronic diversion and other
external factors continue to negatively impact revenue
and volume performance, but those factors have become
secondary to the overall performance of the economy. No
class of mail has been immune to the recent financial turmoil and all categories of mail experienced drops in volume and revenue. Total mail volume fell by 12.7% in 2009,
with an accompanying revenue decline of 9.1%.
2009 Mail Volume

5%
Other Mailing
Services

47%
Standard Mail
Shipping Services

47%

First-Class Mail

*Special services and other income included in “Other” category.

Led by the troubled financial services industry, we first
experienced declines in advertising mail, particularly with
regard to credit card, mortgage and home equity loan
solicitations. With the recession’s spread to all economic sectors, declining volumes followed among catalogue
retailers, printing and publishing businesses and the services sector.
2009 Mail Revenue

9%

26%

Other Mailing
Services

53%

Standard Mail

2007

1%
Although its relative influence lessened in comparison to
economic factors, electronic diversion continued to depress mail volumes in 2009. For example, in Quarter II,
the largest decline in First-Class Mail volume came from
mailings to and from the U.S. Treasury, primarily the Internal Revenue Service. Americans are increasingly filing tax
returns electronically, including a 16.7% increase in e-filed
tax returns by self-preparers this year compared to last
year. Many of these filers also elect to receive refunds electronically. Periodicals mail volumes also displayed the effects of electronic diversion as some publishers converted
to electronic publications.

Shipping Services

12%

First-Class Mail
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A product of these negative economic and market forces,
operating revenue in 2009 was $68,090 million, a decrease
of $6,842 million compared to 2008 operating revenue of
$74,932 million. Mail volume of 177.1 billion pieces declined
by 25.6 billion pieces, or 12.7%, from the 2008 volume of
202.7 billion pieces, itself a decline from the previous year.
In 2008, the financial sector of the U.S. economy led declines in the mailing arena. Operating revenue for 2008 was
$74,932 million, an increase of $154 million over 2007 operating revenue of $74,778 million, while volume of 202.7
billion pieces declined by 9.5 billion pieces, or 4.5%, from
the 2007 volume of 212.2 billion. The 2008 volume decline
accelerated throughout the year, reaching a peak decline
of 3.2 billion pieces in the fourth quarter.
Revenue for the first seven and a half months of 2008 was
affected by the May 2007 price increase of 5.4%. The remainder of the year was affected by the May 2008 price
increase of 2.9%. Although the volume decrease in 2008
was significant, the price increase held revenue flat compared to 2007.

MAILING SERVICES
In 2009, First-Class Mail and Standard Mail, which make
up 94% of volume, decreased approximately 24.3 billion
pieces, or 12.7% compared to last year, with an associated drop in revenue of $5,528 million, or 9.4%. Total Mailing
Services revenue decreased $6,592 million, or 9.9%, with
a corresponding volume decrease of 25.5 billion pieces, or
12.7%, compared to last year. Most of this decrease can
be attributed to the downturn in the economy, particularly
the financial and real estate sectors, which are heavy users
of the mail.
For the year ended September 30, 2009, revenue from
First-Class Mail was $35,873 million, or 6.0%, less than
last year, as volume decreased 7.9 billion pieces, or 8.6%,
compared to 2008. Reflecting the economy, all significant
subgroups of First-Class Mail experienced revenue and
volume declines. Single-piece First-Class letter revenue
declined $1,055 million, or 7.3%, on a decrease of 3,493
million pieces, or 10.4%, for the year compared to 2008.
Single-piece First-Class Mail volume, including bills, bill
payments, statements, confirmations, orders and rebates,
has been in decline for over a decade. While price has
some effect on First-Class Mail volume, in this environment the economy is the primary driver behind the volume
decline, with technology as a secondary driver.
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First-Class Mail Volume Changes from Prior Year
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In 2008, First-Class Mail revenue decreased $226 million,
or 0.6%, while volume decreased by 4.6 billion pieces, or
4.8%. The 2008 revenue decrease occurred in spite of a
2008 rate increase and the residual effect of a prior rate
increase. The most significant decline was in single-piece
First-Class letters, with a decrease of over 3 billion pieces.
The long-term continued decline in single-piece volume
reflects the impact of electronic diversion as businesses,
nonprofit organizations, governments and households continue to convert to electronic methods of communication.
Standard Mail revenue decreased $3,222 million, or
15.7%, in 2009, as volume decreased 16.4 billion pieces,
or 16.5%, compared to last year. Standard Mail volume
has been significantly impacted by the decline in advertising spending as a result of the recession, which spread
rapidly throughout the economy. All subgroups of Standard Mail lost both revenue and volume in 2009 compared
to last year. Standard Mail letter volume fell 18.4%, or 10.5
billion pieces, while revenue dropped $1,782 million, or
16.9%, in 2009 compared to 2008. The volume for Standard Mail flats fell 22.2%, or 2,218 million pieces, while
revenue dropped $798 million, or 21.8%, in 2009 compared to last year. In addition to the impact of the troubled
economy on Standard Mail revenues, advertisers continue
to become more sophisticated in the targeting of their
mailings, further reducing mail volume. We expect advertising mail to begin to increase as the economy improves,
although many experts do not expect the economic recovery to be rapid or robust.

Standard Mail Volume Changes from Prior Year

SHIPPING SERVICES

0%

Shipping Services revenue of $8,132 million decreased
$250 million, or 3.0%, in 2009 compared to last year, as
volume declined to 1,381 million pieces. This was a decrease of 194 million pieces, or 12.3%, compared to 2008.
All subgroups within Shipping Services experienced volume
declines, with the exception of our Parcel Return Service.
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Overall, the poor 2009 revenue performance reflects the
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In 2008, Standard Mail revenue decreased almost $200
million, or 0.9%, compared with 2007, on 4.3% volume
decline. The progressively larger quarterly volume declines
were a harbinger of 2009. Standard Mail represented 27%
of total operating revenues and 49% of total volume in 2008.
Revenue from Periodicals decreased $257 million, or
11.2%, in 2009 compared to last year. Trends in reading
behavior have been depressing this segment for years,
and, in conjunction with the recession, have pushed revenue and volume declines into double digits. The average weight per piece of Periodicals decreased by 10.8%
in 2009, reflecting the decline in the number of advertising
pages. Periodicals volume decreased 651 million pieces,
or 7.6%, in 2009 compared to last year.
Periodicals volume decreased 191 million pieces, or 2.2%,
in 2008 compared to 2007. Price increases resulted in a
revenue increase of $107 million, or 4.9%, in 2008. The
long-term trend in reading preferences was the significant
driver of 2008 volume and revenue declines.
Package Services revenue of $1,683 million decreased
$162 million, or 8.8%, in 2009, compared to 2008. Volume decreased 116 million pieces, or 13.7%, in the same
period. Volumes fell throughout the package industry in
2009, reflecting the overall state of the economy.
Price increases resulted in a Package Services revenue increase of $33 million, or 1.8%, in 2008 compared to 2007.
Volume decreased 68 million pieces, or 7.4%, in 2008.
During 2008 each sub-classification of Package Services
experienced volume declines and revenue increases, with
the exception of Bound Printed Flats, which experienced
both volume and revenue declines.

In 2008, Shipping Services revenue increased $508 million, or 6.5%, compared with 2007, on 3.4% volume decline. Price increases offset lower volumes. Shipping Services includes our premium products such as Priority Mail
and Express Mail, and produced 11% of revenue on 1%
of the volume in 2008.
Additional discussion on volume and revenue projections
can be found in the “Outlook” section of this report. Detailed data on Mailing Services product volume and revenue may be found in the Quarterly Revenue, Pieces and
Weight reports on www.usps.com/financials/rpw.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses are comprised of Compensation and
Benefits, Retiree Health Benefits, Transportation and Other Expenses.
Operating Expenses
(dollars in millions)
Compensation and Benefits

2009

2008

2007

$ 53,154

$ 53,585

$ 54,186

Retiree Health Benefits

3,390

7,407

10,084

Transportation

6,026

6,961

6,502

Other Expenses

9,260

9,785

9,333

$ 71,830

$ 77,738

$ 80,105

Total Operating Expenses

In 2009, total operating expenses of $71,830 million were
$5,908 million, or 7.6%, less than 2008, mainly due to the
enactment of P.L. 111-68, which decreased Retiree Health
Benefits by $4 billion, and the reduction of 115 million
workhours. Compensation and benefits, along with retiree
health benefits, were $56,544 million, or 78.7%, of operating expenses. Transportation expenses decreased $935
million, or 13.4%, and other expense decreased $525 million, or 5.4%.
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In 2008, total operating expenses of $77,738 million were
$2,367 million, or 3.0%, less than 2007. Retiree health benefits decreased by $2,677 million in 2008 compared to an increase of $8,447 million in 2007. The decrease was primarily due to a 2007 one-time charge in addition to the annual
amounts required by P.L. 109-435. Despite the decrease,
compensation and benefits along with retiree health benefits were $60,992 million, or 78.5%, of operating expenses
compared to $64,270 million, or 80.2%, in 2007. Transportation expenses increased by $459 million, or 7.1%, while
other expenses increased $452 million, or 4.8%.

elected to retire or resign in October 2009; the expense for
their incentives will be expensed in Quarter I, 2010.

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

Current employees’ health benefits expense decreased $82
million, or 1.5%, primarily due to the reduction in personnel.

Compensation and benefits were $431 million, or 0.8%,
less than 2008, mainly due to an unprecedented reduction
of 115 million workhours. This achievement is discussed
in further detail in the “Workhours” section of this report.
We have contracts with our four largest labor unions which
include COLA-based raises. There were no COLA increases in 2009, but the carryover effect from the record high
COLAs in 2008 was significant. The total impact of COLAs
was $1.1 billion in 2009 compared to $562 million in 2008.
Non-bargaining employees receive pay increases through a
pay-for-performance program that makes meaningful distinctions in performance. These employees do not receive
automatic salary increases, nor do they receive COLAs or
locality pay.
Compensation and Benefits Expenses
(dollars in millions)
2009

2008

2007

$ 39,208

40,633

$ 41,695

Retirement

5,917

5,899

5,737

Health Benefits

5,294

5,376

5,401

Workers’ Compensation

2,223

1,227

880

512

450

473

$ 53,154

$ 53,585

$ 54,186

Compensation

Other
Total Compensation
and Benefits Expenses

Compensation costs decreased by $1,425 million, or
3.5%, due to a record decline of 115 million workhours.
This was partially offset by a 6.2% increase in the average
hourly labor rate, consisting mainly of COLA. Also offsetting a portion of the savings generated by the decrease in
workhours was a $197 million accrual for incentive payments for 13,400 APWU and Mail handler employees who
elected by September 30, 2009, to retire or resign from
the Postal Service. These incentives, included in compensation expense, will be paid in two installments in Quarter I,
2010, and Quarter I, 2011. An additional 6,750 employees
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Retirement expenses, which consist primarily of employer
contributions to the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS) and Social Security, increased by $18 million, or 0.3%. Other expenses increased by $62 million,
or 13.8%, due mainly to rising unemployment expenses
driven by extended benefits granted by many states. Additional information on workhours, retirement, health benefits and workers’ compensation expenses are provided
on the following pages.

Workers’ compensation expenses increased $996 million,
or 81.2%, mainly due to a non-cash charge of $718 million related to a change in estimated discount and inflation
rates used to calculate the liability for future payments. This
increase in the estimated liability did not affect our cash
outlays for 2009. See Note 12, Workers’ Compensation, in
the Notes to the Financial Statements for more information.
In 2008, total personnel compensation and benefits costs of
$53,585 million were $601 million, or 1.1%, less than 2007.
The decrease was mainly due to reductions in workhours.
Compensation expenses were $1,062 million, or 2.5%,
lower in 2008 compared to 2007, in spite of COLA increases that added $562 million to compensation expenses. These increases were offset somewhat by a decrease
of 50 million workhours. In 2008, workers’ compensation
increased by $347 million.

WORKHOURS
The unprecedented 115 million, or 8.4%, decrease in
2009 workhours resulted in large part from lower mail volumes. Management initiatives and delivery route adjustments, initiated in response to the decline in workload,
contributed further reductions. Workhours decreased in all
major functions. The 2009 reductions were in addition to
the 50 million hour reduction from the prior year. In 2009,
mail processing used 42 million fewer hours than the prior
year. City and rural delivery hours were less than 2008 by
28 million and 9 million hours, respectively. Customer service and retail hours were down 26 million workhours from
the prior year. The other workhour category decreased by
10 million hours. Contributing to the overall workhour reduction was the continuing close scrutiny of overtime usage which resulted in a reduction of 35.7%, or 36 million,
overtime hours. The overtime ratio to total workhours was
5.1% in 2009, as compared with 7.3% for 2008.

Workhours by Function

RETIREMENT EXPENSE

(workhours in thousands)
2009

2008

2007

City Delivery

424,683

452,288

462,040

Mail Processing

251,200

293,108

315,825

Customer Services & Retail

190,749

217,236

233,791

Rural Delivery

181,090

189,950

189,709

210,303

220,772

221,636

Other, Including Plant, Operational
Support, and Administrative
Total Workhours

1,258,025 1,373,354 1,423,001

Rural delivery hours decreased in 2009 despite the addition of over 600,000 new rural delivery points. Rural carrier workhour reductions were driven primarily by the mail
count evaluations that were implemented in April 2009.
These mail counts reduced weekly rural carrier evaluated
workhours by 154,000 hours, or 4.3%, per week. This
change directly reflected the reduction in mail volume from
the previous year. The total number of new delivery points
was also dramatically lower in 2009 and is a direct reflection of the weak economy, with lower housing starts and
housing sales.
Workhour Reductions
(hours in millions)

0

2007

2008

2009

Employees participate in one of three retirement programs
of the U.S. government, based on the starting date of their
employment with the federal government. These programs
are the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS), the Dual
CSRS/Social Security System (Dual CSRS) and the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS). The programs
are administered by the Office of Personnel Management
(OPM). The funding requirements and timing of employer
and employee contributions into the programs can be altered at any time with the passage of a new law or an
amendment of existing law by Congress and signed by the
President. See Note 11, Retirement Programs, in the Notes
to the Financial Statements for additional information.
All expenses of our retirement programs, except for retiree
health benefits, are included in compensation and benefits
expense. Retirement expenses represented 8.2% of total operating expenses in 2009, 7.6% in 2008 and 7.2%
in 2007. Retirement expense of $5,917 million for current
employees was $18 million, or 0.3%, greater than the
2008 expense of $5,899 million. The small change in 2009
is primarily a result of the decreasing size of the workforce
which offset the rising cost per employee. The retirement
expense increase of $162 million in 2008 relative to 2007
was attributable to the higher employer contributions resulting from higher average wage rates in 2008, largely
due to COLAs.
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In 2008, total workhours decreased by 50 million hours
compared to 2007, partially offsetting higher labor rates.
Mail processing, customer service and city delivery workhours collectively decreased by 50 million. Rural delivery
increased 0.2 million workhours in 2008, driven by the addition of almost 710,000 new rural delivery points.
Workhours have been reduced in nine of the last ten years,
with only 2005 showing a slight increase. Since 2002,
workhour reductions have been the single biggest contributor to the ongoing achievement of savings targets.

As described in Note 3, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to the Financial Statements, we
account for our participation in the retirement programs of
the U.S. government under multi-employer plan accounting rules, in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 715 (formerly FAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions). Although the Civil Service Retirement
and Disability Fund (CSRDF) is a single fund and does not
maintain separate accounts for individual agencies, P.L.
109-435 requires us to make certain disclosures regarding
obligations and changes in net assets as if the funds were
separate. All of the following information is provided by
OPM and represents the most recent data available (i.e.,
actual data as of September 30, 2008) with projections to
September 30, 2009.

FUNDING STATUS
The following table provides OPM’s estimation of the funding status of the CSRS and FERS programs for Postal Service participants as of September 30, 2008, and 2007,
and the projected Postal Service obligation as of September 30, 2009.
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Present Value Analysis of Retirement Programs as calculated by OPM
(9/30/08 latest actual data available)
(dollars in billions)
CSRS

OPM used the following assumptions in their analysis:
Projected 2009

2008

2007

$ 207.1

$ 204.1

$ 196.9

197.5

195.1

193.8

$ (9.6)

$ (9.0)

$ (3.1)

Actuarial Accrued Liability 9/30
Current Fund Balance
(Unfunded)
FERS

Projected 2009

2008

2007

$ 69.3

$ 62.8

$ 55.1

76.1

69.3

63.5

Actuarial Accrued Liability 9/30
Current Fund Balance
Surplus
TOTAL CSRS and FERS

COST METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS

$

6.8

$

6.5

$

8.4

Projected 2009

2008

2007

$ 276.4

$ 266.9

$ 252.0

Actuarial Accrued Liability 9/30
Current Fund Balance

273.6

264.4

(Unfunded)/Surplus

$ (2.8)

$ (2.5)

257.3
$

5.3

In June 2007, a $17.1 billion surplus attributed to the
CSRS plan as of September 30, 2006 was transferred to
the newly created PSRHBF.

NET PERIODIC COSTS
Information about the net periodic costs for the CSRS
and FERS pension plans, which is prepared by OPM, is
as follows:
Components of Net Periodic Costs as calculated by OPM
(9/30/08 latest actual data available)
(dollars in billions)
CSRS
Actuarial Liability as of October 1

Projected 2009

2008

$ 204.1

$ 196.9

0.5

0.5

(10.0)

(9.3)

12.5

12.0

—

4.0

$ 207.1

$ 204.1

Projected 2009

2008

$ 62.8

$ 55.1

3.4

3.1

+ Expected Contributions*
– Expected Benefit Disbursements
+ Interest Expense
+ Total Actuarial Loss during FY
Actuarial Liability as of September 30
FERS
Actuarial Liability as of October 1
+ Expected Contributions*
– Expected Benefit Disbursements

(0.9)

(0.8)

+ Interest Expense

4.0

3.6

+ Total Actuarial Loss during FY

—

1.8

Actuarial Liability as of September 30

$ 69.3

$ 62.8

Total Actuarial Liability as of September 30

$ 276.4

$ 266.9

* Expected contribution for CSRS consists of employee contributions only.
Expected contribution for FERS includes both employee and employer amounts.
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■ The actuarial cost method is Entry Age Normal.
■ Long-term economic assumptions are as follows:
●

Rate of inflation — 3.5%.

●

FERS COLA — 2.8%.

●

Annual general salary increases — 4.25%.

●

Interest rate — 6.25%.

●

The Postal Service is not required to make any
agency contributions to CSRS. Employees continue to contribute 7% of basic pay.

●

Postal Service contribution rate to FERS will not
change; contributions will continue at the current
rate of 11.2% of pay (the employee contribution
is 0.8% of pay) until October 1, 2010, when it will
change to the new rate of 11.5% of pay.

The OPM Board of Actuaries decided to incorporate an
assumption of future mortality improvement into the actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2007. This caused the
dynamic normal cost of CSRS to increase from 25.2% of
pay to 25.8% and the FERS normal cost to increase from
12.0% to 12.3%. It also caused an increase in the actuarial liabilities. This adjustment to the FERS normal cost
indicates that the percentage of base salary contributed
by the employer may need to increase further in the future.

COMPONENTS OF NET CHANGE IN
PLAN ASSETS

OPM estimates the contributions and benefit payments for
the next five years as follows:

The following table prepared by OPM shows the components of the net change in plan assets for the CSRS and
FERS programs.

Projection of CSRS and FERS Contributions and Benefit Payments*
as calculated by OPM
(dollars in billions)
CSRS

Analysis of Change in Pension Net Assets as calculated by OPM
(9/30/08 latest actual data available)

Contributions

Total Benefit
Payments

Contributions

Total Benefit
Payments

2009

$ 0.5

$ 10.0

$ 3.4

$ 0.9

2007

2010

0.5

10.7

3.7

1.1

$ 193.6

$ 207.9

2011

0.4

11.4

4.0

1.3

0.5

0.6

2012

0.4

12.0

4.4

1.5

(9.3)

(8.9)

2013

0.3

12.7

4.7

1.8

—

(17.1)

10.3

11.3

$ 195.1

$ 193.8

2008

2007

$ 63.5

$ 58.0

3.1

3.0

(0.8)

(0.7)

—

—

(dollars in billions)
CSRS Actual
Net Assets as of October 1*
+ Contributions
– Benefit Disbursements
– Transfer to Health Benefits Fund
+ Investment Income
Net Assets as of September 30
FERS Actual
Net Assets as of October 1
+ Contributions
– Benefit Disbursements
– Transfer to Health Benefits Fund
+ Investment Income

FERS

2008

3.5

3.2

Net Assets as of September 30

$ 69.3

$ 63.5

Total CSRS and FERS Net Assets as
of September 30

$ 264.4

$ 257.3

*OPM restated September 30, 2007, CSRS net assets from $193.8 to $193.6.

As stated previously, CSRDF is a single fund and does not
maintain separate accounts for individual agencies. The
actual securities of the CSRDF are not allocated separately to CSRS or FERS, or to Postal and non-Postal beneficiaries. The assets of the CSRDF are composed entirely of
special issue Treasury securities with maturities ranging up
to 15 years. The long-term securities bear interest rates
ranging from 3.25% to 7.00%, while the short-term securities bear interest rates ranging from 2.88% to 7.25%.
The assumed rates of return on the CSRS fund balance for
both 2008 and 2007 were 6.25% while the actual rates of
return were 5.45% and 5.63%, respectively. For the FERS
fund, the assumed rate of return for both 2008 and 2007
was 6.25%, while the actual rate of return was 5.42%
for both years. The projected rates of return on both the
CSRS and FERS fund balance for 2009 remain at 6.25%.

*Assumes total employee population remains constant.

HEALTH BENEFITS
Postal employees and retirees may participate in the Federal Employees Health Benefit Program (FEHBP), which
is administered by OPM. We account for our employee
and retiree health benefit costs as an expense in the period our contribution is due and payable to FEHBP. For
retiree health benefits we use multiemployer plan accounting rules in accordance with ASC 715 (formerly FAS 106,
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions).
The drivers of our active employee health care costs are the
number of employees electing coverage and the premium
costs of the plans they select. On average, the employees
of the Postal Service paid for 19% of the premium cost in
2009 and we paid the remainder. The employee percent
contribution was 18% in 2008 and 17% in 2007. Premiums
for each plan participating in FEHBP are determined annually by OPM. In September 2009, OPM announced average premium increases of 8.8% for calendar year 2010.
Previous increases were 7% in January 2009, 2% in 2008
and 1.8% in 2007. The low premium increases in 2007 and
2008 were the result of lower plan costs and the application of plan reserves to constrain premium increases.
Despite an average increase of 7% in FEHBP premiums
for 2009, employee migration to lower cost plans and a
declining workforce combined to lower total health benefit
costs. In 2009, health benefit expenses were $5,294 million, which were 7.4% of total operating expenses and a
decrease of $82 million from 2008. The 2008 expense of
$5,376 million was 6.9% of our total operating expenses
and a decrease of $25 million from 2007.
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RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS
Eligible postal employees, those with at least five consecutive years participation in the FEHBP immediately preceding retirement, are entitled to continue to participate
in FEHBP after retirement. As outlined in ASC 715, the
amount that is due to the PSRHBF in any given year, plus
our portion of the current premium expense, is recognized
as an expense when due.
P.L. 109-435 made several changes to the way we fund
and report our obligations for post-retirement health benefits. The law established the PSRHBF, directed OPM to
determine any Postal Service surplus in the CSRDF as of
September 30, 2006, and further directed that the surplus
be deposited into the PSRHBF by June 30, 2007. OPM
attributed to the Postal Service a surplus of $17.1 billion in
the CSRS fund as of September 30, 2006, and transferred
the funds as required on June 29, 2007.
P.L. 109-435 also required that we begin to fund the OPMdetermined obligation for retiree health benefits by paying into the PSRHBF the 2006 escrow resulting from P.L.
108-18 ($2.958 billion) and by making additional annual
payments ranging from $1.4 billion to $5.8 billion per year
through 2016. On October 1, 2009, P.L. 111-68 became
law and decreased our FY 2009 payment required under
the provisions of P.L. 109-435 by $4 billion — from $5.4
billion to $1.4 billion.
Although P.L. 109-435 dictates the funding requirements
through 2016, the amounts to be funded and the timing of
funding can be changed at any time with passage of a new
law or upon an amendment of existing law as passed by
Congress and signed into law by the President. After these
annual payments are complete, OPM will conduct an actuarial valuation and determine whether any further payments
into the fund are required. Beginning in 2017, the PSRHBF
will begin to pay our portion of the premium payments.

benefit premium expense, exclusive of the expense for the
PSRHBF, has increased every year. Retiree health benefits
premium expense increased 10.1% in 2009, 4.7% in 2008
and 5.4% in 2007. The number of Postal Service annuitants and survivors has grown to approximately 463,000
in 2009, compared to 452,000 in 2008 and 450,000 in
2007. The average monthly apportionment, the percentage of retiree premiums charged to the Postal Service,
has increased from 68.1% in 2007 to 69.9% in 2008 and
72.0% in 2009.
The following table shows the retiree health benefits expense for 2009, 2008 and 2007.
Retiree Health Benefits Expense
(dollars in millions)
2009
Employer Premium Expense
Transfer of 2006 Escrow to PSRHBF
P.L. 109-435 Scheduled Payment
Total Retiree Health Benefit Expenses

Under P.L. 109-435, OPM will continue to charge us for
our portion of the premiums for postal retirees currently
participating in FEHBP, and we will continue to expense
these payments as they become due until 2017. The major drivers of retiree health benefits premium costs are the
number of current participants on the rolls, the mix of plans
selected by retirees, the premium costs of those plans,
and the apportionment of premium costs to the federal
government for retiree service prior to 1971. Retiree health
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2008

2007

$ 1,807 $ 1,726

—

—

2,958

1,400

5,600

5,400

$ 3,390

$ 7,407 $ 10,084

PSRHBF
P.L. 109-435 requires that OPM provide, and that we report,
certain information concerning the obligations, costs and
funding status of the PSRHBF. The following table shows
the funded status and components of net periodic costs.
Postal Service Retiree Health Benefit Fund Funded Status and
Components of Net Periodic Costs as calculated by OPM *
(dollars in millions)
2009
Beginning Actuarial Liability at October 1

2008

$ 86,082 $ 80,786

– Actuarial Gain

(4,593)

(1,136)

+ Normal Costs

2,902

3,389

+ Interest @ 6.25%

5,093

4,977

3,402

7,230

Subtotal Net Periodic Costs

The 2009 payment to the PSRHBF was $1.4 billion while
payments in 2008 and 2007 were $5.6 billion and $5.4
billion, respectively. See Note 5, Subsequent Events, and
Note 10, Health Benefit Programs, in Notes to the Financial Statements, for further discussion of the accounting
treatment for P.L. 111-68.

$ 1,990

(2,012)

(1,934)

Actuarial Liability at September 30

– Premium Payments

87,472

86,082

– Fund Balance at September 30

(35,482)

(32,610)

Unfunded Obligations at September 30

$ 51,990 $ 53,472

* The 2009 medical inflation assumption was 8% as of the valuation date and grades
down to an ultimate value of 5.5%. The 2008 medical inflation assumption was 7%.

The OPM valuation of Post Retirement Health Liabilities
and Normal Costs was prepared in accordance with Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS)
No. 5. SFFAS 5 requires the use of the aggregate Entry
Age Normal actuarial cost method.

Demographic assumptions and an interest rate assumption of 6.25% are consistent with the pension valuation
assumptions, and decrements are based upon counts or
numbers rather than dollars.
The normal cost, which is on a per-participant basis, is
computed to increase annually by a constant medical inflation rate which is assumed to be 8% per annum as of
the valuation date and grade down to an ultimate value of
5.5%. Past year medical inflation is assumed to be 7%.
Normal costs are derived from the current FEHBP on-roll
population with an accrual period from entry into FEHBP
to assumed retirement. Entry into the FEHBP is generally
later than entry into the retirement systems.
The accrued liability is equal to the total liability less future
normal payments. The liabilities and normal costs that appear in the OPM financial statements used in agency reporting are based upon annuitant medical costs (including
administration costs) less annuitant premium payments.
The values used in these valuations are based upon the
same methodology and assumptions as for the financial
statements except the average government share of premium payments for annuitants is substituted for annuitant
medical costs less annuitant premium payments. This
amount is assumed to increase at 8% per annum as of
the valuation date and grade down to an ultimate value
of 5.5%. For current postal annuitants, this government
share of premium payments is adjusted to reflect the prorata share of civilian service to total service for which the
Postal Service is responsible. Postal annuitant counts include contracts for which the Postal Service makes no
payment. The pro-rata adjustment is made by applying
calculated factors based upon actual payments that vary
by age and Medicare status of the enrollments. For active
postal employees, the pro-rata share in retirement is assumed to be 93% of the total.
The following table shows the net assets of the PSRHBF.
Net Assets of Retiree Health Benefit Fund (as calculated by OPM)
(dollars in millions)
Beginning Balance at October 1

2009

2008

$ 32,610

$ 25,745

Contributions and Transfers

1,400

5,600

Earnings @ 4.5% and 4.8%, respectively

1,472

1,265

Net increase

2,872

6,865

$ 35,482

$ 32,610

Fund Balance at September 30

The assets of the PSRHBF are comprised entirely of special issue Treasury securities with maturities ranging up
to 15 years. The long-term securities bear interest rates
ranging from 3.25% to 5.0%, while the short-term securities have interest rates ranging from 3.13% to 5.0%. The
expected rate of return was 6.25% for both 2009 and

2008, while the actual rates of return were 4.5% for 2009
and 4.8% for 2008.
Because there are several areas of judgment involved in
calculating this obligation, estimates could vary widely
depending on the assumptions used. Utilizing the same
underlying data that was used in preparing the estimate in
the table above, the September 30, 2009, obligation could
range from $37 billion to $65 billion, solely by varying the
inflation rate by plus or minus 1%, while the 2008 unfunded obligation would range from $40 billion to $70 billion.
Projection of PSRHBF Contributions and Benefit Payments
(dollars in millions)
Contributions

Payments

2010

$ 5,500

$—

2011

5,500

—

2012

5,600

—

2013

5,600

—

2014

5,700

—

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
Postal employees are covered by the Federal Employees’
Compensation Act, administered by the Department of Labor’s Office of Workers’ Compensation Programs (OWCP),
which makes all decisions regarding injured workers’ eligibility for benefits. However, we pay the Department of
Labor (DOL) all workers’ compensation claims, as well as
an administrative fee, from postal funds.
We record as a liability the present value of all future payments we expect to make for those employees receiving
workers’ compensation. At the end of 2009, we estimate
our total liability for future workers’ compensation costs at
$10,133 million, an increase of $2,165 million, or 27.2%,
from 2008. In 2008, our liability increased $197 million,
or 2.5%, from 2007. Our workers’ compensation expense
was $2,223 million for 2009, $1,227 million for 2008 and
$880 million for 2007.
As discussed in Note 12, Workers’ Compensation, in the
Notes to the Financial Statements, $1,051 million of the
increase in the liability at September 30, 2009, results
from a change in the timing of the annual payment to DOL
for claims paid on our behalf. Beginning in 2009, we are
making the payment on the statutorily required deadline of
October 15, instead of September 15 as we had done in
previous years.
Beginning in Quarter III, 2009, we experienced a significant change in our discount and inflation rates used in our
liability estimate on a quarterly basis. The economic recession that began in December 2007 and corresponding
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response by the Federal Reserve have resulted in interest rates declining significantly. Accordingly, the projected
rates of return on various maturities of treasury securities,
which we use in discounting our workers’ compensation
model, have declined by 0.7% and 1.0% on compensation and medical liabilities, respectively, to 4.9% and 4.4%
from what was used in our estimation model at September 30, 2008. The projected return rates are especially low
for 2009 and 2010. While we believe these historically low
rates are only temporary, GAAP requires us to use discount rates based on the best available information at the
measurement date.
The impact of the changes in the discount and inflation
rates in 2009 increased our 2009 estimated liability and
expense by $718 million. The remaining increase in the
liability resulted from other routine changes in the annual
actuarial update, resulting from new compensation and
medical cases and the development of existing cases.
In 2008, we implemented an improved model for estimating
our liability for workers’ compensation, with the assistance of
an independent actuary. The revised model is similar to that
used in the independent actuarial valuation, which formed
the basis for the recorded liability in 2007. The revised model
combines four generally accepted actuarial valuation techniques to project future claim payments based upon currently open claims and past claim payment experience. In
addition, we refined our estimation in 2008 by taking a longer period of claim payment experience into consideration.
The cumulative impact of the changes in estimate reduced
our 2008 liability and expense by $154 million.
In 2009, we experienced a 1.4% decrease in the number of medical claims receiving payments and a 3.2% increase in the number of compensation claims receiving
payments. The actual claim payments increased $78 million, or 8.1%, over 2008. Medical claims payments during
the year grew by 9.8%.
In 2008, we experienced a 1.5% increase in the number of
medical claims receiving payments and a 3.8% increase in
the number of compensation claims receiving payments.
The actual claim payments increased $56 million, or 6.2%
over 2007. Medical claims payments during the year grew
by 8.9%.

Transportation Expenses
(dollars in millions)
Highway Transportation
Air Transportation
Other Transportation
Total Transportation Expenses

2009

2008

2007

$ 3,044

$ 3,499

$ 3,150

2,626

3,047

2,990

356

415

362

$ 6,026

$ 6,961

$ 6,502

Highway Transportation
Highway transportation expenses for 2009 were $3,044
million, a decrease of $455 million, or 13.0%, from 2008.
The decrease was the result of lower fuel prices, lower
volume and certain reductions in contract pricing. Diesel
fuel, which makes up 93% of the fuel purchased for highway contracts, cost an average of $2.52 per gallon during
2009 versus $3.87 per gallon during 2008, a decrease of
34.9%. Gasoline prices decreased 33.4% in 2009 compared to 2008. Although fuel costs are only a portion of
total transportation expenses, the sharp decrease in fuel
prices from last year’s record highs significantly contributed to lower highway transportation expenses.
Mail volume reductions and contract adjustments made
during 2009 contributed to an overall reduction in contracted miles driven of 1.3 million miles, or 0.8%. The reduction was realized despite a short-term increase in miles
driven since June 2009, primarily due to the startup of the
Network Distribution Center (NDC) project. The project
will transform existing Bulk Mail Centers into NDCs, which
will improve the flow of mail into the network, consolidate
package distribution and improve transportation utilization. In 2010, we expect contracted miles driven to continue to decrease as a result of full implementation of the
NDC project.
Highway transportation expenses for 2008 were $3,499
million, an increase of $349 million, or 11.1%, compared
to 2007. The 2008 increase was caused by higher fuel
prices, contract labor rates and contract CPI rate increases. In addition, some mail that was previously transported
via air was moved to surface transportation during the
year. In 2008, the average price of gasoline increased approximately 30.4% compared to 2007. Diesel fuel cost an
average of $3.87 per gallon in 2008, compared to $2.70
per gallon in 2007, an increase of 43.3%.

TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES

Air Transportation

Transportation expenses for 2009 were $6,026 million, a
decrease of $935 million, or 13.4%, compared to 2008.
Compared to 2007, 2008 transportation expenses increased $459 million, or 7.1%. Transportation costs are
largely made up of air and highway transportation.

Air transportation expenses of $2,626 million in 2009 decreased by $421 million, or 13.8%, from last year. Domestic air expense decreased $322 million, or 13.8%, compared to last year. Lower fuel prices saved $186 million
in expenses, while lower mail volumes drove most of the
remaining expense reduction.
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For 2009, international air expense decreased $99 million,
largely due to lower volumes and a decrease in foreign
postal transactions fees compared to last year.
Air transportation expenses for 2008 were $3,047 million,
an increase of $57 million, or 1.9%, compared to 2007.
Domestic air transportation expenses for 2008 were
$2,336 million, a decrease of $57 million, or 2.4%, compared to 2007. International air expenses increased $114
million, primarily due to the shift from surface to air delivery
resulting from the elimination of the Global Economy service offering.

Other Transportation
Other transportation costs for 2009 were $356 million,
which was $59 million, or 14.2%, lower than 2008. The
decrease in mail volume reduced rail transportation costs
by $30 million compared to 2008. Terminal dues settlements, the fees we pay to foreign postal administrations
for the outbound international mail that they deliver for us,
decreased $27 million compared to the prior year.
Other transportation expenses for 2008 were $415 million, an increase of $53 million, or 14.6%, mainly driven by
an increased number of international terminal dues settlements to foreign postal administrations compared to 2007.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
For 2009, other operating expenses of $9,260 million, decreased $525 million, or 5.4%, compared to 2008. This reduction was driven by a decrease in Supplies and Services
of $276 million, or 10.6%, as a result of stringent cost cutting initiatives. Vehicle Maintenance Service expenses fell by
$166 million, or 17.9%, mainly as a result of lower fuel costs.
Other Operating Expenses
(dollars in millions)
2009

2008

2007

$ 2,321

$ 2,597

$ 2,594

Depreciation and Amortization

2,270

2,319

2,152

Rent and Utilities

1,778

1,779

1,700

Vehicle Maintenance Service

760

926

760

Information Technology
and Communications

722

658

630

Supplies and Services

Rural Carrier Equipment
Maintenance Allowance

510

545

495

Other

899

961

1,002

$ 9,260

$ 9,785

$ 9,333

Total Other Operating Expenses

Depreciation and Amortization expenses were $49 million,
or 2.1%, lower based on reductions in the purchase of mail
processing, customer service and postal support equipment. Other expenses, which included travel, were $62 million, or 6.5%, less than last year. Travel expenses were reduced by 40% as a result of stringent cost cutting initiatives.
The only area of increase in this category was Information Technology and Communications at $64 million. The
increased expense was mainly for upgrades of IT systems
and voice communication services.
In 2008, other operating expenses of $9,785 million increased $452 million, or 4.8%, from the comparable 2007
amount. The increase was primarily driven by Depreciation
and Vehicle Maintenance Services. Vehicle Maintenance
Services, which includes the fuel used by our carrier fleet
increased by $166 million. Depreciation and amortization
expense increased $167 million, compared to 2007, as a
number of equipment projects were completed during the
last half of 2007 and the early part of 2008.

PRODUCTIVITY
We use a single indicator called total factor productivity
(TFP) to measure productivity. TFP measures the change
in the relationship between outputs (workload processed)
and inputs (resource usage). Workload consists of weighted mail volume, miscellaneous output and our expanding
delivery network. Resources consist of labor, materials (including transportation) and deployed capital assets. Workload minus resources used equals TFP.
During 2009, TFP declined 0.9%. This marks the second
consecutive year that the Postal Service registered a decline in annual TFP. Prior to 2008, the Postal Service had
eight straight years of TFP growth. In spite of a record reduction of 115 million workhours, efforts to utilize material such as supplies and services efficiently, and efforts
to maximize the return on capital investments, mainly automation, we were unable to completely offset the 12.7%
drop in mail volume resulting from the poor condition of
the economy.
Aggregate workload for 2009 declined 8.3%. This was
mainly due to a sharp decline in weighted mail volume,
driven by the 10.5% decline in First-Class single-piece
mail volume. In response to the workload decrease, we
reduced resource usage 7.4% compared to last year. Labor usage, in particular, fell 7.9%.
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During 2008, TFP declined 0.5%, the first year since 1999
that the Postal Service registered a decline in annual TFP.
Despite efforts to manage workforce utilization (reduction
of 50 million workhours), utilize material such as supplies
and services efficiently, and maximize the return on capital investments (mainly automation), the worsening conditions across most sectors of the U.S. economy during this
fiscal year, resulted in a 4.5% decline in mail volume, which
we were unable to completely offset.
The following graph shows the cumulative TFP trend from
1972 through 2009.

Customer Satisfaction Measurement
(percentage)
95 %

94%
94 %

93%

93%

93%

93%

93 %

92%

92%

92%

92 %

Average Annual Growth
91 %
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CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
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Capital Investments

5
0
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Average Annual Growth 0.3% (1972–1999)
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SERVICE AND PERFORMANCE
The Postal Service has measured service performance
from the customer perspective since the early 1990s. This
type of measurement sets the stage for continuous improvement through increased focus on performance and
the monitoring of transparent results. Through consultation with the Postal Regulatory Commission, we have developed and implemented new service standards and requirements for new or expanded measurement processes
for mailing services. The service performance information
and results are available at www.usps.com.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION
MEASUREMENT (CSM)
CSM is an independently administered survey of customer
opinions about key areas of service to residential customers. The following table displays the residential satisfaction
results for the last eight quarters.
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At the beginning of 2009, there were 27 major projects in
progress (i.e., greater than $25 million), representing $5.9
billion in approved capital funding. During the year, three
new projects were approved, which totaled $0.2 billion in
additional capital funding. A total of 10 projects representing $1.6 billion in approved capital funding were completed. The year ended with 20 open projects that amount to
$4.5 billion in approved capital.
While the funding for a project is authorized in one year,
the commitment or contract to purchase or build may take
place over several years. By year-end, approximately $3.8
billion had been committed to these 20 open projects.
Actual capital cash outlays will occur over several years.
Through the end of 2009, approximately $2.8 billion has
been paid for the 20 projects.
As of September 30, 2009, all capital commitments (including the 20 projects mentioned above), consisting of
building improvements, equipment and vehicle projects,
were $1.8 billion. These projects will be funded by borrowings from the Federal Financing Bank. See Note 8, Leases
and Other Commitments, in the Notes to the Financial
Statements, for additional information.

At the beginning of 2008, there were 30 projects in progress, representing $6.8 billion in approved capital funding.
During the year, 11 new projects were approved, which
totaled $0.9 billion in additional capital funding. A total of
14 projects representing $1.8 billion in approved capital
funding were completed. The year ended with 27 open
projects that amount to $5.9 billion in approved capital.

Liquidity
Liquidity is the cash we have with the U.S. Treasury and
the amount of money we can borrow on short notice if
needed. Our note purchase agreement with the Federal
Financing Bank (FFB) provides for revolving credit lines of
$4.0 billion. These credit lines enable us to draw up to
$3.4 billion with two days notice, and up to $600 million
on the same business day the funds are needed. Under
this agreement, we can also use a series of other notes
with varying provisions to draw upon with two days notice. This arrangement provides us the flexibility to borrow
short-term or long-term, using fixed- or floating-rate debt
that is either callable or noncallable. Under normal circumstances, these arrangements with the FFB provide adequate tools to effectively fund our cash requirements and
manage interest expense and risk. See Note 6, Debt and
Related Interest, in the Notes to the Financial Statements,
for additional information about our debt obligations.
The majority of revenue is earned in cash and the majority
of cash outflow is to support the biweekly payroll. Historically, cash flow from operations reaches a seasonal peak
in the first quarter and a seasonal low in the fourth quarter
of our fiscal year. The first quarter includes the fall mailing and holiday seasons. Going forward, the shift in the
workers’ compensation payment into the first quarter from
the fourth quarter will mostly offset the strong incoming
cash flow from seasonal revenues. In the fourth quarter we
make a significant cash payment for retiree health benefits
to fund the PSRHBF, scheduled to be $5.5 billion in 2010.
Cash flows for the fourth quarter are projected to remain at
seasonal lows as revenue remains lower relative to the other quarters and the retiree health benefit payment is made.

Liquidity Challenges
The Postal Service incurred net losses of $3,794 million,
$2,806 million and $5,142 million for the years ended September 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. A significant portion of the loss in 2009 is attributed to an unprecedented third consecutive annual decline in mail volume,
which fell by 25.6 billion pieces, resulting in a $6,842 million, or 9.1%, decrease in revenue, compared to 2008.
Also contributing to the losses over these three years were
significantly higher retiree health benefit costs pursuant to

P.L. 109-435 and its requirement to fund the newly created PSRHBF, COLAs and record fuel prices for a substantial period in 2008.
We experienced negative cash flow from operations in
two of the past three years and would have also had a
negative cash flow from operations in 2009 had it not been
for the enactment of P.L. 111-68, which decreased our
2009 retiree health benefit payment from $5.4 billion to
$1.4 billion. During those three years, cash flow from operations included payments into the PSRHBF of $1.4 billion in 2009, $5.6 billion in 2008 and $5.4 billion in 2007.
We have maintained liquidity during these years through a
series of cost reduction initiatives and increased borrowing. In addition, in 2009, we shifted our annual workers’
compensation payment to October, a payment that in
the past was paid in September. Our debt outstanding at
September 30, 2009 was $10.2 billion and our annual net
increase in debt remains limited by statute to $3 billion,
effectively limiting our debt outstanding to $13.2 billion for
2010. Total outstanding debt is limited to $15 billion which
we expect to reach in 2011.
The impacts of the severe recession, the annual PSRHBF
payment and record September 2008 COLA have contributed to significant losses in the last three years and have
placed unprecedented strains on cash flow. We experienced a net loss of $3.8 billion in 2009. Had P.L. 111-68
not provided a $4 billion decrease in our 2009 payment
requirement, we would have come extremely close to a
cash shortfall at September 30, 2009. In 2010, revenue is
expected to continue to decrease, as declining volumes
will not be offset by price increases for most services, and
we expect our liquidity challenge to continue.
We believe that our liquidity and cash flows will cover
operation through most of 2010, but we remain highly
uncertain regarding the availability of cash in an amount
that is sufficient to fund our required $5.5 billion PSRHBF
payment on September 30, 2010. If sufficient cash is not
available, we will not be able to make the full payment.
The legal and/or regulatory consequences of failing to
make the required PSRHBF payment cannot be known
with certainty. We will continue to inform the Congress on
our financial outlook and on legislative changes that would
help ensure the availability of cash at September 30, 2010.
However, there can be no assurance that adjustments to
the PSRHBF payment schedule will be granted by September 30, 2010, or at all.
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Actions Taken
As described in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and
updated here, the Postal Service has taken a number of
actions to reduce cash outflows and increase cash inflows.
In 2009, the Postal Service achieved $6.1 billion in cost
savings, including a reduction of 115 million workhours.
This is in addition to the $2.2 billion in cost reductions
achieved in 2008, when we reduced workhours by 50 million. We have targeted the elimination of approximately 90
million additional workhours in 2010.
Working with the National Association of Letter Carriers,
we reached an agreement that established a new process
for evaluating and adjusting city delivery routes, resulting
in a quickly implemented procedure to reflect workload reduction. The accelerated route adjustment process covers
all city delivery routes and is being implemented during calendar year 2009. Ultimately, it involved two separate evaluations of approximately 150,000 city delivery routes and
will help to achieve workhour reduction targets in 2010.
We reduced the authorized staffing complement at national headquarters by 15% and are taking similar actions in
the field, having closed six district offices and one area office. The authorized complement at area offices has been
reduced by 19%. In August 2009, we offered incentives to
union employees represented by the APWU and NPMHU
to retire or resign. As of September 30, we had approximately 13,400 employees accept the offer. By October
31, that number had grown to 20,150. Net savings are
expected to be approximately $500 million in 2010. Other
cost-containment efforts include freezing the 2009 salaries
of all Postal Service officers and executives at 2008 pay
levels and reducing travel spending by 40%.
We are also continuing to pursue efforts to consolidate
excess capacity in mail-processing and transportation
networks without adversely impacting service. This will allow us to maximize operational efficiency and capitalize
on the economies of scale associated with advances in
automated mail processing. In addition, we have placed a
halt on the construction of most new facilities. The limited
facilities funds that are now available are being directed
only to those sites with the most critical needs.
In Quarter II, 2009, the Postal Service initiated an effort
to reduce the cost of existing contracts for supplies and
services. The initiative targeted over 500 existing contracts
for renegotiations that will deliver both short- and longterm cost reductions in the areas of price, scope and process improvements. Through the end of 2009, we have
achieved approximately $475 million in savings from this
initiative and we expect another $650 million by the end
of 2011.
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We have also taken steps to build our business. We realigned our product management organizational structure
in 2008, creating a new Mailing and Shipping Services division that will help bring new products to market more
quickly and effectively. We also created a dedicated sales
force to exclusively promote expedited shipping services.
We have created a number of price and volume incentives to promote volume growth from large and medium
shippers. These include an incentive program for saturation mailers and a summer sale for Standard Mail that was
in from effect July 1 through September 30, 2009. In May
2009, we launched a new national advertising campaign
promoting the value of our Priority Mail Flat Rate boxes. The
campaign is successfully creating product awareness and
stimulating new business, as indicted by the strong Priority
Mail revenues and volumes, relative to our other services.
In 2009, we requested that Congress consider two changes to the laws governing the Postal Service. First, we asked
to restructure our payments for retiree health benefits. The
result was P.L. 111-68 which reduced our 2009 payment
to the PSRHBF by $4 billion but did not address our longer
term PSRHBF payment schedule.
Second, we asked Congress for the flexibility to suspend
the six days per week delivery requirement, in order to
better match our network and fixed costs to current and
expected volumes. This flexibility would allow us to continue to deliver high quality service at affordable prices to
the American public, while regaining financial stability and
positioning ourselves for the future. Specifically, we have
requested that Congress remove the annual appropriation
bill rider, first added in 1983, that effectively requires the
Postal Service to deliver mail six days each week. No savings are anticipated for 2010 from the proposed ability to
adjust the six-day delivery requirement, if granted. Multiple
operational, contractual and customer issues would need
to be resolved before actual implementation of a five-day
delivery schedule. However, such important new flexibility
would provide significant cost savings opportunities, beginning as early as 2011.
Since P.L. 111-68 did not address the longer term issues of
scheduled PSRHBF payments beyond 2009 or the six-day
delivery requirement, we will continue to update Congress
on these ongoing management and liquidity challenges.
Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet obligations is substantially dependent on the speed and strength
of the economic recovery, and our ability to execute strategies to increase efficiency, reduce costs and generate revenue. If granted, the increased flexibility from Congress,
discussed above, would allow us to reduce costs beginning in 2011, and improve our cash position without significantly diminishing service to customers. However, no

assurance can be given that our efforts will be successful
or that Congress will enact additional legislation in time to
impact 2010, or at all.

CASH FLOW

In light of the above issues, in July 2009 GAO listed the
Postal Service as one of its “high risk” government agencies. In its report, Restructuring the U.S. Postal Service to
Achieve Financial Viability, GAO cited our mounting losses,
increasing debt levels and inability to cut costs fast enough
to offset the accelerated decline in mail volume and revenue. To achieve financial viability, GAO suggests that the
Postal Service develop and implement a broad restructuring plan which includes many of the initiatives mentioned
above. GAO suggests the following:

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1.6 billion
in 2009, compared to $0.4 billion used in 2008, a year-toyear increase of cash provided by operations of $2.0 billion
despite a drop in revenue of $6.8 billion. The 2009 net loss
increased $1.0 billion over the prior year. The increased
cash was driven mainly by the decrease of $4 billion in
retiree health benefits expense and payment resulting from
P.L.111-68 and a $2.1 billion increase in workers’ compensation liability ($1.1 billion of which is from deferring the
cash payment from September to October).

■ Reduce compensation and benefit costs through

■ Change funding requirements for retiree health benefits.

Net cash used in operating activities was $0.4 billion in
2008 compared to $2.6 billion used by operating activities
in 2007. The year-to-year change of $2.2 billion was driven
mainly by the reduction in the net loss of $2.3 billion. This,
in turn, was largely due to the absence in 2008 of the onetime transfer of $3.0 billion formerly held in escrow to the
PSRHBF in 2007.

■ Realign delivery services with changing use of mail.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

retirements and lower benefit costs.
■ Consolidate retail and processing networks.
■ Consolidate field structure.
■ Generate revenue through new or enhanced products.

GAO also notes that many of these initiatives require Congressional support.
The following table illustrates our scheduled cash flow obligations in future years, including payments under revolving credit lines.
Schedule of Cash Flow Obligations
(dollars in millions)

Payments Due
2011–
2012

2010
Notes Payable
Interest Payments
Capital Lease
Obligations
Operating Lease
Obligations
Retiree Health
Benefits (PSRHBF)
Total

$ 3,675

$

—

$

2013–
2014

After
2014

Total

300

$ 6,225

$ 10,200

153

306

303

1,585

2,347

99

196

180

441

916

762

1,348

1,097

4,339

7,546

5,500

11,100

11,300

11,500

39,400

$ 10,189

$ 12,950

$ 13,180

$ 24,090

$ 60,409

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash used by investing activities in 2009 was $1.8 billion, compared to $1.9 billion in 2008. Purchases of property and equipment of $1.8 billion decreased $156 million
from the $2.0 billion purchased in 2008. Proceeds from
building sales and the sale of property and equipment totaled $33 million in 2009, compared to $57 million in 2008.
Net cash used by investing activities was $1.9 billion in
2008, compared to $500 million provided in 2007. Purchases of property and equipment of $2.0 billion decreased $700 million from the $2.7 billion purchased in
2007. Proceeds from building sales and the sale of property and equipment totaled $57 million in 2008, compared
to $257 million in 2007. The remainder of the change was
due to the absence in 2008 of the one-time 2007 transfer
of funds from the escrow restricted cash into operating
cash. Excluding this one-time item, cash used by investing activities would have decreased $520 million in 2008.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $2.9 billion in
2009, and $2.9 billion and $2.0 billion for 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Borrowings from the Federal Financing Bank
increased by $3.0 billion, $3.0 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively, in those years.
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

favorable rates and they represent a prudent restructuring
of our debt portfolio. In 2008 and 2007, with less debt to
repay and more cash on hand throughout the year, interest
expense totaled $36 million and $10 million respectively.

Debt
As an “independent establishment of the executive branch
of the Government of the United States,” we receive no
tax dollars for ongoing operations. We are self-supporting,
and have not received an appropriation for operational
costs since 1982. We fund operations chiefly through
cash generated from operations and by borrowing from
the Federal Financing Bank.
The amount we borrow is largely determined by three major factors: (1) the difference between cash flow from operations (which in 2009 included the end-of-year payout of
$1.4 billion to the PSRHBF); (2) capital cash outlays, which
consist of funds invested for new facilities, new automation
equipment and new services; and (3) the statutory annual
borrowing limit of $3 billion. For 2011 and beyond, an additional determinant will be our total statutory debt ceiling of
$15 billion. On September 30, 2009, we had $10.2 billion
in debt outstanding, a $3.0 billion increase from last year.
Debt at Year End
(dollars in billions)
$ 12

INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME
When we determine that our available funds exceed our
current needs, we invest those funds with the U.S. Treasury’s Bureau of Public Debt in overnight securities issued
by the U.S. Treasury. In 2009, due to net losses sustained
during the year, historically low interest rates and increased
levels of debt, investment income was only $1 million.
In 2008 and 2007, with less debt to repay, and higher cash
on hand in 2007, we earned investment income of $10
million and $169 million, respectively.
We also recognize imputed interest on the funds owed to
us under the Revenue Forgone Reform Act of 1993. Under
the Act, Congress agreed to reimburse the Postal Service
$29 million annually through 2035 for services performed
in prior years. See Note 14, Revenue Forgone, in the Notes
to the Financial Statements, for additional information.
Interest and Investment Income
(dollars in millions)

$ 10

$ 10.2
Investment Income
Imputed interest on accounts receivable
from the U.S. government

$8

$ 7.2

Other Interest

$6

$4

Total

2007

2008

2007

$ 1

$ 10

$ 169

24

25

25

1

1

1

$ 26

$ 36

$ 195

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

$ 4.2

$2

$0

2009

2008

2009

INTEREST EXPENSE
In 2009, interest expense was $80 million, an increase of
$44 million compared to 2008. The net loss of $3,794 million in 2009 led to higher debt balances compared to 2008.
This combined with the addition of long-term fixed rate
debt for the first time since 2002, produced the increase
in interest expense. Although the long-term debt carries
higher interest rates than prevailing rates for short-term
debt, the long-term obligations were issued at historically
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As required by ASC 820 (formerly FAS 157, Fair Value
Measurements), in 2009 we made certain fair value disclosures. We did not have any recognized gains as a result
of valuation measurements in 2009. All recognized losses
have been incorporated into our 2009 financial statements
and the unrecognized gains and losses are not considered to have a significant impact upon our operations. See
Note 13, Fair Value Measurements, in the Notes to the
Financial Statements, for additional information.

LEGISLATIVE UPDATE

Sick Leave Credit for FERS Employees

Appropriations

Provisions that would give FERS employees credit for unused sick leave when computing their retirement annuity
were included in Public Law 111-84, the Fiscal 2010 Defense Authorization Act, signed by the President on October 28, 2009. The provision will be phased in over four
years. FERS employees who retire between the date of
the law’s enactment (October 28, 2009) and December
31, 2013, will receive a 50 percent credit for their unused
sick leave. FERS employees who retire on or after January
1, 2014, will receive full credit for their unused sick leave.
OPM will calculate any change in the Postal Service’s
unfunded liability or surplus in the CSRDF. The law may
necessitate higher retirement contribution rates for FERS
employees in the future. There will be no change to the
FERS retirement rate contribution in 2010.

The Postal Service is self-funded and does not receive an
appropriation from Congress for its operations. However,
the Postal Service has received limited appropriations as
reimbursement for unfunded services that are statutorily mandated. On March 11, 2009, the omnibus appropriations legislation became P.L. 111-8, granting funding
for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2009. For the
Postal Service, this law provided approximately $112 million, which included $29 million for repayment of revenue
forgone that had been unfunded in prior years. The law
also stated that $83 million of the appropriation (not made
available until October 1, 2009) was given to fund statutorily required services for free mail for the blind and overseas voters. Also contained in the law was the requirement that the Postal Service continue to maintain six-day
delivery service.

Retiree Health Benefits
On October 1, 2009, the President signed P.L. 111-68,
which included a continuing resolution provision that reduced the scheduled $5.4 billion retiree health benefit payment due from the Postal Service on September 30, 2009
to $1.4 billion. For more information, see Note 5, Subsequent Events, in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Fuel-Efficient Vehicles
On June 1, 2009, the General Services Administration
(GSA) made a $210 million purchase of new vehicles
from Chrysler, Ford and General Motors using a portion
of the funds provided to GSA in the American Recovery
and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (P.L. 111-5). Part of this
GSA purchase benefited the Postal Service by allowing it
to replace over 6,500 vehicles from its current fleet with
more fuel-efficient models. Of that number, 1,000 of the
new vehicles were E-85 ethanol-capable and 900 were
hybrids. The other 4,600 were conventional cars powered
by four-cylinder gasoline-powered engines. Each new vehicle had a higher miles-per-gallon rating than the one it
replaced. The excess of the fair value of the new vehicles
over the fair value of the vehicles surrendered was treated
as a capital contribution of the U.S. government on our
balance sheet. The first 3,424 vehicles received in 2009
had a fair market value of approximately $57 million, replacing vehicles with a book value of $4 million.

OUTLOOK
The financial outlook for the Postal Service is closely linked
to the outlook for the U.S. economy. In the past two years,
the American economy experienced its worst economic
downturn since the Great Depression and mail volumes
fell precipitously. Looking ahead, there are expectations for
a gradual economic recovery in 2010. Although the Commerce Department recently reported that Quarter IV GDP
rose at an annualized rate of 3.5%, compared to Quarter III, year-over-year growth was still negative. IHS Global
Insight, an economic and forecasting consulting firm, is
forecasting positive year-over-year growth in the economy
as measured by real GDP beginning in our second quarter
of 2010. This forecast projects very weak GDP growth for
all of 2010.
Mail volume, however, is weakly correlated with GDP.
Trends in employment, investment expenditures, and retail
sales are better indicators of mail volume trends. Weak
growth in investment and retail sales is predicted for 2010.
Recovery in employment is expected to lag the broader
economic recovery, just as it did in the recession of 2001.
In the longer term, economic growth as measured by
all these statistics is expected to continue but at growth
rates below those of the late 1990s. The slower long-term
growth trend is expected to suppress long-term growth in
mail volumes.
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Revenue Outlook
Although the economy is primarily responsible for the current revenue and volume decrease, electronic diversion
presents an on-going, long-term challenge.
First-Class and Standard Mail comprise 94% of total mail
volume. First-Class Mail volume is expected to decline
slightly, while Standard Mail is expected to regain only
slowly its former volume. Total mail volume is expected to
show steady growth beginning in 2011 as the economy
continues to recover, but may never return to the peak
2006 levels.
For 2010, we project revenue to decrease between 4%
and 6% on a volume decrease of 6% to 9%. It is possible
that revenues and volumes could decrease more than projected. Revenue is expected to outperform volume due
primarily to recently announced Shipping Services price
increases and the residual effect of the 2009 price increases. Mailing Services prices will not increase in 2010.
First-Class Mail volume is expected to decline during
2010. When employment, consumer spending and capital
investment recover, growing use of the Internet and other
electronic means of communication will continue to suppress mail volume growth rates. First-Class single-piece
letters have been in decline for more than a decade and
are expected to continue to decline in both the short- and
long-term. Presorted First-Class letters are expected to
grow as economic growth returns.
We estimate that Standard Mail will have fallen by 25% by
the time the effects of the recession have receded. The
ten-year outlook post-recession is more positive; however,
it may be a full decade before Standard Mail volume again
attains 2007 levels (if at all), with the strongest growth rates
forecast to occur in 2012 and 2013. For 2010, Standard
Mail revenue and volume are expected to decline. The decline in both revenue and volume is expected to continue
through the first half of 2010, with marginal growth in the
second half of the year.
Periodicals revenue and volume are both projected to decrease modestly in 2010. While the declines in Periodicals
are not as dramatic as some other mail categories, they
are part of a long-term trend.
Both volume and revenue are expected to be relatively flat
in 2010 for Package Services.
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Shipping Services revenues and volumes are expected
to increase slightly in 2010. An average price increase of
3.3% was announced on November 3, 2009. This entire
group is influenced by competitors’ prices, which may include fuel surcharges. P.L. 109-435 has provided an opportunity for greater competition by the Postal Service in
this market.

Expense Outlook
Total expenses for 2010, excluding retiree health benefits,
are expected to decrease approximately 4% as planned
cost reductions outweigh the impact of contractual and
expected wage and benefit increases.
We plan to aggressively reduce costs wherever possible to
counter the effects of declining volume while maintaining
high levels of service. We are projecting more than $3.5
billion in cost savings including approximately 90 million in
workhour reductions across the organization in 2010. This
is expected to result from specific operational initiatives in
conjunction with expected cost savings from employee retirement incentives targeted to specific employee groups.
We do not anticipate any COLA-based raises in 2010, as
inflation is expected to remain below the levels that would
trigger such increases.
Bulk Mail Centers are being transformed into Network
Distribution Centers (NDC). The core principal of the NDC
concept is to fill containers and trucks as early in the network as possible and dispatch them as deep into the network as possible. Plant staffing optimization will continue
to contribute to operational savings in 2010 by aligning the
plant workforce to meet changing workload levels.
City Delivery operations are expected to generate savings
in FY 2010 from route adjustments made in 2009. Route
adjustments have resulted in over 11,500 fewer routes.
In 2010, we plan to save an estimated $500 million from
the departure of 20,150 employees that accepted the
special incentive offered in August 2009.
A continuing challenge that must be overcome in order
to achieve these savings will be our ability to reduce employee complement to fully capture the savings generated
by these initiatives.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Management is responsible for the preparation, integrity
and fair presentation of the financial statements of the
Postal Service.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in quarterly and annual reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time frames
specified by P.L. 109-435, and that this information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Postmaster General and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, we recognize that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, and we were required to apply
our judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of management, including the Postmaster General and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of disclosure controls
and procedures as of September 30, 2009. Based on the
foregoing, the Postmaster General and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as
of September 30, 2009.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
There have been no changes during the year covered by
this report in our internal control over financial reporting or
in other factors that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statements of Operations
(dollars in millions)
Years Ended September 30,
Operating revenue

2009

2008

2007

$ 68,090

$ 74,932

$ 74,778

Operating expenses:
Compensation and benefits

53,154

53,585

54,186

Retiree health benefits

3,390

7,407

10,084

Transportation

6,026

6,961

6,502

Other

9,260

9,785

9,333

Total operating expenses

71,830

77,738

80,105

Loss from operations

(3,740)

(2,806)

(5,327)

26

36

195

Interest and investment income
Interest expense
Net Loss

(80)

(36)

(10)

$ (3,794)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,142)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Balance Sheets — Assets
(dollars in millions)
September 30,
Assets

2009

2008

$ 4,089

$ 1,432

Foreign countries

526

450

U.S. government

150

133

Other

177

187

Receivables before allowances

853

770

29

41

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:

Less allowances
Total receivables, net

824

729

Supplies, advances and prepayments

138

193

5,051

2,354

Buildings

22,859

21,907

Equipment

20,970

21,544

2,995

2,968

Total Current Assets
Property and Equipment, at Cost:

Land
Leasehold improvements
Less allowances for depreciation and amortization
Construction in progress
Total Property and Equipment, Net
Other Assets — Principally Revenue Forgone Receivable
Total Assets
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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1,298

1,279

48,122

47,698

26,889

25,886

21,233

21,812

1,447

1,381

22,680

23,193

387

439

$ 28,118

$ 25,986

Balance Sheets — Liabilities and Net (Deficiency) Capital
(dollars in millions)
September 30,
Liabilities and Net (Deficiency) Capital

2009

2008

$ 3,673

$ 3,466

1,203

1,246

Foreign countries

470

435

U.S. government

207

85

Total payables and accrued expenses

1,880

1,766

Customer deposit accounts

1,347

1,449

Deferred revenue-prepaid postage

2,445

1,689

Outstanding postal money orders

640

698

Prepaid box rent and other deferred revenue

461

461

Current Liabilities:
Compensation and benefits
Payables and accrued expenses:
Trade payables and accrued expenses

Debt

3,675

7,200

14,121

16,729

Workers' compensation costs

9,064

7,003

Employees' accumulated leave

Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities:

2,225

2,208

Deferred appropriation and other revenue

457

525

Long-term portion capital lease obligations

544

587

Deferred gains on sales of property

305

312

Contingent liabilities and other

290

294

6,525

—

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-term portion notes payable

19,410

10,929

Total Liabilities

33,531

27,658

3,087

3,034

Net (Deficiency) Capital
Capital contributions of the U.S. government
Deficit since 1971 reorganization
Total Net (Deficiency) Capital
Total Liabilities and Net (Deficiency) Capital

(8,500)

(4,706)

(5,413)

(1,672)

$ 28,118

$ 25,986

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Net (Deficiency) Capital
(dollars in millions)
Capital Contributions of
U.S. Government

Retained (Deficit) Earnings
Since Reorganization

Total Net (Deficiency) Capital

$ 3,034

$ 3,242

$ 6,276

—

(5,142)

(5,142)

3,034

(1,900)

1,134

—

(2,806)

(2,806)

Balance, September 30, 2008

3,034

(4,706)

(1,672)

Additional Capital Contributions

53

—

53

Balance, September 30, 2006
Net loss
Balance, September 30, 2007
Net loss

Net loss
Balance, September 30, 2009
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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—

(3,794)

(3,794)

$ 3,087

$ (8,500)

$ (5,413)

Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in millions)
Years Ended September 30,
Cash flows from operating activities:

2009

2008

2007

$ (3,794)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,142)

2,270

2,319

2,152

109

(16)

23

Decrease (increase) in appropriations receivable revenue forgone

52

(47)

2

Increase (decrease) in noncurrent workers’ compensation liability

Net Loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss (gain) on disposals of property and equipment and impairments, net

2,061

203

(69)

Increase in employees’ accumulated leave

17

79

13

Decrease in noncurrent deferred appropriations and other revenue

(4)

(5)

(7)

(Decrease) increase in other noncurrent liabilities

(4)

(167)

281

(95)

30

80

55

8

4
347

Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net
Supplies, advances and prepayments
Compensation and benefits

207

(105)

Payables and accrued expenses

113

(302)

(93)

(102)

(50)

(148)

Customer deposit accounts
Deferred revenue-prepaid postage

756

547

(45)

Outstanding postal money orders

(58)

(149)

(38)

Prepaid box rent and other deferred revenue
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(10)

22

37

1,573

(439)

(2,603)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Decrease in restricted cash

—

—

2,958

Purchase of property and equipment

(1,839)

(1,995)

(2,715)

Proceeds from deferred building sale

6

4

218

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

27

53

39

(1,806)

(1,938)

500

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of notes payable

7,000

4,500

1,000

Payments on notes payable

(4,500)

(1,000)

—

Net change in revolving credit line

500

(500)

1,100

Payments on capital lease obligations, net

(46)

(29)

(19)

U.S. government appropriations — expensed

(64)

(61)

(76)

2,890

2,910

2,005

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

2,657

533

(98)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

1,432

899

997

$ 4,089

$ 1,432

$

899

$

$

$

9

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Interest paid

43

37

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Nature of Operations
The United States Postal Service (“we” or “us”) provides
a variety of classes of mail service to the public, without
undue discrimination among our many customers. This
means that within each class of mail our price does not
unreasonably vary by customer for the levels of service
we provide. This fulfills our legal mandate to offer universal
service at a fair price. We conduct our operations primarily
in the domestic market, with international mail representing less than 4% of our total revenue.
Our services are divided into two broad categories: mailing services and shipping services, which account for 88%
and 12% of our revenue, respectively. First-Class Mail and
Standard Mail account for about 94% of our mail volume,
while Priority Mail and Express Mail represent significant
services we provide in our shipping category. The principal
markets for our services are the communications, distribution, delivery, advertising and retail markets. Our services
are sold and distributed through over 36,000 Post Offices,
stations, branches, contract postal units and a large network of consignees.
Our labor force is primarily represented by the American Postal Workers Union (APWU), National Association
of Letter Carriers (NALC), National Postal Mail Handlers
Union (NPMHU), and National Rural Letter Carriers Association (NRLCA). More than 85% of our career employees
are covered by collective bargaining agreements.
By law, we also consult with management organizations
representing most of the employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements. These consultations provide an opportunity for nonbargaining employees in the
field to participate directly in the planning, development
and implementation of programs and policies affecting
managerial employees in the field.

Postal Reorganization
We commenced operations on July 1, 1971, in accordance
with the provisions of the Postal Reorganization Act. We
are an “independent establishment of the executive branch
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of the Government of the United States.” Governing decisions are made by a Board of Governors, which consists
of nine members who are appointed by the President with
the advice and consent of the Senate; the Board of Governors also includes the Postmaster General and Deputy
Postmaster General.
The U.S. government-held equity in the former Post Office
Department (POD) became our initial capital, with its assets valued at original cost less accumulated depreciation.
The initial transfer of assets, including property, equipment
and cash, totaled $1.7 billion. Subsequent cash contributions and transfers of assets between 1972 and 1982
totaled approximately $1.3 billion. In 2009 we received
3,424 fuel- efficient vehicles provided to us under the
provisions of the American Reinvestment and Recovery
Act. The excess of the fair value of the vehicles received
over the vehicles traded-in was recorded as an additional
non-cash capital contribution of $53 million. Total capital
contributions of the U.S. government are $3.087 billion as
of September 30, 2009. Although the U.S. government
remains responsible for the liabilities attributable to operations of the Post Office Department (POD), the Balanced
Budget Act of 1997 transferred the liability for POD workers’ compensation costs to us.
The 2006 Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act,
Public Law 109-435 (P.L. 109-435), made further reforms
in the governance of the Postal Service. It also significantly
altered some of our financial responsibilities, particularly
with respect to the funding of Civil Service Retirement
System (CSRS) benefits and retiree health benefits. Public Law 111-68, Making appropriations for the Legislative
Branch for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2010,
and for other purposes (P.L. 111-68) amended P.L. 109435 by changing the required Postal Service payments to
the Postal Service Retiree Health Benefits Fund (PSRHBF)
for the year ended September 30, 2009 from $5.4 billion
to $1.4 billion. This law affected 2009 payments only. See
Note 10, Health Benefit Programs, and Note 11, Retirement Programs, in the Notes to the Financial Statements,
for additional information.

We enter into significant transactions with other U.S. government agencies, as disclosed throughout these financial statements.

NOTE 2 — LIQUIDITY MATTERS
The Postal Service incurred net losses of $3,794 million,
$2,806 million, and $5,142 million for the years ended
September 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007. A significant portion of the loss in 2009 is attributable to an unprecedented
decline in mail volume, which fell by 25.6 billion pieces,
resulting in a $6,842 million or 9.1% decrease in revenue
compared to 2008. Also contributing to the losses over
these three years were significantly higher retiree health
benefit costs pursuant to P.L. 109-435 and its requirement
to fund the newly created PSRHBF, contractually mandated Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs), and record fuel
prices for a substantial period in 2008.
The decline in mail volume is primarily a result of the widespread economic recession, although the long-term trend
of hard copy correspondence and transactions being diverted to electronic media continues and has somewhat
accelerated during the recession. Since peaking at 213 billion pieces in 2006, mail volume dropped 9.5 billion pieces
in 2008 and an additional 25.6 billion pieces to 177 billion
pieces in 2009. Volume is expected to drop a further 10-15
billion pieces in 2010 causing a revenue decline between
$2.5 billion and $3.5 billion. It is possible that volumes
and revenues could decrease at rates greater than these
projections. Despite the effects of price increases in 2008
and 2009, revenues declined in 2009 by almost $7 billion
compared to 2008. Revenue is expected to continue to
decrease into 2010, and even with substantial cost reductions, our 2010 net loss is projected to be over $7 billion.
We experienced negative cash flow from operations for
two of the past three years. In 2009, we reduced our
PSRHBF payment by $4 billion due to the passage of P.L.
111-68. Had this reduction not been enacted, cash flow
from operations would have been negative in 2009 as well.
P.L. 111-68 does not affect the required $5.5 billion payment due on September 30, 2010.
We believe that, while there are sufficient cash flows for
ongoing operations, there is considerable uncertainty as
to whether we will have sufficient cash on September 30,
2010 to fund our required $5.5 billion PSRHBF payment. If
we cannot fund this payment on Septembesr 30, 2010, we
will experience a cash shortfall. There is also uncertainty as
to what the legal and/or regulatory consequences would
be to the Postal Service if we cannot fund this PSRHBF
payment. We will continue to inform the Congress on our
financial outlook and on legislative changes that would help
ensure the availability of cash at year-end. However, there

can be no assurance that adjustments to the PSRHBF
payment schedule will be granted by September 30, 2010,
or at all.
We can fund some of our obligations through increased
debt. However, our annual net increase in debt is limited
by statute to $3 billion, and our total outstanding debt is
limited to $15 billion. We currently project net debt outstanding in 2010 to increase by $3 billion, but this may not
be sufficient to fund our 2010 PSRHBF obligation. Moreover, if significant losses continue in 2011, the overall $15
billion debt limitation will likely be insufficient.
To meet these challenges, the Postal Service has, and continues, to take a number of actions to increase efficiency,
reduce costs and generate new revenue. These actions
include the 115 million workhour reduction and freeze on
executive salaries in 2009, maximizing operational efficiencies, renegotiating contracts with major suppliers, halting
construction of most new facilities and initiating revenue
generation efforts utilizing the increased pricing flexibility
available under P.L. 109-435. Although each of these efforts is expected to positively impact cash flow in 2010,
they may not, individually, or in the aggregate, be sufficient
to offset a possible September 30, 2010 cash shortfall.
In 2009, we requested Congress to consider two changes
to the laws governing the Postal Service. First, we asked
to restructure our payments for retiree health benefits. We
also requested that Congress remove the annual appropriation bill rider, first added in 1983, that effectively requires
the Postal Service to deliver mail six days each week. No
savings are anticipated for 2010 from the proposed ability
to adjust the six-day delivery requirement, even if granted
sometime during 2010. Multiple operational, contractual
and customer issues would need to be resolved before
actual implementation of a five-day delivery schedule.
However, such important new flexibility could provide direct cost savings beginning in 2011.
As previously noted, the enactment of P.L. 111-68 did not
reduce the $5.5 billion payment required on September
30, 2010 or address our longer term issue with the unsustainably large PSRHBF payment schedule. We continue to
regularly update Congress regarding these financial issues.
Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet obligations is substantially dependent on the strength and
speed of the economic recovery and on our ability to execute strategies to increase efficiency, reduce costs and
retain and grow revenue. In addition, restructuring of the
PSRHBF payment schedule may be necessary. However,
no assurance can be given that our efforts will be successful or that Congress will enact additional legislation in 2010
in time to impact 2010, or at all.
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NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting and Use of Estimates
We conform to accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (GAAP) and maintain our accounting records and prepare financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting. Following these principles, we
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the Financial Statements and Notes. Actual results may differ from estimates.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts on outstanding receivables based on our collection history and
an estimate of uncollectible accounts.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
(dollars in millions)
Beginning Balance
Provision for Doubtful Accounts
Writeoffs

2009

2008

2007

$ 41

$ 44

$ 48

6

7

12

18

10

16

$ 29

$ 41

$ 44

Basis of Presentation

Ending Balance

These financial statements reflect the audited results of
operations of the United States Postal Service for the years
ended September 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and our financial position as of September 30, 2009 and 2008. All
references to years, unless otherwise stated, refer to our
fiscal year beginning October 1 and ending September 30.
All references to quarters, unless otherwise stated, refer to
quarters within fiscal years 2009 and 2008. We have evaluated all subsequent events through November 16, 2009,
the same date that the financial statements were issued.

Supplies and Repair Parts

Segment Information

We record property and equipment at cost, including interest paid on the money we borrow to pay for the construction of major capital additions. See Note 7, Property and
Equipment, in the Notes to the Financial Statements, for
additional information.

Although the law divides our services into market-dominant and competitive categories, and we track revenues
by category and mail class, we operate one fully integrated
network. We operate in one segment throughout the United States, its possessions and territories.

Reclassifications
Certain comparative prior year amounts related to fixed
assets and payables that are immaterial to the financial
statements and accompanying notes have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on previously reported operating income and net income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider securities that mature within 90 days or less
from the date that we buy them to be cash equivalents.
Included in cash and cash equivalents are funds designated to be used for law enforcement purposes and consumer awareness for fraud prevention. The amounts designated at the end of 2009 and 2008 were $126 million
and $122 million, respectively.
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Supplies and repair parts consist of repair parts for mail
processing equipment. We value these at average cost.
Total supplies and repair parts were $95 million at the end
of 2009 and $112 million at the end of 2008. A majority of
our motor vehicle spare parts are supplied through consignment agreements.

Property and Equipment

We depreciate buildings and equipment over their estimated useful lives, which range from 3 to 40 years, except
buildings with historic status, which are depreciated over
75 years, using the straight-line method.

Deferred Gains on Sales of Property
We account for deferred gains on sales of property under
the provisions of ASC 360 (formerly FAS 66, Accounting
for Sales of Real Estate). These gains will be recognized
and the assets will be removed from our accounting records once the leases and other continuing involvement in
the properties have expired.
The total amount of deferred gains recognized in income
was $11 million in 2009, $44 million in 2008 and was immaterial in 2007.

Impaired Assets
We record losses on long-lived assets when events or circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. To
meet our universal service requirement, we maintain real
estate and certain other assets that are not fully utilized. As

a result, we do not consider assets impaired solely based
on volume of activity. Assets are evaluated for impairment
when no longer required to provide mailing services. In
accordance with ASC 360 (formerly FAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets),
we write down impaired assets to the lower of cost or fair
value. If an asset is deemed impaired, fair value is determined by comparison to appraisals for real property. Due
to the absence of a market for most types of equipment,
impaired equipment assets are assigned a fair value of
zero. See Note 7, Property and Equipment, in the Notes to
the Financial Statements, for additional information.

Asset Retirement Obligations
We account for asset retirement obligations in accordance
with ASC 410 (formerly Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations). We accrue a liability for the estimated costs of a future legal obligation to perform a retirement activity on a certain population of our existing assets.
Accruals are recorded under “Noncurrent Liabilities, Contingent liabilities and other” on our balance sheets.

Amortization of Leasehold Improvements
We amortize leasehold improvements over the period of
the lease or the useful life of the improvement, whichever
is shorter.
Leasehold improvements that are placed in service after
the start of the lease term are amortized over the shorter
of the useful life of the asset or the remaining lease term,
including renewal options that are reasonably assured.

Foreign Currency Translation
We have foreign currency risk related to settlements with
foreign postal administrations for international mail. The
majority of our international accounts are denominated
in special drawing rights (SDRs). The SDR exchange rate
fluctuates daily based on a basket of currencies comprised
of the euro, Japanese yen, pound sterling, and the U.S.
dollar. Changes in the relative value of these currencies will
increase or decrease the value of our settlement accounts
and result in a gain or loss from revaluation that is reported
in the results from operations. The actual currency used to
settle accounts varies by country. The impacts on our financial statements from foreign currency fluctuations were
insignificant for 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Outstanding Postal Money Orders
We sell money orders to the general public at our retail
locations. We charge a fee to the customer at the time of
sale. The fee is recognized as revenue at the time of sale.
We recognize a liability for money orders we expect to be
presented for payment.

Revenue Recognition/Deferred RevenuePrepaid Postage
We recognize revenue when services are rendered. Because we collect payment in advance of services being
performed, we defer the revenue until the services are performed. This is classified as a liability, Deferred revenueprepaid postage, on our balance sheets. In Quarter III of
2008, we changed our methodology used to estimate the
deferred revenue for prepaid postage for stamps. We further refined this methodology in Quarter IV of 2009 to reflect additional information in customer usage patterns of
both Forever and denominated stamps demonstrated by
newly available data.
Both updates were made necessary because the introduction of the Forever Stamp in April 2007, combined
with the May 2008 price increase, resulted in a change in
consumer behavior regarding the purchase and usage of
stamps that was not directly measurable using the prior estimation techniques. In 2008, we enhanced our approach
that more accurately captured trends in stamp usage. In
2009, based on newly available data, we refined this estimation model to allow us to better estimate consumer
behavior patterns for the purchase and use of stamps. The
2008 change to an enhanced estimation technique and
the 2009 refinement are both considered to be changes in
accounting estimate under GAAP.
As required by ASC 250 (formerly FAS 154, Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections), the impacts of the changes were recorded in the Quarter which the estimations
were made: Quarter IV of 2009 and Quarter III of 2008.
For the year ended September 30, 2009, we increased the
stamp portion of the deferred revenue-prepaid postage liability by $846 million, $655 million of which is considered
a change in estimate that is attributable to changes in consumer behavior that were not identifiable based on data
available previously.
For the year ended September 30, 2008, we increased the
stamp portion of the deferred revenue-prepaid postage liability by $477 million, $230 million of which is considered
a cumulative change in estimate and $247 million of which
is attributable to changes in consumer behavior during the
last two quarters of the year.
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Advertising Expenses

Revenue Forgone Appropriation

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are classified in other operating expenses. Advertising expenses
were $105 million in 2009, $106 million in 2008 and $121
million in 2007.

Revenue Forgone is an appropriation from Congress which
covers the cost of providing mailing services to statutorily
designated groups at free or reduced rates. The amount
of expense estimated by the Postal Service is submitted
to Congress annually. Congress subsequently approves or
alters the amount and funds the necessary appropriation.
See Note 14, Revenue Forgone, in the Notes to the Financial Statements, for additional information.

Compensation and Benefits Payable
Compensation and benefits payable are the salaries and
benefits we owe to current and retired employees, including the amounts employees have earned but have not yet
been paid, current workers’ compensation, unemployment costs and health benefits.

Workers’ Compensation
We pay for workers’ compensation costs under a program
administered by the Department of Labor (DOL). These
costs include employees’ medical expenses, compensation for wages lost and DOL administrative fees. We
record these costs as an operating expense. See Note
12, Workers’ Compensation, in the Notes to the Financial
Statements, for additional information.

Emergency Preparedness Appropriation
Emergency preparedness appropriations were received
from Congress to help pay the costs of keeping the mail,
postal employees and postal customers safe, and are restricted for such use. These funds were accounted for as
deferred revenue upon receipt and were largely utilized
to procure capital equipment. We recognize revenue for
emergency preparedness appropriations at the same time
we recognize depreciation expense for capital equipment
purchased with these appropriations. The emergency preparedness appropriations revenue recognized during the
years ended September 30 was $64 million in 2009, $61
million in 2008 and $76 million in 2007.

Retiree Benefits
Our employees are eligible to participate in the federal government retirement programs, including pension and retiree health benefits. We are required to provide funding for
those plans as determined by the administrator of the plan,
the Office of Personnel Management (OPM). We cannot
direct the costs, benefits, or funding requirements of these
federally sponsored plans. In accordance with our parentsubsidiary type relationship with the federal government,
we account for our participation in these plans using multiemployer plan accounting rules in accordance with ASC
715 (formerly FAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pension
Costs, and formerly FAS 106, Employers’ Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions). We account for the cost of our employees’ participation in these
programs as an expense in the period our contribution
is due and payable. These amounts can fluctuate significantly from year to year if changes in funding requirements
are made. As more fully described in Note 5, Subsequent
Events, Note 10, Health Benefit Programs, and Note 11,
Retirement Programs, in the Notes to the Financial Statements. P.L.109-435 and P.L 111-68 significantly impacted
our costs associated with these programs.
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Appropriations that have not been recognized as revenue
during the years ended September 30 were $486 million
in 2009 and $550 million in 2008. The current portion is
included in prepaid box rent and other deferred revenue,
and the long-term portion is in deferred appropriations and
other revenue on our balance sheets.

NOTE 4 — RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS
New accounting rules and disclosure requirements can impact our results and the comparability of our financial statements. The following new accounting pronouncements are
relevant to the readers of our financial statements.
ASC 820 (formerly FAS 157, Fair Value Measurements)
We adopted ASC 820, which provides a common definition of fair value, establishes a uniform framework for measuring fair value and requires expanded disclosures about
fair value measurements in 2009. See Note 13, Fair Value
Measurements, for details. The adoption of ASC 820 did
not have a material impact on our financial statements.

ASC 855 (formerly FAS 165, Subsequent Events) We
adopted ASC 855 in Quarter III of 2009. ASC 855 establishes the accounting for and disclosure of events that
occur after the balance sheet date, but before financial
statements are issued or are available to be issued. It requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity
has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that
date, specifically, whether that date represents the date
the financial statements were issued or were available to
be issued. See Basis of Presentation in Note 3, Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies, for the related disclosures. The adoption of ASC 855 did not have a material
impact on our financial statements.

payment (and related expense) should be recorded as a
subsequent event, in accordance with ASC 855 (formerly
FAS 165, Subsequent Events). Therefore, the impact of
this legislation is reflected as a reduction in expense in our
2009 financial statements and footnotes. The legislation
affected only 2009 and is therefore not necessarily indicative of the amount of likely future PSRHBF payments. See
Note 10, Health Benefit Programs, in the Notes to the Financial Statements, for additional information.

ASC 105 (formerly, FAS 168, The FASB Accounting
Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles — a replacement
of FASB Statement No. 162) ASC 105 establishes only
two levels of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), authoritative and nonauthoritative. The FASB
Accounting Standards Codification (the “Codification,” as
used in this report “ASC”) is the source of authoritative,
nongovernmental GAAP, except for rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC), which are sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC
registrants. All other nongrandfathered, non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification became
nonauthoritative. This standard is effective for financial
statements for interim or annual reporting periods ending after September 15, 2009. We began using the new
guidelines and numbering system prescribed by the Codification when referring to GAAP in our Form 10-K Report
for 2009. As the Codification was not intended to change
or alter existing GAAP, it does not have any impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Borrowing Limits and Debt

NOTE 5 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On October 1, 2009, the President signed P.L. 111-68.
This law, which was made retroactive to December 20,
2006, amended P.L. 109-435 by changing the required
Postal Service payments to the PSRHBF for the year ended September 30, 2009 from $5.4 billion to $1.4 billion.
Although the legislation was passed by Congress on September 30, 2009, it did not become law until the President
signed it on October 1, 2009, one day after our year end.
As evidenced by its inclusion in the continuing resolution
that was necessary to keep the government operating,
both houses of Congress and the President had agreed to
the provision prior to our fiscal year end and had intended
for the adjustment to be a 2009 event. The Office of Personnel Management, to whom the PSRHBF payment was
owed, had adjusted their expected payment to $1.4 billion
at September 30, 2009. Accordingly, we have determined
that the adjustment to the September 30, 2009 required

NOTE 6 — DEBT AND RELATED
INTEREST

Under the Postal Reorganization Act, as amended by
Public Laws 101-227 and 109-435, we can issue and sell
debt obligations. However, at year-end we are limited to
net annual increases of $3 billion in our debt. Our total
debt cannot exceed $15 billion.
The fair value of our debt is what it would cost to pay off
the debt if we used the current yield on equivalent U.S.
Treasury notes. At year-end, the current estimated value
of our debt is $10,194 million. See Note 13, Fair Value
Measurement, for more information.

Note Purchase Agreements
Our note purchase agreements with the Federal Financing
Bank provide for revolving credit lines of $4 billion. These
credit lines enable us to draw up to $3.4 billion with two
days’ notice, and up to $600 million on the same business
day the funds are needed. Under these agreements we
can also use a series of other notes with varying provisions
to draw upon with two days’ notice. The notes provide
us the flexibility to borrow short-term or long-term, using
fixed or floating-rate debt, and can be either callable or
non-callable.
All debt is unsecured and is not subject to sinking fund
requirements. Aggregate debt maturities at year-end 2009
were: $3,675 million in 2010; zero for 2011, 2012 and
2013; $300 million for 2014 and $6,225 million thereafter.
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Debt consists of the following:
Notes Payable to the Federal Financing Bank (FFB)¹:
(dollars in millions)
Interest Rate %

Debt Type

Maturity Date

2.035%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

January 31, 2014

September 30, 2009

2.844%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

May 2, 2016

300

—

3.048%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

November 15, 2018

500

—

$

September 30, 2008

300

$

—

3.296%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

February 15, 2019

700

—

3.704%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

May 15, 2019

1,000

—

3.513%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

May 15, 2019

500

—

3.770%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

May 17, 2038

3.790%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

February 15, 2039

0.184%

Floating Rate Note²

0.271%

Floating Rate Note3

0.216%

Floating Rate Note

4

0.155%

Floating Rate Note

October 15, 2009

0.145%

Short-term revolving credit line5

—6

3,200

2,700

0.905%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

December 11, 2008

—

2,500

0.485%

Fixed rate note — Payable at Maturity

December 18, 2008

—

2,000

10,200

7,200

3,675

7,200

Less Current Portion

200

—

1,000

—

November 15, 2042

500

—

June 15, 2043

500

—

December 15, 2042

1,025

—

475

—

$ 6,525
¹ All debt is repurchasable at any time at a price determined by the Secretary of the Treasury, based on rates prevailing in the Treasury Security market
at the time of repricing.
² Floating Rate Note — Payable November 15, 2042; repurchasable at par November 16, 2009, and every February 15, May 15, August 15, and
November 15 thereafter.
3
Floating Rate Note — Payable June 15, 2043; repurchasable at par December 15, 2009, and every March 15, June 15, September 15, and
December 15 thereafter.
4

Floating Rate Note — Payable December 15, 2042; repurchasable at par December 15, 2009, and every March 15, June 15, September 15, and
December 15 thereafter.

5

Weighted Average interest rate; as of September 30, 2008, was 0.271%.

6

Funds are typically borrowed overnight. Our lines of credit extend through April 30, 2010, and May 8, 2009, respectively, for these notes.
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$

—

NOTE 7 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Assets Held for Sale

Sale of Major Facility

Assets held for sale are classified in accordance with ASC
360 (formerly FAS 144), and are immaterial to the total
fixed asset balance in 2009 and 2008.

In 2009 and 2008, there were no sales of any major facilities.
On March 30, 2007, we sold the James A. Farley building in New York City to the Empire State Development
Corporation (ESDC), for $190 million and additional proceeds of up to $55 million, contingent upon the achievement of certain development and leasing criteria by the
developer of the property. The Postal Service continues to
conduct retail and carrier operations at this facility under
the terms of an interim lease with a 2009 annual rental of
$5.5 million. Once the carrier operations are relocated to
other facilities, we will continue to conduct retail and some
administrative functions in a smaller portion of the building under a 99-year lease, with a rental fee of $1 for the
lease term. The Postal Service has an option to require the
building owner to change the legal structure of the building
ownership into condominium units, with the Postal Service
being given the right to purchase the space subject to the
99-year lease.
We accounted for the transaction under the deposit method under the provisions of ASC 360 (formerly FAS 66,
Accounting for Sales of Real Estate). The gain will not be
recognized and the asset will not be removed from our
accounting records until the lease and other continuing
involvement in the building have expired. In conjunction
with this sale, from the funds ESDC paid us, $10 million
was set aside for an environmental clean-up fund. Our environmental liability is limited to $10 million and is included
on our balance sheet under trade payables and other accrued expenses.

Interest Capitalization
Capitalized interest was not material in 2009. There was
no interest capitalized in 2008 or 2007.

Repairs and Maintenance
Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. This expense amounted to $703 million in 2009,
$711 million in 2008 and $665 million in 2007.

NOTE 8 — LEASES AND OTHER
COMMITMENTS
Leases
At September 30, 2009, our future minimum lease payments for all noncancelable leases are as follows.
Lease Obligations
(dollars in millions)
Operating

Capital

2010

$ 762

$ 99

2011

709

97

2012

639

99

2013

578

93

2014
After 2014

In October 2009, we executed an amendment to our
March 2007 lease agreement. The amendment reduces
our leased space from 883,150 square feet to 213,930
square feet and reduces our annual rental payment to an
average of $1.6 million per year through 2014, at which
time we will occupy our permanent space under the 99year lease referenced above.

Impaired Assets
Assets that were written down due to impairment in accordance with ASC 360 (formerly FAS 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets) were
$71 million in 2009 and were immaterial in 2008 and recorded in our Statement of Operations under the heading
“Other”. The majority of the impairments in 2009 related
to a project under development that was canceled prior
to implementation.

Total Lease Obligations

519

87

4,339

441

$ 7,546

$ 916

Less: Interest

325

Total Capital Lease Obligations

591

Less: Short-term portion of capital lease obligations
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations

47
$ 544

Most of these leases contain renewal options for periods
ranging from 3 to 20 years. Certain non-cancelable real
estate leases give us the option to purchase the facilities
at prices specified in the leases.
Capital leases included in buildings were $909 million in
2009 and $916 million in 2008. Total accumulated amortization is $474 million in 2009 and $419 million in 2008. Amortization expense for assets recorded under capital leases
is classified as depreciation expense, which is included in
other operating expenses in the Statements of Operations.
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Our total rental expense for the years ended September
30 is summarized as follows.

Expense Resources on Order
(dollars in millions)
2009

Rental Expense
Miscellaneous Contracts

(dollars in millions)
2009
Non-cancelable real estate leases
including related taxes
Facilities leased from GSA subject to
120-day cancellation
Equipment and other short-term rentals
Total Rental Expense

2008

2007

$ 4,879

Inventory Contracts

124

Research and Development Contracts
$ 992

$ 967

$ 927

43

44

46

294

294

261

$ 1,329

$ 1,305

$ 1,234

Total Expense Resources on Order

41
$ 5,044

In addition, P.L. 109-435 mandates annual payments, due
each September 30, into the PSRHBF. These payments
are listed in the following table.
Retiree Health Benefits Commitments

Capital Commitments

(dollars in millions)

At September 30, 2009, we estimate our financial commitment for approved capital projects in progress (resources
on order) to be $1,809 million, detailed in the following table.

2010

$ 5,500

2011

5,500

2012

5,600

2013

5,600

P.L. 109-435 Requirement

Capital Resources on Order
(dollars in millions)

2014
2009

Mail Processing Equipment

$ 1,072

Building Improvements

412

Postal Support Equipment

195

Construction and Building Purchase

92

Retail Equipment

33

Vehicles
Total Capital Resources on Order

5

5,700

After 2014
Total Retiree Health Benefits Commitments

11,500
$ 39,400

As discussed in Note 2, Liquidity Matters, we believe that,
while there are sufficient cash flows for ongoing operations, there is considerable uncertainty as to whether we
will have sufficient cash on September 30, 2010 to fund
our required $5.5 billion PSRHBF payment.

$ 1,809

NOTE 9 — CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Expense Commitments
In the normal operating of our business, we enter into
commitments for expense contracts. The contracts run for
periods from one to ten years. Although these contracts
contain clauses for termination by the Postal Service, we
normally would have early termination costs. As these arrangements qualify as executory contracts, the obligations
are not recognized by us in the financial statements until
we receive the related goods and services.
Expense commitments are classified as miscellaneous,
inventory, and research and development. Our miscellaneous expense commitments include contracts for supplies, services, communications, repairs, research, printing
and advertising. Our inventory contracts are for vehicle repair parts and mechanized equipment spare parts. These
are summarized in the following table.
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Our contingent liabilities consist mainly of claims and suits
resulting from labor, equal employment opportunity and
environmental issues, property damage claims, injuries
on postal properties, issues arising from postal contracts,
personal claims and traffic accidents.
Each quarter, we review significant new claims and litigation for the probability of an adverse outcome. If a claim is
deemed “probable” for an unfavorable outcome and the
amount of settlement is estimable, we record a liability.
Each quarter, we also review and adjust any prior contingencies for settlements or revisions to prior estimates. No
individual claim is material to our financial statements when
taken as a whole. The following table summarizes contingent liabilities provided for in our financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

Retirees

(dollars in millions)
Labor

2009

2008

$ 174

$ 318

52

45

Equal Employment Opportunity
Environmental

40

40

Tort

35

32

Contractual
Total Contingent Liabilities

—

1

$ 301

$ 436

We believe that adequate provision has been made for
probable liabilities from claims and suits. The current portion of this liability at September 30, 2009, of $86 million is
included on the balance sheets under the heading “Trade
payables and accrued expenses”. On September 30,
2008, this amount was $198 million. The long-term portion at September 30, 2009, of $215 million is accrued
under the heading, “Noncurrent Liabilities, Contingent liabilities and other” in our balance sheet. On September
30, 2008, the long-term liability was $238 million.
We also have other claims and lawsuits which we deem
reasonably possible of an unfavorable outcome which
range from $1.2 billion to $1.4 billion. No provisions for
these are included in our financial statements.

NOTE 10 — HEALTH BENEFIT
PROGRAMS
Current Employees
Substantially all of our career employees are covered by
the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (FEHBP).
OPM administers the program and allocates the cost
of the program to the various participating government
agency employers. We cannot direct the costs, benefits or
funding requirements of the federally sponsored plan and,
therefore, account for these costs using multiemployer
plan accounting rules.
Our portion of the cost is based upon the weighted average premium cost of the various employee coverage
choices and the specific coverage choices made by our
employees. Our employees paid approximately 19% of the
premium costs in 2009, 18% in 2008 and 17% in 2007.
We paid the remainder of employee health care expense,
which was $5,294 million in 2009, $5,376 million in 2008,
and $5,401 million in 2007.

Employees who participate in the FEHBP for at least the
five years immediately before their retirement may participate in the FEHBP during their retirement. The Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 requires us to pay the
employer’s share of health insurance premiums for all retired postal employees and their survivors who participate
in the FEHBP and who retire on or after July 1, 1971. However, we do not include the costs attributable to federal
civil service before that date.
In 2006, P.L. 109-435 created the Postal Service Retiree
Health Benefits Fund (PSRHBF), which is held by the U.S.
Treasury and controlled by OPM but funded by the Postal
Service. P.L.109-435 established a ten-year schedule of
Postal Service payments into the fund that averaged $5.6
billion per year. However, for 2009, this payment was decreased from $5.4 billion to $1.4 billion due to the enactment of P.L. 111-68. See Note 5, Subsequent Events, for
more information. Although P.L. 109-435 dictates the funding requirements through 2016, the amounts to be funded
and the timing of funding can be changed at any time with
passage of a new law or an amendment of existing law as
passed by Congress and signed into law by the President.
These annual payments are additional to our regularly allocated cost of premiums for current retirees, which continue to be payable through 2016. After completion of the
scheduled annual payments in 2016, OPM will perform an
actuarial valuation and determine whether any further payments into the PSRHBF are required. We paid $1.4 billion
into the PSRHBF in 2009 and $5.6 billion in 2008. Beginning in 2017, our share of the health insurance premiums
for current and future Postal Service retirees will be paid
from the PSRHBF.
P.L.109-435 repealed the escrow provisions of P.L.10818, which required us to place into an escrow account
by September 2006 any “savings” from the change in the
retirement provisions created by P.L.108-18. OPM calculated the savings at $2,958 million as of September 30,
2006. P.L. 109-435 required that we pay the 2006 escrowed “savings” to the PSRHBF. In 2007, we expensed
the entire amount payable to the PSRHBF. On April 6,
2007, these “savings” were transferred to the PSRHBF.
Total retiree health benefits expenses were $3,390 million in 2009, $7,407 million in 2008 and $10,084 million in
2007. Because of the subjectivity in the determination of
the amounts to be paid into the PSRHBF, our retiree health
expense may not represent the full cost of the benefits
earned by USPS employees. These costs are reflected as
Retiree health benefits in our Statements of Operations.
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NOTE 11 — RETIREMENT PROGRAMS

Employee/Employer Contributions

Pension Programs

For the last three years, employer contributions, as a percentage of employee basic pay were 11.2% for FERS and
zero for CSRS and Dual CSRS. Employee contributions for
the past three years, as a percentage of employee basic pay
were 7.0% for CSRS and 0.8% for Dual CSRS and FERS.

Our employees participate in one of three pension programs based upon the starting date of their employment
with the federal government. Employee and employer contributions are made to the Civil Service Retirement System
(CSRS), the Dual Civil Service Retirement System/Social
Security (Dual CSRS), or the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS), all of which are administered by the
Office of Personnel Management. Employees may also
participate in the Thrift Savings Plan (TSP), which is a defined contribution retirement savings and investment plan.
Postal Service employees are authorized to participate in
the TSP by the Federal Employees Retirement System Act
of 1986. The TSP is administered by the Federal Retirement Thrift Investment Board.
CSRS — Under the Postal Reorganization Act, officers
and career employees hired prior to January 1, 1984, are
covered by the Civil Service Retirement System, which
provides a basic annuity toward which we and the employee contribute at rates prescribed by law. Effective
October 14, 2006, P.L. 109-435 suspends the obligation
of making employer contributions for CSRS employees’
retirement until 2017. At that time, OPM will perform an
actuarial valuation and determine whether additional payments are necessary. We do not match TSP contributions
for employees who participate in CSRS.

The number of employees enrolled in each of the retirement
plans at the end of 2009, 2008 and 2007 is as follows.
Retirement Enrollment by Program
(actual numbers)
CSRS
Dual CSRS

FERS — Effective January 1, 1987, officers and career
employees hired since December 31, 1983, are covered
by the Federal Employees Retirement System Act of 1986,
except for those covered by Dual CSRS. Also included
are employees formerly covered by CSRS who elected in
1987, 1988 and 1998 to participate in FERS.
FERS consists of Social Security, a basic annuity plan and
TSP. We and the employee contribute to Social Security
and the basic annuity plan at the rate prescribed by law. In
addition, we are required to contribute to TSP a minimum
of 1% per year of the basic pay of employees covered by
this system. We also match a voluntary employee contribution up to 3% of the employee’s basic pay, and 50% of
a contribution between 3% and 5% of basic pay.
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2008

2007

130,126

144,034

5,947

7,128

7,716

FERS

507,157

525,984

533,012

Total Enrollment

623,128

663,238

684,762

Expense Components
The following table lists the components of our total retirement expenses that are included in compensation
and benefits expense in the Statements of Operations for
2009, 2008 and 2007.
Retirement Expense
(dollars in millions)
FERS

Dual CSRS — Employees with prior U.S. government service who were hired between January 1, 1984 and January 1, 1987, are covered by Dual CSRS, which consists of
a basic annuity and Social Security. We and the employee
contribute to Social Security and the basic annuity at rates
prescribed by law. We do not match TSP contributions for
employees who participate in Dual CSRS.

2009
110,024

2009

2008

2007

$ 2,962

$ 2,909

$ 2,771

Social Security

1,882

1,932

1,904

FERS Thrift Savings Plan

1,073

1,058

1,007

—

—

52

$ 5,917

$ 5,899

$ 5,734

CSRS
Total Retirement Expense

Employer cash contributions to retirement plans were
$4,024 million in 2009, $3,936 million in 2008 and $3,889
million in 2007. These amounts do not include Social Security contributions.

NOTE 12 — WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
We pay for workers’ compensation costs under a program
administered by the DOL. These costs, recorded as an
operating expense, include employees’ medical expenses, compensation for wage loss and DOL administrative
fees. The program also provides for payment of benefits
to dependents of employees who die from work-related
injuries or diseases.
Our liability at September 30, 2009, represents the estimated present value of the total amount we expect to pay
in the future for postal workers injured through the end of

2009. The estimated total cost of a claim is based upon
the date of injury, pattern of historical payments, frequency
and severity of the injuries and the expected trend in future
costs. We update discount and inflation rates assumptions quarterly, starting in Quarter III, 2009.
We estimated our total liability for future workers’ compensation payments to be $10,133 million at the end of
2009 and $7,968 million at the end of 2008. The payout
period for this liability will, for some claimants currently on
the rolls, be for the rest of their lives.
Our liability estimate of $10,133 million at September 30,
2009, reflects an increase of $1,051 million compared to
2008 due solely to a change in the timing of the annual
payment to Department of Labor for claims paid on our
behalf. Beginning in 2009, we are making the payment on
the statutorily required deadline of October 15, instead of
September 15 as we had done in previous years.
The liability is highly sensitive to changes in inflation and
discount rates. An increase of 1% in the discount rate
would decrease our estimate of the liability by approximately $818 million. A decrease of 1% would increase our
estimate of the liability by approximately $981 million.
We implemented a revised actuarial model to calculate our
workers’ compensation liability at September 30, 2008.
The revised model explicitly projects the estimated cost
to resolve the most recent 10 injury years. We continue to
rely on an independent actuarial consulting firm to perform
an actuarial valuation on injuries occurring more than 10
years in the past.
Our model estimates the liability for the most recent 10
years using the paid-loss development method, two frequency/severity methods and an expected unpaid method.
The paid-loss development method estimates the liability
based on the historical pattern of payments observed over
many years. The frequency/severity methods estimate the
liability by considering not only the cost, but the number of
claims payments over many years. The frequency/severity
methods require that we make explicit assumptions about
the future changes in the average payment amounts due
to inflation or other cost increases. The expected unpaid
method estimates the liability by giving weight to both the
expected development from the paid-loss development
method and the estimated ultimate value from the frequency/severity method. For injuries occurring more than
10 years in the past, an estimate of the ultimate liability is
prepared by an independent actuary and incorporated into
our model. All of the methods used in calculating the 2009
and 2008 workers’ compensation liability are generally accepted actuarial techniques and are valid for estimating a
liability such as ours.

We review the inflation and discount rates used to determine the present value of estimated future workers’ compensation payments on a quarterly basis. Separate analyses of the appropriate inflation rates for the medical and
compensation portions of the liability are performed, utilizing forecasts of medical inflation and inflation in the general economy, and forecasted rates of return on baskets of
Treasury securities of varying durations. The assumptions
used to calculate the compensation claims liability in 2009
are a discount rate of 4.9% and wage inflation of 3.2%. For
medical claims, we used a 4.4% discount rate and 3.8%
for medical inflation. In 2008, we used a discount rate of
5.6% for compensation claims and wage inflation of 3.0%.
For medical claims, we used 5.4% for the discount rate
and 5.0% for medical inflation.
The results of annual actuarial update and discount and
inflation rates on the model are as follows:
Workers’ Compensation Liability
(dollars in millions)

Compensation Claims Liability
Medical Claims Liability
Total Workers'
Compensation Liability

Current
Rates

Previous
Rates

Difference

$ 6,792

$ 6,322

$ 470

3,233

2,985

248

$ 10,025

$ 9,307

$ 718

The $718 million increase in the estimated workers’
compensation liability is primarily the combined result of
changes in the discount and inflation rates in 2009.
In 2008, the independent actuary changed their model calculating our liability related to injuries occurring more than
10 years in the past by increasing the length of the period
of our past claim payment experience used as a basis to
project future claim payments. This change decreased our
liability for 2008 by approximately $154 million.
In 2009, we recorded $2,223 million in workers’ compensation expense, compared to $1,227 million recorded in
2008 and $880 million recorded in 2007. The effects of the
changes in assumptions are accounted for as changes in
accounting estimate in the period of the related change,
as defined by GAAP.
In addition to the cost of workers’ compensation claims,
DOL charges us an administrative fee for processing
claims. In 2009, the administrative fee, which is included
in the expense above, was $55 million, compared to $52
million in 2008, and $49 million in 2007.
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NOTE 13 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
ASC 820 (formerly FAS 157, Fair Value Measurements)
defines fair value as the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). The standard outlines a valuation
framework and creates a fair value hierarchy in order to
increase the consistency and comparability of fair value
measurements and the related disclosures. ASC 820 details the disclosures that are required for items measured
at fair value.
We have financial instruments such as certain Treasury
securities, debt and long-term receivables (Revenue Forgone) that we must measure for disclosure purposes on a
recurring basis under ASC 820. We also apply the provisions of ASC 820 to various non-recurring measurements
of our financial and non-financial assets and liabilities such
as the impairment of fixed assets. We measure our assets
and liabilities using inputs from the following three levels of
the fair value hierarchy:
■ Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have
the ability to access at the measurement date.
■ Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets

and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that
are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that
are observable for the asset or liability (i.e., interest
rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived
principally from, or corroborated by, observable
market data by correlation or other means (market
corroborated inputs).
■ Level 3 includes unobservable inputs that reflect our

assumptions about the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
We develop these inputs based on the best information
available, including our own data.
The following sections describe the valuation methodologies we use to measure different instruments at fair value.
There has been no impact to the statements of operations
or the statements of cash flows related to the adoption of
ASC 820.
We believe that the fair values of our current assets and
current liabilities approximate their reported carrying
amounts. The carrying values and the fair values of noncurrent financial assets and liabilities that qualify as financial instruments are shown in the following table.
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We estimate revenue forgone using the income method
and discount rates used for similar assets such as longterm treasuries, a level 2 input.
No active market exists for FFB debt. Therefore, we estimate the fair value of our long-term debt, using prices
given to us by FFB, a level 3 input.
Fair Value of Long-Term Financial Assets
(dollars in millions)

Revenue Forgone
Total Long-Term
Financial Assets
Debt
Total Long-Term
Financial Liabilities

September 30, 2009

September 30, 2008

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

$ 344

$ 462

$ 349

$ 458

$ 344

$ 462

$ 349

$ 458

$ 6,525

$ 6,519

$ —

$ —

$ 6,525

$ 6,519

$ —

$ —

The reconciliation of level 3 inputs is shown below:
Reconciliation of Fair Value of Level 3 Instruments
(dollars in millions)
Debt
Balance at September 30, 2008
Unrecognized gain
Additions
Balance at September 30, 2009

$

—
(6)
6,525

$ 6,519

Non-financial Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis — Non-financial assets such as property, plant
and equipment are measured at fair value when there is
an indicator of impairment and recorded at fair value only
when impairment is recognized. We performed impairment analyses in each quarter of 2009. In Quarter IV 2009,
we identified and recorded an impairment of $71 million of
property, plant and equipment.

NOTE 14 — REVENUE FORGONE
Operating revenue includes accruals for revenue forgone.
Revenue is forgone when Congress mandates that we
provide mail services for designated mailers at free or reduced rates. Congress then appropriates money to reimburse us for the revenue that we have forgone in providing
these services.
We estimate the amount of services that will be provided
during a given year and forward a funding request to Congress. At the end of the year we reconcile this request with
the actual usage. Depending upon whether actual usage

is higher or lower than our estimate, we will request additional funding or return the excess funding via a reduction
to our next revenue-forgone funding request.
During 2009, we recognized $71 million, including $24 million of imputed interest in revenue from the appropriations,
compared to $128 million, including $25 million of imputed
interest during 2008. In 2007, we recognized $88 million,
including $25 million of imputed interest. We record requested amounts as government receivables until the appropriations are received.
The Revenue Forgone Reform Act of 1993 authorized
Congress to make 42 annual payments of $29 million
each, beginning in 1994 and continuing through 2035.
These payments are reimbursement for services we performed in 1991, 1992 and 1993, for which we have not
yet been fully paid, and for shortfalls in the reimbursement
of the costs we incurred for processing and delivering certain nonprofit mail entitled to statutorily reduced costs from
1994 through 1998.
The payments authorized by the Revenue Forgone Reform
Act of 1993 totaled $1,218 million, for which we calculated the present value, at 7% interest, to be approximately
$390 million. We recognized the $390 million as revenue
during fiscal years 1991 through 1998. The discounted
present value of the remaining future payments as of the
years ended September 30 was $344 million in 2009 and
$349 million in 2008.
The total receivable for revenue forgone as of the years
ended September 30 was $448 million in 2009 and $495
million in 2008.
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OPERATING STATISTICS
Post Offices and Delivery Points
(in actual units indicated, unaudited)
Post Offices, Stations and Branches
Post Offices

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

27,161

27,232

27,276

27,318

27,385

Classified Stations, Branches and Carrier Annexes

5,501

5,509

5,419

5,557

5,622

Contract Postal Units

3,037

3,148

3,131

3,014

3,116

Community Post Offices

797

834

895

937

1,019

36,496

36,723

36,721

36,826

37,142

City Delivery Carriers

80,187,505

79,848,415

79,470,894

78,949,153

78,524,242

Rural

38,264,946

37,684,158

37,022,488

36,068,838

34,958,986

PO Box

15,601,883

15,639,031

15,635,480

15,615,744

15,614,801

2,576,166

2,516,783

2,473,323

2,345,255

2,243,520

136,630,500

135,688,387

134,602,185

132,978,990

131,341,549

City Delivery Carriers

7,483,461

7,436,965

7,411,582

7,343,020

7,280,384

Rural

1,439,266

1,407,942

1,360,478

1,297,022

1,230,645

PO Box

4,489,688

4,587,454

4,548,973

4,490,102

4,412,559

72,966

71,538

69,304

65,062

61,228

Total Offices, Stations and Branches
Residential Delivery

Highway Contract
Total Residential Delivery
Business Delivery

Highway Contract
Total Business Delivery
Total Delivery Points
Change in Delivery Points
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13,485,381

13,503,899

13,390,337

13,195,206

12,984,816

150,115,881

149,192,286

147,992,522

146,174,196

144,326,365

923,595

1,199,764

1,818,326

1,847,831

2,006,577

Career Employees
(actual numbers, unaudited)
Headquarters and HQ Related Employees

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

Headquarters

2,811

2,892

2,856

2,761

2,654

Headquarters — Field Support Units

4,455

4,429

4,527

4,402

4,333

Inspection Service — Field

2,617

2,890

2,991

3,130

3,443

Inspector General
Total HQ and HQ Related Employees

1,155

1,159

1,147

1,071

843

11,038

11,370

11,521

11,364

11,273

1,047

1,316

1,281

1,395

1,420

Field Employees
Area Offices
Postmasters/Installation Heads

23,672

25,250

25,285

25,429

25,322

Supervisors/Managers

28,812

31,787

32,635

33,201

33,234

6,460

8,010

8,058

8,539

8,945

Clerks

177,842

194,773

204,145

213,920

221,644

Nurses

—

134

160

166

167

Professional Administration and Technical Personnel

Mail Handlers
City Delivery Carriers
Motor Vehicle Operators

52,954

55,812

57,882

57,158

56,028

200,658

211,661

222,132

224,400

228,278

8,113

8,558

8,726

8,715

8,689

Rural Delivery Carriers — Full-Time

67,749

68,900

67,584

66,344

64,335

Building and Equipment Maintenance Personnel

39,531

40,248

39,948

39,986

39,893

5,252

5,419

5,405

5,521

5,488

Total Field Employees

Vehicle Maintenance Employees

612,090

651,868

673,241

684,774

693,443

Total Career Employees

623,128

663,238

684,762

696,138

704,716

Casuals

4,271

12,000

22,078

22,518

19,182

Nonbargaining Temporary

1,659

1,119

1,244

1,135

1,185

Rural Part-Time: Subs/RCA/RCR/AUX

54,529

58,072

60,444

59,087

57,411

Postmaster Relief and Leave Replacements

11,477

12,327

12,169

12,188

12,046

Transitional Employees

17,018

18,332

5,232

5,133

8,460

88,954

101,850

101,167

100,061

98,284

712,082

765,088

785,929

796,199

803,000

Noncareer Employees

Total Noncareer Employees
Total Employees
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Mailing and Shipping Statistics
(in millions of units indicated, unaudited)
Mailing Services
First-Class Mail
Revenue
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
Standard Mail
Revenue
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
Periodicals
Revenue
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
Package Services
Revenue
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
U.S. Postal Service
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
Free Matter for the Blind
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
Total Mailing Services Mail
Revenue
Pieces, Number
Weight, Pounds
Ancillary & Special Services
Registered Mail
Revenue
Number of articles
Certified Mail
Revenue
Number of articles
Insurance
Revenue
Number of articles
Delivery Receipt Services
Revenue
Number of articles
Money Orders
Revenue
Face value of issues (non-add)
Number of articles
Box Rent Revenue & Caller Services
Stamped Envelope and Card Revenue
Other Mailing Services Revenue*
Total Ancillary & Special Services Revenue
Total Mailing Services Revenue
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2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

$ 35,872.8
83,770.2
3,678.2

$ 38,179.3
91,696.7
4,165.1

$ 38,404.5
96,297.3
4,401.4

$ 37,604.9
98,016.2
4,418.1

$ 36,802.7
98,567.1
4,448.3

$ 17,364.1
82,706.2
9,289.6

$ 20,586.3
99,084.2
11,017.2

$ 20,778.6
103,516.1
11,820.7

$ 19,876.5
102,459.6
11,771.2

$ 18,953.5
100,943.9
11,656.5

$

2,038.1
7,953.7
3,032.4

$

2,294.9
8,605.2
3,676.9

$

2,187.9
8,795.8
3,895.6

$

2,215.2
9,022.5
4,040.7

$

2,160.8
9,070.0
4,025.6

$

1,682.7
730.3
1,872.1

$

1,845.5
846.2
2,155.3

$

1,812.3
914.5
2,297.5

$

1,751.1
918.8
2,323.2

$

1,646.5
885.0
2,294.4

454.9
126.1

823.7
148.9

1,008.4
140.6

1,010.1
128.1

621.3
110.7

61.9
30.3

72.0
33.3

72.0
33.6

74.2
35.4

76.4
34.4

$ 56,957.7
175,677.2
18,028.7

$ 62,906.0
201,128.0
21,196.7

$ 63,183.3
210,604.1
22,589.4

$ 61,447.7
211,501.4
22,716.7

$ 59,563.5
210,163.7
22,569.9

$

49.9
3.2

$

56.9
3.9

$

53.3
4.3

$

72.8
7.1

$

77.2
7.7

$

729.8
266.5

$

717.8
268.9

$

698.2
280.2

$

631.6
265.7

$

600.6
261.1

$

129.1
43.8

$

144.6
51.6

$

156.7
57.0

$

136.7
52.8

$

132.2
53.6

$

716.8
1,284.3

$

704.6
1,192.2

$

639.7
1,098.3

$

619.9
1,020.3

$

577.5
954.7

$
189.7
$ 23,838.6
135.0
$
911.9
$
17.2
$
256.0
$ 3,000.4
$ 59,958.1

$
204.8
$ 25,709.3
149.1
$
896.7
$
24.4
$
894.5
$ 3,644.3
$ 66,550.3

$
210.5
$ 27,194.0
162.9
$
836.9
$
16.9
$ 1,108.2
$ 3,720.4
$ 66,903.7

$
191.2
$ 28,277.4
176.2
$
813.7
$
25.2
$ 1,224.0
$ 3,715.1
$ 65,162.8

$
205.9
$ 28,723.0
180.4
$
791.5
$
21.0
$
823.6
$ 3,229.5
$ 62,793.0

Mailing and Shipping Statistics
(in millions of units indicated, unaudited)
Shipping Services
Revenue

2009

$

8,106.8

2008

$

8,355.0

2007

$

7,851.6

2006

$

7,461.1

2005

$

7,085.2

Pieces, Number

1,380.6

1,574.9

1,629.9

1,636.3

1,579.0

Weight, Pounds

2,773.4

3,040.6

3,053.8

3,215.1

3,271.6

Shipping Services
Ancillary & Special Services Revenue

$

25.6

$

26.7

$

22.8

$

26.5

$

29.2

Total Shipping Services Revenue

$

8,132.4

$

8,381.7

$

7,874.4

$

7,487.6

$

7,114.4

Postal Service Totals
Revenue

$ 65,064.5

$ 71,261.0

$ 71,034.9

$ 68,908.8

$ 66,648.7

Pieces, Number

177,057.8

202,702.9

212,234.0

213,137.7

211,742.7

Weight, Pounds

20,802.1

24,237.3

25,643.2

25,931.8

25,841.5

Total Ancillary & Special Services Revenue

$

3,026.0

Total Operating Revenue

$ 68,090.5

$

3,671.0

$ 74,932.0

$

3,743.2

$ 74,778.1

$

3,741.6

$ 72,650.4

$

3,258.7

$ 69,907.4

*Includes a $655 million increase in 2009 and a $230 million increase in 2008 to the deferred revenue-prepaid postage liability.
As this is a change in estimate, the decrease in revenue is accounted for in Other Mailing Services revenue in 2009 and 2008 respectively.
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FINANCIAL HISTORY SUMMARY
Financial History Summary
(dollars in millions)
Statements of Operations

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

$ 68,116

$ 74,968

$ 74,973

$ 72,817

$ 69,993

71,910

77,774

80,115

71,917

68,548

Net (Loss) Income

$ (3,794)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,142)

$

900

$ 1,445

Operating revenue

$ 68,043

$ 74,829

$ 74,715

$ 72,551

$ 69,798

Total revenue
Total expense **

Revenue foregone

47

103

63

99

109

Total operating revenue

68,090

74,932

74,778

72,650

69,907

Compensation and benefits**

53,154

53,585

54,186

54,665

52,449

Retiree health benefits **

3,390

7,407

10,084

1,637

1,495

Other expenses

15,286

16,746

15,835

15,379

14,337

Total operating expenses **

71,830

77,738

80,105

71,681

68,281

Income from operations

(3,740)

(2,806)

(5,327)

969

1,626

Interest and investment income

26

36

195

167

86

Interest expense deferred retirement

—

—

—

(231)

(263)

(80)

(36)

(10)

(5)

(4)

$ (3,794)

$ (2,806)

$ (5,142)

$

900

$ 1,445

$ 5,051

$ 2,354

$ 1,859

$ 2,041

$ 1,933

23,067

23,632

23,988

26,447

23,065

Other interest expense
Net (Loss) Income
Balance Sheets
Current assets *
Property, equipment, and other assets
Total assets

$ 28,118

$ 25,986

$ 25,847

$ 28,488

$ 24,998

Current liabilities *

$ 14,121

$ 16,729

$ 13,804

$ 11,613

$ 9,160

19,410

10,929

10,909

10,599

10,462

Other liabilities *
(Deficit) Equity

(5,413)

(1,672)

1,134

6,276

5,376

$ 28,118

$ 25,986

$ 25,847

$ 28,488

$ 24,998

$ 3,034

$ 3,034

$ 3,034

$ 3,034

$ 3,034

(Deficit) Equity since 1971 reorganization

(4,706)

(1,900)

3,242

2,342

897

Total beginning balance

(1,672)

1,134

6,276

5,376

3,931

53

—

—

—

—

Total Liabilities and Net Capital
Changes in Net Capital
Capital contributions of the U.S. government

Additional Capital Contributions
Net (loss) Income
Ending Balance

(3,794)

(2,806)

(5,142)

900

1,445

$ (5,413)

$ (1,672)

$ 1,134

$ 6,276

$ 5,376

*Certain reclassifications have been made to previously reported amounts.
**The net impact of P.L.111-68 was $4 billion reduction of expense in 2009. The net impact of P.L. 109-435 legislation was $6.8 billion of additional expense in
2007 ($8.4 billion in additional Retiree health benefits less $1.6 billion in CSRS savings).
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
Selected Quarterly Financial Data
2009

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

$ 19,095

$ 16,938

$ 16,339

$ 15,718b

19,475

18,840

a

18,721

14,794c

(380)

(1,902)

(2,382)

924

(4)

(3)

(19)

(28)

$ (384)

$ (1,905)

$ (2,401)

$

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

$ 20,369

$ 18,916

$ 17,910d

$ 17,737

19,683

19,622

19,015

19,418

686

(706)

(1,105)

(1,681)

(dollars in millions, unaudited)
Operating revenue
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense) — net
Net Income (Loss)
2008

896

(dollars in millions, unaudited)
Operating revenue
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense) — net

(14)

(1)

7

8

Net Income (Loss)

$

672

$ (707)

$ (1,098)

$ (1,673)

2007

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

(dollars in millions, unaudited)
Operating revenue

$ 19,637

$ 18,277

$ 18,347

$ 18,517

Total operating expenses

22,656e

19,577

18,837

19,035

(Loss) from operations

(3,019)

(1,300)

(490)

(518)

48

61

37

39

$ (2,971)

$ (1,239)

$ (453)

$ (479)

Interest income (expense) — net
Net (Loss)
a

— Includes the impact of the $807 million increase in workers' compensation expense, due to a change discount and inflation rates.
— Includes the impact of $655 million increase to the stamp portion of the deferred revenue-prepaid postage liability, due to a change in estimate.
c
— Includes the impact of the $4.0 billion reduction in the PSRHBF contribution due to P.L. 111-68.
d
— Includes the impact of the $450 million increase to the stamp portion of the deferred revenue-prepaid postage liability, due to a change in estimate.
e
— Includes the impact of an additional $3.0 billion payment from escrow to the PSRHBF contribution required by P.L. 109-435.
b
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GLOSSARY
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). Codifies authoritative accounting literature and guidance into a single
source and establishes two levels of U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or GAAP – authoritative and
nonauthoritative. ASC is the source of authoritative GAAP.
Accruals. Revenue and expenses that are recorded as they
occur, even though they may not have actually been paid.
Amortize. To reduce the value of an asset through regular
charges to income over time; or to write off expenses by
prorating them over a period of time.
Appropriation. Public funds set aside by Congress for a
specific purpose.

Depreciate. To periodically reduce the estimated value of
an asset over the course of its useful life.
Direct Mail. A form of advertising often employed by businesses to reach targeted groups of potential customers
by mail.
Enhanced Carrier Route. A subclass of Standard Mail for
mail pieces weighing less than 16 ounces and prepared in
carrier route sequence.
Equity. The difference between the value of all assets less
all liabilities.

Asset. An economic resource that is expected to be of
benefit in the future.

Express Mail. The Postal Service’s premium delivery service, providing guaranteed overnight delivery for documents and packages weighing up to 70 pounds. Both
domestic and international services are offered.

Cautionary Statements. Statements contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis that represent our
best estimate of the trends we know about, the trends
we anticipate and the trends we think are relevant to our
future operations.

First-Class Mail. A class of mail including letters, postcards and all matter sealed or otherwise closed against
inspection. This service is required for personal correspondence, handwritten or typewritten letters and bills or statements of account.

Capitalize. To treat an expenditure as an asset; or to compute the present value of a future payment that will be paid
over a period of time.

Fiscal Year. As used in the financial section of this report,
the Postal Service fiscal year, which is the 12-month period during which the Postal Service keeps accounts, beginning Oct. 1 and closing Sept. 30.

Contribution. The difference between the revenue from
a class of mail and that class’s volume-variable costs. For
example, if a class of mail has revenue of $1.5 billion and
volume-variable costs of $1 billion, its contribution is $500
million, which means that this class of mail covers its costs
and contributes $500 million to the common costs of all
mail services.
Contingent Liability. A potential liability that is contingent
on a future event.
Delivery Confirmation. A special service that provides
the date of delivery or attempted delivery for Priority Mail
and Standard Mail parcels, Bound Printed Matter and Library Mail.
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Fixed Asset. Any tangible property such as buildings, machinery and equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements.
Forever Stamp. A stamp that once purchased is good for
mailing one-ounce First-Class letters anytime in the future —
regardless of price changes. It was introduced in 2007.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).
The rules and procedures of accepted accounting practice
as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.
Impaired Asset. When the market value of an economic
resource has been permanently lowered below the recorded value of the asset.

Inspector General. The Inspector General is appointed by
and reports directly to the Governors of the Postal Service
and is independent of postal management. The Office of
Inspector General (OIG) primarily investigates and evaluates
programs and operations of the Postal Service to ensure the
efficiency and integrity of the postal system.
Intelligent Mail. Products and services or a strategy used to
describe products and services that use machine readable
codes, such as barcodes, to uniquely identify mail. This enables large mailers to follow the progress of their mail through
the many stages of processing all the way to delivery.

Postal Regulatory Commission (PRC) (formerly the
Postal Rate Commission). An independent federal establishment with oversight responsibility for the Postal Service
to review and approve rates, review financial data and hear
and rule on rate and service complaints.
Prepaid. Payments made in advance of service being provided.

Leasehold. An asset that gives the Postal Service the right
to use property under a lease.

Present Value. The value today of a future payment that is
discounted at a stated rate of compound interest. For example, the present value of $100 that will be paid to the Postal
Service 10 years from now is about $38.55, if we discount
that $100 at a rate equal to 10% interest compounded annually.

Liability. Any debt or obligation that is owed by the Postal
Service at some future period of time.

Priority Mail. Priority mail is a 1–3-day non-guaranteed delivery service.

Mailing Services. Market-dominated products as defined
by the PRC. These are products for which the Postal Service
has market power to set prices substantially above costs
without risk of losing business to others. The Mailing Services products include: First-Class Mail letters and sealed
parcels; First-Class Mail cards; Periodicals; Standard Mail;
single-piece Parcel Post; Media Mail; Bound Printed Matter;
Library Mail; Special Services; and single-piece International
Mail.

Receivable. Money that is owed to the Postal Service.

Operating Expense. Expenses that are incurred in providing our primary business services and products.
Operating Margin. A financial indication calculated by dividing income from operations by operating revenue.
Operating Revenue. Revenues that are earned from our
primary business services and products.
OPM. Office of Personnel Management. The agency that
manages and maintains the government retirement and
health benefit plans.
Package Services. Mailing category offered for any merchandise or printed matter weighing up to 70 pounds. These
services include Parcel Post, Bound Printed Matter, Library
Mail and Media Mail.

Recognize. To record in Postal Service accounts as income
or expense.
Shipping Services. Products that are not Mailing Services
and are considered competitive products. The competitive
product list includes: Priority Mail, Expedited Mail, Bulk Parcel Post and Bulk International Mail.
Special Services. A category of services that add value to
mail by providing added security, proof of delivery or loss
recovery. These services include: Certified Mail, Registered
Mail, Delivery Confirmation, Signature Confirmation and insurance up to $1,000.
Standard Mail. Mailing service offered for any item, including advertisements and merchandise weighing less than 16
ounces that are not required to be sent using First-Class
Mail. Standard Mail is typically used for bulk advertising to
multiple delivery addresses.
U.S. Mail. Any mailable matter that is accepted for mail processing and delivery by the Postal Service.
Universal Service. The Postal Service’s mandate and commitment to the nation to provide mail delivery service at uniform and reasonable rates to everyone, everywhere.

Payable. Money that is owed by the Postal Service.
Periodicals. A class of mail formerly called second-class
mail that consists of magazines, newspapers and other
publications.

Workshare. Tasks performed by mailers that otherwise
would be done by the Postal Service, such as, preparing,
sorting, barcoding and transporting mail. Reduced postage
rates are offered to these customers.

Postal Inspection Service. The investigative arm of the
Postal Service responsible for investigating criminal acts involving the mail and misuse of the postal system.
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Trademarks
The following are among the trademarks owned by the
United States Postal Service: ACS™, APC®, Automated Postal
Center®, Carrier Pickup™, CASS™, CASS Certified™, Certified
Mail™, Click-N-Ship®, Confirm®, Customized MarketMail®,
Delivery Confirmation™, DMM®, EPM®, Express Mail®, FAST®,
FASTforward®, First-Class™, First-Class Mail®, IM™, IMb™,
Intelligent Mail®, LACSLink®, MASS™, MERLIN®, Mover’s Guide®,
NCOALink®, Netpost®, Netpost Mailing Online™, OneCode
ACS®, OneCode Confirm®, OneCode Solution®, OneCode
Vision®, Parcel Post®, Parcel Select®, PC Postage®, PLANET®,
PLANET Code®, Post Office™, PostalOne!®, Postal Service™,
POSTNET™, Priority Mail®, Quick, Easy, Convenient®, RDI™,
ReadyPost®, REDRESS®, Registered Mail™, RIBBS®, Signature
Confirmation™, Simple Formulas®, Stamps by Mail®, Standard
Mail®, The Postal Store®, United States Postal Service®, U.S.
Mail®, U.S. Postal Service®, USPS®, USPS Electronic Postmark®,
USPS.COM®, usps.com®, ZIP+4®, and ZIP Code™. This is not a
comprehensive list of all Postal Service trademarks.
Mail.dat®, Mail.XML® and IDEAlliance® are trademarks owned by
the International Digital Enterprise Alliance.

